Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: May 14, 2018 ACCEPTED: June 2, 2018 PUBLISHED: June 5, 2018

Spinning AdS loop diagrams: two point functions

Simone Giombi,^a Charlotte Sleight^{a,b} and Massimo Taronna^{a,b,1}

 $^{a}Department \ of \ Physics, \ Princeton \ University,$

Jadwin Hall, Princeton, NJ 08544, U.S.A.

^b Université Libre de Bruxelles and International Solvay Institutes,

ULB-Campus Plaine CP231, 1050 Brussels, Belgium

E-mail: sgiombi@princeton.edu, charlotte.sleight@gmail.com, taronnam@gmail.com

ABSTRACT: We develop a systematic approach to evaluating AdS loop amplitudes with spinning legs based on the spectral (or "split") representation of bulk-to-bulk propagators, which re-expresses loop diagrams in terms of spectral integrals and higher-point tree diagrams. In this work we focus on 2pt one-loop Witten diagrams involving totally symmetric fields of arbitrary mass and integer spin. As an application of this framework, we study the contribution to the anomalous dimension of higher-spin currents generated by bubble diagrams in higher-spin gauge theories on AdS.

KEYWORDS: 1/N Expansion, AdS-CFT Correspondence, Conformal Field Theory, Higher Spin Gravity

ARXIV EPRINT: 1708.08404



¹Postdoctoral Researcher of the Fund for Scientific Research-FNRS Belgium.

Contents

1	Introduction	1
	1.1 General approach	3
	1.2 Notation, conventions and ambient space	6
2	Scalar diagrams	9
	2.1 2pt bubble	10
	2.1.1 Conformally coupled scalar ($\Delta = 2$) in AdS ₄	12
	2.1.2 $\Delta = 3/2$ in AdS ₃	13
	2.2 Summing over residues	14
	2.3 2pt tadpole	17
	2.3.1 ϕ^4 tadpole	18
	2.3.2 Wilson-Fisher fixed point in AdS_4	22
	2.3.3 General 2pt tadpole with derivatives	23
	2.4 One-point bulk tadpole	26
3	Spinning diagrams	28
	3.1 Review: cubic couplings and 3pt Witten diagrams	30
	3.2 Conformal integrals	31
	3.3 $s - (s' 0) - s$ bubble	32
	3.4 One-point bulk tadpoles	36
4	Applications	39
	4.1 Graviton bubble	39
	4.2 Type A higher-spin gauge theory	41
	4.2.1 Alternative quantization on AdS_4	42
	4.2.2 Comparison with dual CFT	46
	4.2.3 Discussion	50
\mathbf{A}	Appendix of conformal integrals	54
	A.1 Fourier transform	54
	A.2 Two-point and comments on regularisation	54
	A.3 Three-point	56
	A.4 <i>n</i> -point	57
	A.5 Bubble integral and alternative regularisations	57
	A.6 Decomposition of bubble integrals	59
	A.7 Shadow bulk-to-boundary propagator	61
в	Coincident point propagator	62
	B.1 Mellin-Barnes and sum over spins	63
\mathbf{C}	Graviton bubble	64

D Full single-cut bubble diagrams

D.1 2-(20)-2 D.2 4-(20)-4

1 Introduction

The AdS/CFT correspondence provides a remarkable framework to handle quantum gravity on AdS space. Scattering amplitudes on AdS are identified with correlation functions in the dual CFT picture, through which the perturbative expansion of AdS amplitudes given by the loop expansion of Witten diagrams [1-3] is mapped to the 1/N expansion of CFT correlators. At tree-level in the bulk, this map is rather well understood.¹ However, to date the bulk computation of Witten diagrams at loop level has proven rather challenging and unexplored — with the exception of some preliminary works on the Mellin representation of loop diagrams involving only scalars [20, 30-32] and recent efforts which instead aim to extract predictions for bulk loop-corrections from within the dual CFT picture [33-38].

The aim of this work is to develop a systematic framework for the direct bulk computation of loop Witten diagrams, in particular from bulk Lagrangians involving totally symmetric fields of arbitrary integer spin. The approach, which is outlined in more detail below in section 1.1, is underpinned by the spectral representation of bulk-to-bulk propagators [11, 12, 39], which allows the expression of a given loop diagram in terms of spectral integrals and integrated products of higher-point tree diagrams. This reduces the loop computation to the evaluation of the aforementioned spectral integrals, as well as conformal integrals arising from the expressions for the tree-diagrams. Evaluating tree-diagrams is comparably straightforward and can be performed systematically with currently available methods (see footnote 1), while the subsequent conformal integrals are well-known [40]. The spectral integrals are all of the Mellin-Barnes type, which we demonstrate how to regularise and evaluate — leaving to the future the development of a fully systematic means to do so. This decomposition of AdS loop diagrams is the natural generalisation to AdS of momentum integrals in flat space, with the spectral integrals encoding bulk UV divergences and the conformal integrals encoding the IR divergences. For simplicity, the focus of the present work is mostly on 2pt one-loop bubble and tadpole diagrams on AdS_{d+1} , though our methods allow to deal with the more general loop amplitudes involving arbitrary spinning internal and external legs.

We begin in section 2 where, for ease of introducing the approach, we consider one-loop diagrams involving only scalar fields. In section 2.1 we consider the 2pt bubble diagram in ϕ^3 theory, and 2pt tadpole diagrams generated by quartic scalar self interactions in section 2.3. This includes ϕ^4 (section 2.3.1) and the most general dressing with derivatives

¹By now there are numerous techniques available in the literature for evaluating Witten diagrams at tree-level, both in position- [4–15], momentum- [16, 17] and Mellin- [18–23] space, and also via so-called geodesic diagrams [24–29].

(section 2.3.3). In section 2.4 we also discuss one-point tadpole diagrams with a single off-shell external leg in the bulk. In section 3 we present the extension to bubble diagrams produced by parity even cubic couplings of a generic triplet of totally symmetric fields of arbitrary mass and integer spin. In section 3.3 we focus on diagrams generated by the cubic coupling of a scalar and two gauge fields of arbitrary spin, and extract the spectral representation of the contributions from such diagrams to the anomalous dimension of higher-spin currents.²

In section 4 we turn to some applications in specific theories. In section 4.1 we consider the bubble diagram generated by the minimal coupling of a scalar field to gravity in de Donder gauge. In section 4.2 we consider the type A minimal higher-spin gauge theory.

In fact, one of our motivations for considering higher-spin gauge theories is to make progress towards testing higher-spin holography at the quantum level, beyond the one-loop vacuum energy results [43–54] which only probe the free theory.³ This endeavour relies on the knowledge of the explicit interacting type-A theory action, which has only recently become available [13–15, 39, 59–61].⁴

Such tests are particularly relevant in the context of the higher-spin AdS_4/CFT_3 duality, which gives striking predictions for the bulk loop expansion. For the $\Delta = 1$ boundary condition on the bulk scalar, the type A minimal higher-spin gauge theory is conjectured to be dual to the free scalar O(N) model in three-dimensions [67], which suggests that the contribution of bulk loop amplitudes for this boundary condition should vanish identically. In AdS₄ the bulk scalar admits a second boundary condition, $\Delta = 2$, for which the theory is conjectured to be dual to the critical O(N) model [68]. This suggests that the non-trivial contributions to the anomalous dimension of higher-spin currents in the critical O(N) model should arise from loop Witten diagrams appearing in the difference of $\Delta = 2$ and $\Delta = 1$ boundary conditions for the scalar. While the latter prediction of the duality has been argued to follow from the duality with $\Delta = 1$ [69, 70], to date there has been no *direct* test of the duality for either boundary condition owing to the lack of a full quantum action in the bulk.⁵ However, in the case of higher-spin gauge theories, considering loop Witten diagrams in the difference of $\Delta = 2$ and $\Delta = 1$ boundary conditions can still teach us a lot about the properties of higher-spin gauge theories, in particular their Witten diagram expansion and how the infinite spectrum/expansion in derivatives should be treated.

Motivated by the above considerations, in section 4.2.1 we study the contributions to the anomalous dimensions of higher-spin currents from 2pt bubble and \mathcal{Q} tadpole diagrams which appear in the difference of $\Delta = 2$ and $\Delta = 1$ scalar boundary conditions. We leave for the future a complete analysis of the duality in the case of $\Delta = 1$ boundary

²It is worth stressing here that our methods to evaluate loop corrections to 2pt functions can be also applied to the bulk computation of the central charges C_T and C_J for the stress tensor and the spin-1 currents, which do not receive anomalous dimensions. See e.g. [41, 42] for some boundary results on these two CFT observables.

³For some loop results in flat space see [55]. For some previous investigations of quantum corrections in the context of higher-spin gauge theories on AdS, see [56, 57]. For some recent work in the AdS₃ Chern-Simons formulation using Wilson lines, see [58].

⁴See [62–66] for reviews on higher-spin gauge theories and their holographic dualities. ⁵See however [39].

condition, for which all cubic and quartic couplings, as well as the corresponding ghost couplings, must be included. Our analysis allows us to determine the nature of the various types of bulk one-loop contributions to the anomalous dimension of higher-spin currents in the critical O(N) model. In particular, we find that 2pt bubble diagrams alone are not sufficient to reproduce the anomalous dimensions, and for this Ω tadpole diagrams are required. We also point out a puzzle regarding the infinite summation over spin and the Witten diagram expansion.

1.1 General approach

We develop a spectral approach to evaluate AdS loop diagrams, a central ingredient for which is the decomposition of bulk-to-bulk propagators $G(x_1, x_2)$ into bi-tensorial AdS harmonic functions $\Omega(x_1, x_2)$ [11, 12], which we depict as:



The factorisation of harmonic functions into bulk-to-boundary propagators integrated over the common boundary point [71]:



leads to the decomposition of loop diagrams into integrated products of higher point treelevel Witten diagrams. Upon evaluating the comparably simple tree-level Witten diagrams, the loop is reduced to the computation of well-known boundary conformal integrals [40] arising from the gluing of the tree-level bulk diagrams, and a spectral integral in the parameters ν .

In this work, we detail this approach for two-point bubble and tadpole diagrams, which induce mass and wave-function renormalisations of the fields which already appear at tree-level. In this case, the task is reduced to the evaluation of tree-level three-point Witten diagrams (illustrated in figures 1a and 1b) which, via the sewing procedure shown in figure 1, give rise to the following three- and, ultimately, two-point conformal integrals:



Figure 1. Using the split representation of bulk-to-bulk propagators, 2pt Witten diagrams at one-loop may be expressed in terms of tree-level three-point Witten diagrams.

$$I_{3\text{pt}}(y_1, y_2, y_3) = \int \frac{d^d y}{\left[(y_1 - y)^2\right]^{a_1} \left[(y_2 - y)^2\right]^{a_2} \left[(y_3 - y)^2\right]^{a_3}}, \quad a_1 + a_2 + a_3 = d, \quad (1.3a)$$

$$I_{2\text{pt}}(y_1, y_2) = \int \frac{d^d y}{\left[(y_1 - y)^2 \right]^{a_1} \left[(y_2 - y)^2 \right]^{a_2}}, \qquad a_1 + a_2 = d, \quad (1.3b)$$

whose evaluation we give in section A. The two-point integral (1.3b) is divergent, whose regularisation gives rise to the corrections to the wave function and the mass.

For external totally symmetric fields of spin s and tree-level mass $m_i^2 R^2 = \Delta_i (\Delta_i - d) - s$, the two-point one-loop diagrams ultimately take the form⁶

$$\mathcal{M}^{1\text{-loop}}(y_1, y_2) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\nu d\bar{\nu} \mathcal{F}(\nu, \bar{\nu}) \\ \times \frac{\mathsf{H}_{12}^s}{\left(y_{12}^2\right)^{(\tau_1 + \tau_2 - d)/2}} \int \frac{d^d y}{\left[(y_1 - y)^2\right]^{d/2 + (\Delta_1 - \Delta_2)/2} \left[(y_2 - y)^2\right]^{d/2 - (\Delta_1 - \Delta_2)/2}}, \quad (1.4)$$

for some spectral function $\mathcal{F}(\nu, \bar{\nu})$. We employ a variant of dimensional regularisation to

⁶For tadpole diagrams, which have just a single bulk-to-bulk propagator, there is only one spectral integral while for bubble diagram (which instead involve two bulk-to-bulk propagators) there is a double integral as shown above. We emphasise that the presence of the divergent two-point conformal integral on the second line is *universal*. I.e. is generated by any one-loop process, both bubble and tadpole diagrams.

evaluate the conformal integral on the second line,⁷ which yields

$$I_{2pt}^{1-\text{loop}}(y_{1}, y_{2}) = \frac{\mathsf{H}_{12}^{s}}{\left(y_{12}^{2}\right)^{(\tau_{1}+\tau_{2}-d)/2}} \int \frac{d^{d+\epsilon}y}{\left[\left(y_{1}-y\right)^{2}\right]^{d/2+(\Delta_{1}-\Delta_{2})/2}} \left[\left(y_{2}-y\right)^{2}\right]^{d/2-(\Delta_{1}-\Delta_{2})/2}}$$
$$= \delta_{\Delta_{1},\Delta_{2}} \frac{\pi^{\frac{d+\epsilon}{2}}}{\Gamma(\frac{d}{2})^{2}} \frac{\mathsf{H}_{12}^{s}}{\left(y_{12}^{2}\right)^{(\tau_{1}+\tau_{2}-\epsilon)/2}} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{\epsilon}{2}\right)^{2}\Gamma\left(\frac{d-\epsilon}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(\epsilon)}, \qquad (1.5)$$
$$= \delta_{\Delta_{1},\Delta_{2}} \frac{2\pi^{\frac{d}{2}}}{\Gamma(\frac{d}{2})} \frac{\mathsf{H}_{12}^{s}}{\left(y_{12}^{2}\right)^{(\tau_{1}+\tau_{2})/2}} \left[\frac{2}{\epsilon} + \log(\pi) - \psi\left(\frac{d}{2}\right) + \log\left(y_{12}^{2}\right)\right] + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon),$$

where the constant piece generates the wave function renormalisation and the log term the mass correction.⁸ Combining (1.5) with (1.4) thus gives the anomalous dimension in the spectral form

$$\gamma \sim -\delta_{\Delta_1 \Delta_2} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\nu d\bar{\nu} \,\mathcal{F}\left(\nu, \bar{\nu}\right). \tag{1.6}$$

The above procedure is not only computationally convenient, but also turns out to disentangle UV and IR bulk divergences. It is indeed easy to see by inspection that the spectral integrals will diverge for large values of the spectral parameter, which therefore should be considered a UV divergence. Such UV divergences translate into divergent anomalous dimensions which require regularisation. While UV finite theories will lead to well-defined predictions for the anomalous dimensions, UV divergent theories will require some subtraction scheme to extract the anomalous dimensions. In the latter case, in this paper we shall use a minimal subtraction scheme. The boundary integrals instead are by construction IR effects, which correspond to short distance singularities from the perspective of the boundary CFT. The fact that it is possible to generate anomalous dimensions even when no UV counter-term is required is a peculiarity of the IR structure of AdS space [72].

All of the above spectral integrals will be of the form of Mellin-Barnes integrals, which define generalisations of hypergeometric functions:

$$H_{p,q}^{m,n}(z) = \int \frac{\prod_{j=1}^{m} \Gamma(b_j - i\nu) \prod_{j=1}^{n} \Gamma(1 - a_j + i\nu)}{\prod_{j=n+1}^{p} \Gamma(a_j - i\nu) \prod_{j=m+1}^{q} \Gamma(1 - b_j + i\nu)} z^{i\nu} d\nu.$$
(1.7)

The latter, for $z = \pm 1$ can be expressed in terms of sums of generalised hypergeometric functions of argument ± 1 and can be evaluated by the Gauss hypergeometric formula. Once the anomalous dimension is extracted in terms of a spectral integral the problem of

⁷See section A.2 and section A.5 for a discussion on possible choices of regularisation, including at the level of the bulk harmonic function (3.9).

 8 This can be understood from the expansion of the dual CFT two-point function

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \mathcal{O}_{\Delta_{1},s}\left(y_{1}\right)\mathcal{O}_{\Delta_{2},s}\left(y_{2}\right)\rangle &= \delta_{\Delta_{1}\Delta_{2}} C_{\mathcal{O}} \frac{\mathsf{H}_{12}^{s}}{\left(y_{12}^{2}\right)^{\tau_{1}+\gamma}} \\ &= \delta_{\Delta_{1}\Delta_{2}} C_{\mathcal{O}} \frac{\mathsf{H}_{12}^{s}}{\left(y_{12}^{2}\right)^{\tau_{1}}} e^{-\gamma \log\left(y_{12}^{2}\right)} = \delta_{\Delta_{1}\Delta_{2}} C_{\mathcal{O}} \frac{\mathsf{H}_{12}^{s}}{\left(y_{12}^{2}\right)^{\left(\tau_{1}+\tau_{2}\right)/2}} \left(1-\gamma \log\left(y_{12}^{2}\right)+\ldots\right), \end{aligned}$$

where we see that the anomalous dimension, which is related to the corrected bulk mass via $m^2 R^2 = (\Delta + \gamma) (\Delta + \gamma - d) - s$, is the coefficient of the log term.

evaluating the loop diagram is drastically simplified and can be solved either analytically (when possible) or numerically. While in this work we focus on some relevant examples, we leave for the future the problem of developing a systematic analytic/numeric method to evaluate the above integrals in general in the case of multiple spectral integrals.

1.2 Notation, conventions and ambient space

In this work we consider tensor fields in Euclidean anti-de Sitter (AdS_{d+1}) space where, unless specified, the boundary dimension d is taken to be general. We employ an operator notation to package the tensor indices (for a review see e.g. [66], whose conventions we adopt throughout), where a totally symmetric rank-s bulk field $\varphi_{\mu_1...\mu_s}$ represented by the generating function

$$\varphi_{\mu_1\dots\mu_s}\left(x\right) \to \varphi_s\left(x;u\right) = \frac{1}{s!} \varphi_{\mu_1\dots\mu_s}\left(x\right) u^{\mu_1}\dots u^{\mu_s},\tag{1.8}$$

where we introduced the (d + 1)-dimensional constant auxiliary vector u^{μ} . The covariant derivative gets modified when acting on fields expressed in the generating function form (1.8):

$$\nabla_{\mu} \rightarrow \nabla_{\mu} + \omega_{\mu}^{ab} u_a \frac{\partial}{\partial u^b}, \qquad (1.9)$$

where ω_{μ}^{ab} is the spin connection and $u^{a} = e_{\mu}^{a}(x) u^{\mu}$ with vielbein $e_{\mu}^{a}(x)$.

One particular virtue of this notation is that tensor operations become an operator calculus, which significantly simplifies manipulations. For instance, the contraction:

$$\varphi_{\mu_1\dots\mu_s}\left(x\right)\varphi^{\mu_1\dots\mu_s}\left(x\right) = s!\,\varphi_s\left(x;\partial_u\right)\varphi\left(x;u\right),\tag{1.10}$$

and the operations: divergence, symmetrised gradient, box, symmetrised metric, trace and spin are represented by the following operators:

divergence:
$$\nabla \cdot \partial_u$$
, sym. gradient: $u \cdot \nabla$, box: \Box , (1.11)
sym. metric: u^2 , trace: ∂_u^2 , spin: $u \cdot \partial_u$.

Likewise, operators of non-trivial spin living on the conformal boundary of AdS_{d+1} can be expressed in generating function notation. A totally symmetric spin-s operator $\mathcal{O}_{i_1\ldots i_s}$ at the boundary point y^i , $i = 1, \ldots, d$, is represented as

$$\mathcal{O}_{i_1\dots i_s}\left(y\right) \to \mathcal{O}_s\left(y;z\right) = \mathcal{O}_{i_1\dots i_s}\left(y\right) z^{i_1}\dots z^{i_s},\tag{1.12}$$

with the null auxiliary vector $z^2 = 0$ enforcing the tracelessness condition. The operator calculus is slightly modified for traceless tensors, since one must instead replace the partial derivative ∂_z with the Thomas derivative [73]:⁹

$$\hat{\partial}_{z^i} = \partial_{z^i} - \frac{1}{d - 2 + 2z \cdot \partial_z} z_i \partial_z^2, \qquad (1.13)$$

that preserves the condition $z^2 = 0$. For example,

S

$$\mathcal{O}_{i_1,\dots,i_s}\left(y\right)\mathcal{O}^{i_1,\dots,i_s}\left(y\right) = s! \mathcal{O}_s\left(y;\hat{\partial}_z\right)\mathcal{O}_s\left(y;z\right).$$
(1.14)

⁹In the CFT literature this is sometimes referred to as the Todorov differential operator [74]. The normalisation of the latter is obtained from (1.13) by multiplying by the operator $d - 2 + 2z \cdot \partial_z$, and recalling that $z \cdot \partial_z$ gives the spin of the operator being acted on.

Ambient space. The ambient space formalism is an indispensable tool in AdS and CFT, which simplifies computations considerably by making the SO(1, d + 1) symmetry manifest. We employ this formalism throughout, and briefly review the pertinent details here. For further details see e.g. [66, 75–78].

A perspective first considered by Dirac [79], in the ambient space formalism one regards the AdS_{d+1} space as the co-dimension one hyper-surface

$$X^2 + R^2 = 0, (1.15)$$

in an ambient flat space-time parameterised by Cartesian co-ordinates X^A where $A = 0, 1, \ldots, d+1$ and metric $\eta_{AB} = \text{diag}(-++\ldots+)$ to describe Euclidean AdS.¹⁰

A smooth irreducible so(1, d+1)-tensor field $\varphi_{\mu_1...\mu_s}(x)$ of mass

$$m^2 R^2 = \Delta \left(\Delta - d\right) - s, \qquad (1.16)$$

is represented uniquely in the ambient space by a field $\varphi_{A_1...A_s}(X)$ of the same rank subject to the following constraints [80]:

• Tangentiality to surfaces of constant $\rho = \sqrt{-X^2}$:

$$X^{A_i}\varphi_{A_1...A_i...A_s} = 0, \quad i = 1, \dots, s.$$
 (1.17)

Explicitly, one can apply the projection operator:

$$\mathcal{P}_A^B = \delta_A^B - \frac{X_A X^B}{X^2},\tag{1.18}$$

which acts on ambient tensors as

$$(\mathcal{P}\varphi)_{A_1\dots A_s} := \mathcal{P}_{A_1}^{B_1}\dots \mathcal{P}_{A_s}^{B_s}\varphi_{B_1\dots B_s}, \qquad X^{A_i} (\mathcal{P}\varphi)_{B_1\dots B_i\dots B_s} = 0.$$
(1.19)

• The **homogeneity** condition:

$$(X \cdot \partial_X + \mu) \varphi_s(X, U) = 0, \quad \text{i.e.} \quad \varphi_s(\lambda X, U) = \lambda^{-\mu} \varphi_s(X, U), \quad (1.20)$$

where we are free to choose either $\mu = \Delta$ or $\mu = d - \Delta$. In this work we take $\mu = \Delta$. This fixes how the ambient representative extends away from the AdS manifold, in the radial direction $\rho = \sqrt{-X^2}$.

The above conditions ensure that the ambient uplift of fields that live on the AdS manifold is well-defined and one-to-one.

This discussion also extends to differential operators. For instance, the ambient representative of the Levi-Civita connection ∇_{μ} on AdS_{d+1} is given by [81, 82]:

$$\nabla_A = \mathcal{P}_A^B \frac{\partial}{\partial X^B}, \qquad X \cdot \nabla = 0. \tag{1.21}$$

¹⁰In contrast Lorentzian AdS would require the conformal signature: $\eta_{AB} = \text{diag}(-++...+-)$.

Crucially, this must act on ambient tensors that are tangent, otherwise extra terms may be introduced which are not killed by the projector acting on the l.h.s. of (1.21). The proper action of (1.21) should thus be regarded as:

$$\nabla = \mathcal{P} \circ \partial \circ \mathcal{P}. \tag{1.22}$$

For example:

$$\nabla_B T_{A_1\dots A_r} = \mathcal{P}_B^C \mathcal{P}_{A_1}^{C_1} \dots \mathcal{P}_{A_r}^{C_r} \frac{\partial}{\partial X^C} \left(\mathcal{P}T\right)_{C_1\dots C_r}, \qquad (1.23)$$

for some ambient tensor $T_{A_1...A_r}(X)$.

The operator notation for tensor fields introduced in the previous section can also be extended to ambient space. We have:

$$\varphi_{A_1\dots A_s}(X) \to \varphi_s(X;U) = \frac{1}{s!} \varphi_{A_1\dots A_s}(X) U^{A_1} \dots U^{A_s}, \qquad (1.24)$$

with constant ambient auxiliary vector U^A . Like for the intrinsic case (1.9), the covariant derivative (1.21) also gets modified in the operator formalism [77]:

$$\nabla_A \to \nabla_A - \frac{X^B}{X^2} \Sigma_{AB}, \qquad (1.25)$$

where

$$\Sigma_{AB} = U_A \frac{\partial}{\partial U^B} - U_B \frac{\partial}{\partial U^A}.$$
(1.26)

The ambient formalism extends to the boundary of AdS [78–80, 83–86]. Towards the boundary, the hyperboloid (1.15) asymptotes to the light-cone. This limit does not give rise to a well-defined boundary metric, but a finite limit can be obtained by considering a projective cone of light-rays:

$$P^A \equiv \epsilon X^A, \quad \epsilon \to 0. \tag{1.27}$$

Since X^2 is fixed, these null co-ordinates satisfy:

$$P^2 = 0, \qquad P \cong \lambda P, \qquad \lambda \neq 0,$$
 (1.28)

and are identified with the AdS boundary. For example, for Euclidean AdS in Poincaré co-ordinates $x^{\mu} = (z, y^i)$, we have:

$$X^{0}(x) = R \frac{z^{2} + y^{2} + 1}{2z},$$
(1.29a)

$$X^{d+1}(x) = R \frac{1 - z^2 - y^2}{2z},$$
(1.29b)

$$X^{i}(x) = \frac{Ry^{i}}{z}, \qquad (1.29c)$$

and the boundary points are parameterised by the Poincaré section:

$$P^{0}(y) = \frac{1}{2} (1+y^{2}), \quad P^{d+1}(y) = \frac{1}{2} (1-y^{2}), \quad P^{i}(y) = y^{i}.$$
(1.30)

The ambient representative $f_{A_1...A_s}(P)$ of a symmetric spin-s boundary field $f_{i_1...i_s}(y)$ of scaling dimension Δ is traceless with respect to the ambient metric¹¹

$$\eta^{AB} f_{A_1...A_s} = 0, \tag{1.31}$$

and scales as

$$f_{A_1\dots A_s}\left(\lambda P\right) = \lambda^{-\Delta} f_{A_1\dots A_s}\left(P\right), \qquad \lambda > 0.$$
(1.32)

Like for the ambient description of bulk fields, we require that $f_{A_1...A_s}$ is tangent to the light-cone:

$$P^{A_1} f_{A_1\dots A_s} \left(P \right) = 0. \tag{1.33}$$

However, since $P^2 = 0$, there is an extra redundancy

$$f_{A_1...A_s}(P) \to f_{A_1...A_s}(P) + P_{(A_1}\Lambda_{A_2...A_s}),$$
 (1.34)

$$P^{A_1}\Lambda_{A_1\dots A_{s-1}} = 0, \quad \Lambda_{A_1\dots A_{s-1}}(\lambda P) = \lambda^{-(\Delta+1)}\Lambda_{A_1\dots A_{s-1}}(P), \quad \eta^{A_1A_2}\Lambda_{A_1\dots A_{s-1}} = 0, \quad (1.35)$$

which, together with (1.33), eliminates the extra two degrees of freedom per index of $f_{A_1...A_s}$.

Likewise the operator formalism extends to ambient boundary fields, where we have:

$$f_{A_1...A_s}(P) \to f_s(P;Z) = \frac{1}{s!} f_{A_1...A_s}(P) Z^{A_1} \dots Z^{A_s}, \quad Z^2 = 0, \quad P \cdot Z = 0, \quad (1.36)$$

where as usual $Z^2 = 0$ enforces the traceless condition (1.31) and it is useful to impose the new constraint $P \cdot Z = 0$ that takes care of tangentiality to the light-cone (1.33).

2 Scalar diagrams

For ease of illustration, we first consider two-point one-loop diagrams involving only scalar fields. We review the basic ingredients below before giving some concrete applications in section 2.1 and section 2.3.

Bulk-to-boundary propagators take a very simple form in ambient space. See section 1.2 for a review of the ambient space formalism. For a scalar of mass $m^2 R^2 = \Delta (\Delta - d)$, the bulk-to-boundary propagator¹²

$$\left(-\Box + m^{2}\right) K_{\Delta,0}\left(x;y\right) = 0, \qquad \lim_{z \to 0} \left(z^{\Delta-d} K_{\Delta,0}\left(z,\bar{y};y\right)\right) = \frac{1}{2\Delta - d} \delta^{d}\left(y-\bar{y}\right), \quad (2.1)$$

is given by the contraction:

$$K_{\Delta,0}(X(x); P(y)) = \frac{C_{\Delta,0}}{(-2X \cdot P)^{\Delta}},$$
 (2.2)

with normalisation:

$$C_{\Delta,0} = \frac{\Gamma\left(\Delta\right)}{2\pi^{d/2}\Gamma\left(\Delta + 1 - \frac{d}{2}\right)}.$$
(2.3)

¹¹It is not difficult to see that this follows from the tracelessness of $f_{i_1...i_s}$.

¹²In the limit we used Poincaré co-ordinates (1.29a) with $x^{\mu} = (z, \bar{y}^i)$, where the \bar{y}^i with i = 1, ..., d parameterise the boundary directions.

We employ the spectral representation of the bulk-to-bulk propagators, which for scalar fields with $\Delta > \frac{d}{2}$ is given by¹³

$$G_{\Delta,0}(x_1;x_2) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{d\nu}{\left[\nu^2 + \left(\Delta - \frac{d}{2}\right)^2\right]} \Omega_{\nu,0}(x_1,x_2), \qquad (2.4)$$

where $\Omega_{\nu,0}$ is a spin 0 bi-tensorial harmonic function with equation of motion

$$\left(\Box_1 + \left(\frac{d}{2}\right)^2 + \nu^2\right)\Omega_{\nu,0}(x_1, x_2) = 0, \qquad (2.5)$$

where the subscript $_i$ on differential operators signifies that the derivative is being taken with respect to x_i . As is illustrated in figure 1, the factorisation

$$\Omega_{\nu,0}(x_1, x_2) = \frac{\nu^2}{\pi} \int_{\partial \text{AdS}} d^d y \, K_{\frac{d}{2} + i\nu.0}(x_1; y) \, K_{\frac{d}{2} - i\nu,0}(x_2; y) \,, \tag{2.6}$$

of harmonic functions into bulk-to-boundary propagators (2.2) re-expresses two-point oneloop diagrams in terms of conformal integrals of tree-level three-point Witten diagrams. For diagrams involving only scalar fields, the three-point Witten diagrams are those generated by the basic vertex¹⁴

$$\mathcal{V}^{(3)} = \phi_1 \phi_2 \phi_3, \tag{2.7}$$

of scalars ϕ_i of some mass $m_i^2 R^2 = \Delta_i (\Delta_i - d)$. The tree-level amplitude generated by (2.7) is well known [5], and given in the ambient formalism (see section 1.2) by

$$\mathcal{M}_{\Delta_{1},\Delta_{2},\Delta_{3}}^{\text{3pt tree}}\left(P_{1},P_{2},P_{3}\right) = \frac{\mathsf{B}\left(\Delta_{1},\Delta_{2},\Delta_{3};0\right)}{P_{13}^{\frac{\Delta_{1}+\Delta_{3}-\Delta_{2}}{2}}P_{23}^{\frac{\Delta_{2}+\Delta_{3}-\Delta_{1}}{2}}P_{12}^{\frac{\Delta_{1}+\Delta_{2}-\Delta_{3}}{2}},\tag{2.8}$$

where $P_{ij} = -2P_i \cdot P_j$ and

$$\mathsf{B}(\Delta_{1},\Delta_{2},\Delta_{3};0) = \frac{1}{2}\pi^{\frac{d}{2}}\Gamma\left(\frac{-d+\sum_{i=1}^{3}\Delta_{i}}{2}\right)C_{\Delta_{1},0}C_{\Delta_{2},0}C_{\Delta_{3},0}$$
$$\times \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{\Delta_{1}+\Delta_{2}-\Delta_{3}}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{\Delta_{1}+\Delta_{3}-\Delta_{2}}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{\Delta_{2}+\Delta_{3}-\Delta_{1}}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\Delta_{1}\right)\Gamma\left(\Delta_{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\Delta_{3}\right)}.$$
(2.9)

The $C_{\Delta_i,0}$ come from the normalisation (2.3) of the bulk-to-boundary propagator.

In section 2.1 we use this approach to evaluate the two-point one-loop bubble diagram in ϕ^3 theory. In section 2.3 we move on to tadpole diagrams, showing in section 2.3.1 how they are evaluated in ϕ^4 theory. We extend the latter result to arbitrary derivative quartic self-interactions in section 2.3.3.

2.1 2pt bubble

We consider the two-point one-loop bubble illustrated in figure 2, which is generated by the following cubic couplings:¹⁵

$$\mathcal{V}_{1}^{(3)} = g \,\phi_1 \phi \bar{\phi}, \qquad \mathcal{V}_{2}^{(3)} = \bar{g} \,\phi_2 \phi \bar{\phi}, \qquad (2.10)$$

¹³The case $\Delta < \frac{d}{2}$ requires a slight modification of the propagator, but the general approach for evaluating loop diagrams is unchanged. This is explained later on in section 4.2.1.

¹⁴Note that this vertex is the unique cubic vertex of scalars on-shell.

¹⁵In this subsection we drop symmetry factors associated to indistinguishable external legs. In the case of indistinguishable scalar fields, the corresponding symmetry factor is $S = \frac{1}{2}$.



Figure 2. Scalar one-loop bubble diagram generated by the cubic couplings (2.10).

for arbitrary coupling constants g and \bar{g} . The diagram is given by evaluating the bulk integrals

$$\mathcal{M}^{\text{2pt bubble}}\left(P_{1}, P_{2}\right) = g\bar{g} \int_{\text{AdS}} dX_{1} dX_{2} K_{\Delta_{1},0}\left(X_{1}; P_{1}\right) G_{\Delta,0}\left(X_{1}; X_{2}\right) G_{\bar{\Delta},0}\left(X_{1}; X_{2}\right) K_{\Delta_{2},0}\left(X_{2}; P_{2}\right).$$
(2.11)

The spectral representation (2.4) of the scalar bulk-to-bulk propagators expresses the diagram in terms of two tree-level three-point Witten diagrams (2.8), sewn together by their common boundary points (see figure 1a):

$$\mathcal{M}^{\text{2pt bubble}}(P_{1}, P_{2}) = g\bar{g} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\nu^{2}\bar{\nu}^{2}d\nu d\bar{\nu}}{\pi^{2}[\nu^{2} + (\Delta - \frac{d}{2})^{2}][\bar{\nu}^{2} + (\bar{\Delta} - \frac{d}{2})^{2}]} \\ \times \int_{\partial \text{AdS}} dP d\bar{P} \,\mathcal{M}^{\text{3pt tree}}_{\Delta_{1}, \frac{d}{2} + i\nu, \frac{d}{2} + i\bar{\nu}}(P_{1}, P, \bar{P}) \,\mathcal{M}^{\text{3pt tree}}_{\Delta_{2}, \frac{d}{2} - i\nu, \frac{d}{2} - i\bar{\nu}}(P_{2}, P, \bar{P}).$$
(2.12)

The integrals in P and \overline{P} are both of the three-point conformal type (1.3a). Performing first, say, the integration over \overline{P} leaves the two-point conformal integral (1.3b):

$$\mathcal{M}^{2\text{pt bubble}}\left(P_{1},P_{2}\right) = \frac{g\bar{g}}{64\pi^{\frac{d+8}{2}}} \frac{C_{\Delta_{1},0}C_{\Delta_{2},0}}{\Gamma\left(\Delta_{1}\right)\Gamma\left(\Delta_{2}\right)} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{\Delta_{1}+\Delta_{2}-d}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(d-\frac{\Delta_{1}+\Delta_{2}}{2}\right)} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\nu d\bar{\nu} \,\mathcal{F}^{2\text{pt bubble}}\left(\nu,\bar{\nu}\right)$$
$$\times \underbrace{P_{12}^{\frac{d-\Delta_{1}-\Delta_{2}}{2}} \int \frac{dP}{\left(-2P_{1}\cdot P\right)^{\frac{1}{2}\left(d+\Delta_{1}-\Delta_{2}\right)}\left(-2P_{2}\cdot P\right)^{\frac{1}{2}\left(d+\Delta_{2}-\Delta_{1}\right)}}}_{=I_{2\text{pt}}^{1-\text{loop}}\left(y_{1},y_{2}\right)\left(1.5\right)}, \quad (2.13)$$

where

$$\mathcal{F}^{2\text{pt bubble}}(\nu,\bar{\nu}) = \frac{\nu\bar{\nu}\sinh(\pi\nu)\sinh(\pi\bar{\nu})}{\left[\left(\frac{d}{2}-\bar{\Delta}\right)^2+\bar{\nu}^2\right]\left[\left(\frac{d}{2}-\Delta\right)^2+\nu^2\right]}$$
(2.14)

$$\times\Gamma\left(\frac{d-\Delta_1-i(\nu-\bar{\nu})}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{d-\Delta_1+i(\nu+\bar{\nu})}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{\Delta_1-i(\nu-\bar{\nu})}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{\Delta_1+i(\nu+\bar{\nu})}{2}\right)$$
$$\times\Gamma\left(\frac{d-\Delta_2+i(\nu-\bar{\nu})}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{d-\Delta_2-i(\nu+\bar{\nu})}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{\Delta_2+i(\nu-\bar{\nu})}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{\Delta_2-i(\nu+\bar{\nu})}{2}\right).$$

Focusing on the $\log(y_{12}^2)$ contribution, we can thus extract the leading correction to the anomalous dimension as the following spectral integral:

$$\gamma = -g\bar{g}\,\delta_{\Delta_1\Delta_2} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{\Delta_1+\Delta_2-d}{2}\right)}{64\pi^{\frac{d+8}{2}}\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(d-\frac{\Delta_1+\Delta_2}{2}\right)} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\Gamma(\Delta_1)\Gamma\left(-\frac{d}{2}+\Delta_1+1\right)}} \sqrt{\Gamma(\Delta_2)\Gamma\left(-\frac{d}{2}+\Delta_2+1\right)} \times \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\nu d\bar{\nu}\,\mathcal{F}^{2\text{pt bubble}}\left(\nu,\bar{\nu}\right). \tag{2.15}$$

In the following sections we first demonstrate how the spectral integrals may be evaluated in some simple examples, and in section 2.2 we detail a general analytic approach based on summing over residues. In section 3.3 we also discuss the pole structure of the spectral function (2.14).

2.1.1 Conformally coupled scalar ($\Delta = 2$) in AdS₄

The simplest case is that of the self-coupling of a conformally coupled scalar in AdS_4 , i.e.:

$$\mathcal{V}_1^{(3)} = \mathcal{V}_2^{(3)} = \frac{g}{3!} \,\phi^3,\tag{2.16}$$

with $\Delta = 2$. In this section all formulas below will include the corresponding symmetry factor $S = \frac{1}{2}$.

In this case the spectral representation of the anomalous dimension (2.15) is:

$$\gamma = -S g^2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \frac{\nu \bar{\nu} (\nu - \bar{\nu}) (\nu + \bar{\nu}) \sinh(\pi \nu) \sinh(\pi \bar{\nu}) \operatorname{csch}(\pi (\nu - \bar{\nu})) \operatorname{csch}(\pi (\nu + \bar{\nu}))}{\pi^2 (4\nu^2 + 1) (4\bar{\nu}^2 + 1)} \,. \tag{2.17}$$

To study the above integral it is convenient to make the following change of variables:

$$x = \nu + \bar{\nu}, \qquad y = \nu - \bar{\nu},$$
 (2.18)

through which the (2.17) becomes:

$$\gamma = -\frac{S g^2}{2\pi^2} \int_0^\infty dx \int_0^\infty dy \underbrace{\frac{xy \left(x^2 - y^2\right) \operatorname{csch}(\pi x) \operatorname{csch}(\pi y) \sinh\left(\frac{\pi}{2}(x - y)\right) \sinh\left(\frac{\pi}{2}(x + y)\right)}_{I(x,y)}}_{(2.19)},$$

where we have used the symmetries of the integral to restrict the region of integration to the first quadrant of the plane. In the above form it is straightforward to identify the singularity of the integral which arises for $x \to \infty$ or $y \to \infty$ from the asymptotic behavior the integrand:

$$I(x,y) \sim \frac{1}{x} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{x^3}\right) \qquad y \text{ fixed},$$
 (2.20)

$$I(x,y) \sim \frac{1}{y} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{y^3}\right) \qquad x \text{ fixed}.$$
 (2.21)

A standard way to regularise integrals of the above type is to use ζ -function regularisation, which entails introducing a parameter μ :

$$\gamma(\mu) = -\frac{S g^2}{2\pi^2} \int_0^\infty dx \int_0^\infty dy \underbrace{\frac{xy \left(x^2 - y^2\right) \operatorname{csch}(\pi x) \operatorname{csch}(\pi y) \sinh\left(\frac{1}{2}\pi(x-y)\right) \sinh\left(\frac{1}{2}\pi(x+y)\right)}{((y-x)^2 + 1)^{1+\mu} ((x+y)^2 + 1)^{1+\mu}}}_{I^\mu(x,y)},$$
(2.22)

where, taking a minimal subtraction scheme, the anomalous dimension is given by the finite part as $\mu \to 0$:

$$\gamma = \text{finite}\left[\gamma\left(0\right)\right]. \tag{2.23}$$

The integral (2.22) is convergent for μ sufficiently big. For such values of μ the above integral can be split into two integrals, one of which is convergent for $\mu \to 0$ while the other is divergent:¹⁶

$$I^{(\mu)}(x,y) = I_1^{(\mu)}(x,y) + I_2^{(\mu)}(x,y), \qquad (2.24)$$

with

$$I_{1}^{(\mu)}(x,y)\Big|_{\mu=0} = \frac{xy}{2} \left[\frac{(y-x)(x+y)\operatorname{csch}(\pi y)\operatorname{csch}(\pi x)(\cosh(\pi x) - \cosh(\pi y))}{((y-x)^{2}+1)((x+y)^{2}+1)} + \frac{x^{2}\operatorname{csch}(\pi y)}{(x^{2}+1)^{2}} + \frac{y^{2}\operatorname{csch}(\pi x)}{(x^{2}+1)^{2}} \right]$$

$$(2.25)$$

$$+\frac{g^{2}\cosh(\pi w)}{(y^{2}+1)^{2}}\Big],$$
(2.25)

$$I_{2}^{(\mu)}(x,y) = -\frac{1}{2} \left[x^{3}y \left(x^{2} + 1 \right)^{-2(\mu+1)} \operatorname{csch}(\pi y) + xy^{3} \operatorname{csch}(\pi x) \left(y^{2} + 1 \right)^{-2(\mu+1)} \right].$$
(2.26)

The first integral can be evaluated numerically and gives:

$$\int_0^\infty dx \int_0^\infty dy \, I_1^{(0)}(x,y) = 0.0289829 \,. \tag{2.27}$$

The second integral diverges, but can be evaluated analytically for arbitrary μ as:

$$\int_0^\infty dx \int_0^\infty dy \, I_2^{(\mu)}(x,y) = -\frac{1}{32\mu^2 + 16\mu} \sim -\frac{1}{16\mu} + \frac{1}{8} + O\left(\mu\right). \tag{2.28}$$

The final result for the anomalous dimension can thus be given numerically as:

$$\gamma = 0.0156017 \times S g^2. \tag{2.29}$$

2.1.2 $\Delta = 3/2$ in AdS₃

Another simple case that we can study in detail is that of the coupling (2.16) with $\Delta = 3/2$ in AdS₃, for which we have:

$$\gamma = -\frac{8 S g^2}{\pi^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \underbrace{\frac{\nu \bar{\nu} \sinh(\pi \nu) \sinh(\pi \bar{\nu})}{(4\nu^2 + 1) (4\bar{\nu}^2 + 1) (\cosh(2\pi\nu) + \cosh(2\pi\bar{\nu}))}}_{I^{(\mu=0)}(\nu,\bar{\nu})/4} .$$
(2.30)

¹⁶This generalises the approach suggested by Camporesi and Higuchi [87].

Like in the previous example, also in this case using a ζ -function regulator we can split the above integral into a convergent piece which we can directly evaluate at $\mu = 0$ and a divergent piece which we can analytically continue. Considering the same change of variables $x = \nu + \bar{\nu}$ and $y = \nu - \bar{\nu}$, we have:

$$\mathcal{F}^{\text{2pt bubble}}(\nu,\bar{\nu}) \longrightarrow I^{(\mu)}(x,y) = I_1^{(\mu)}(x,y) + I_2^{(\mu)}(x,y),$$
 (2.31)

with

$$I_{1}^{(0)}(x,y) = \frac{y^{2}\operatorname{sech}(\pi x)}{4(y^{2}+1)^{2}} + \frac{x^{2}\operatorname{sech}(\pi y)}{4(x^{2}+1)^{2}} - \frac{(e^{\pi y} - e^{\pi x})\left(e^{\pi(y+x)} - 1\right)(y-x)(y+x)}{2(e^{2\pi y}+1)(e^{2\pi x}+1)((y-x)^{2}+1)((y+x)^{2}+1)},$$
(2.32)

$$I_2^{(\mu)} = \frac{1}{4} \left(x^2 \operatorname{sech}(\pi y) \left(x^2 + 1 \right)^{-2(\mu+1)} - y^2 \operatorname{sech}(\pi x) \left(y^2 + 1 \right)^{-2(\mu+1)} \right).$$
(2.33)

The first integral can be evaluated numerically and gives:

$$\int_0^\infty dx \, \int_0^\infty dy \, I_1^{(0)}(x,y) = 0.0278017\,, \tag{2.34}$$

while the second can be evaluated explicitly as

$$\int_0^\infty dx \,\int_0^\infty dy \,I_2^{(\mu)}(x,y) = -\frac{\sqrt{\pi}\,\Gamma\left(2\mu + \frac{1}{2}\right)}{16\Gamma(2\mu + 2)} \sim -\frac{\pi}{16} + O\left(\mu\right)\,. \tag{2.35}$$

The final numerical result for the anomalous dimension is:

$$\gamma = -0.13662 \ \times \ S \ g^2. \tag{2.36}$$

2.2 Summing over residues

In this section we explain in detail the application of the standard analytic approach to Mellin Barnes integrals (as prescribed e.g. in [88]) to evaluate the bubble spectral integrals of the type (2.15).¹⁷ This entails summing over residues. Setting for definiteness the dimension of the external legs to be equal $\Delta_1 = \Delta_2 = \Delta$ (for $\Delta_1 \neq \Delta_2$ the result is vanishing) and re-labelling the dimension of the internal leg as $\Delta \to \Delta_1$ and $\bar{\Delta} \to \Delta_2$, we want to evaluate the following spectral integral:

$$\gamma = -g\bar{g}S\frac{\Gamma\left(\Delta - \frac{d}{2}\right)}{64\pi^{\frac{d+8}{2}}\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(d - \Delta\right)}\frac{1}{\Gamma(\Delta)\Gamma\left(-\frac{d}{2} + \Delta + 1\right)}\int_{-\infty}^{\infty}d\nu d\bar{\nu}\mathcal{F}^{2\text{pt bubble}}\left(\nu, \bar{\nu}\right), \quad (2.37\text{a})$$

$$\mathcal{F}^{\text{2pt bubble}}(\nu,\bar{\nu}) = \frac{\nu\nu \operatorname{sini}(\nu)\operatorname{sini}(\nu)}{\left[\left(\frac{d}{2} - \Delta_2\right)^2 + \bar{\nu}^2\right] \left[\left(\frac{d}{2} - \Delta_1\right)^2 + \nu^2\right]}$$
(2.37b)

$$\times \Gamma\left(\frac{d-\Delta-i(\nu-\bar{\nu})}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{d-\Delta+i(\nu+\bar{\nu})}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{\Delta-i(\nu-\bar{\nu})}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{\Delta+i(\nu+\bar{\nu})}{2}\right) \\ \times \Gamma\left(\frac{d-\Delta+i(\nu-\bar{\nu})}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{d-\Delta-i(\nu+\bar{\nu})}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{\Delta+i(\nu-\bar{\nu})}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{\Delta-i(\nu+\bar{\nu})}{2}\right)$$

¹⁷We thank Lorenzo Di Pietro for discussions which motivated us to give details on this approach.

As before, it is convenient to change variables as

$$\nu = \frac{x+y}{2}, \qquad \bar{\nu} = \frac{x-y}{2}.$$
(2.38)

In this way all Γ -functions arguments in the second and third lines of (2.37b) disentangle and the only place where x and y talk to each other is through the spectral functions of the propagators in the first line, which simplifies the extraction of residues. To wit,

$$\gamma = -g\bar{g}S \frac{\pi^{-\frac{d}{2}-4}\Gamma\left(\Delta - \frac{d}{2}\right)}{64\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)\Gamma(\Delta)\Gamma(d-\Delta)\Gamma\left(-\frac{d}{2}+\Delta+1\right)}$$
(2.39)

$$\times \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dx \, dy \, \frac{(x-y)(x+y)(\cosh(\pi x) - \cosh(\pi y))}{[(d-2\Delta_1)^2 + (x+y)^2]\left[(d-2\Delta_2)^2 + (x-y)^2\right]}$$
$$\times \Gamma\left(\frac{\Delta - ix}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{ix+\Delta}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{\Delta - iy}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{iy+\Delta}{2}\right)$$
$$\times \Gamma\left(\frac{d-ix-\Delta}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{d+ix-\Delta}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{d-iy-\Delta}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{d+iy-\Delta}{2}\right).$$

It should be understood that the integration contours encircle all poles from a given Γ function while separating the poles of pairs of Γ -functions whose arguments are of the type A - ix and A + ix. In the following we shall assume that the parameters Δ and Δ_i are tuned so that the two series of poles from each such pair of Γ -functions are divided by the integration contour $x \in \mathbb{R}$.¹⁸ The result for more general configurations of Δ and Δ_i can then be obtained by analytic continuation of the latter result. Studying the poles of the above integrand in the variable x, for those which sit below the integration contour we have (for $n \ge 0$, $\Delta_i > \frac{d}{2}$ and $\Delta > \frac{d}{2}$):

A₁:
$$x = i(-d + \Delta - 2n),$$
 (2.40a)

A₂:
$$x = i(-\Delta - 2n),$$
 (2.40b)

B:
$$x = -y - i(2\Delta_1 - d),$$
 (2.40c)

C:
$$x = y - i(2\Delta_2 - d),$$
 (2.40d)

whose residues are straightforward to compute in the usual way. This reduces the doubleintegral in (2.39) to a single integral in y, which can be evaluated using standard methods or again by extracting the y residues.

It is convenient to focus on dimensions in which UV divergences do not arise. Since the result does not depend on any regularisation, this also allows for straightforward comparison with other approaches. An example is given by AdS_3 , which in our conventions corresponds to d = 2. We focus on this case in the following.

¹⁸Otherwise the contour of integration must be deformed in order to respect the separation of poles among different Γ -functions (this is standard with Mellin integrals of the type (1.7), see e.g. [88]). This corresponds to an analytic continuation of the result obtained when no pole crosses the real axis.

Defining $\delta_i = \Delta_i - \frac{d}{2} > 0$, in this case the spectral integral simplifies to

$$\mathcal{F}(x,y) = \frac{(x-y)(x+y)(\cosh(\pi x) - \cosh(\pi y))}{(4\delta_1^2 + (x-y)^2) (4\delta_2^2 + (x+y)^2)}$$

$$\times \Gamma\left(\frac{-2ix - 2\delta + 2}{4}\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{2ix - 2\delta + 2}{4}\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{-2ix + 2\delta + 2}{4}\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{2ix + 2\delta + 2}{4}\right)$$

$$\times \Gamma\left(\frac{-2iy - 2\delta + 2}{4}\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{2iy - 2\delta + 2}{4}\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{-2iy + 2\delta + 2}{4}\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{2iy + 2\delta + 2}{4}\right).$$

$$(2.41)$$

The residues of the poles (2.40) in x in this case read:

$$\mathbf{A}_{1}: \frac{(-\delta+2n-iy+1)(-\delta+2n+iy+1)}{8\pi^{2}\delta^{2}(-\delta-2\delta_{1}+2n-iy+1)(-\delta+2\delta_{1}+2n-iy+1)(-\delta-2\delta_{2}+2n+iy+1)(-\delta+2\delta_{2}+2n+iy+1)}, \quad (2.42a) \\
\mathbf{A}_{2}: -\frac{(\delta+2n-iy+1)(\delta+2n+iy+1)}{8\pi^{2}\delta^{2}(\delta-2\delta_{1}+2n-iy+1)(\delta+2\delta_{1}+2n-iy+1)(\delta-2\delta_{2}+2n+iy+1)(\delta+2\delta_{2}+2n+iy+1)}, \quad (2.42b) \\
\mathbf{B}: -\frac{\Gamma(\delta)\sin(\pi\delta_{1})(y-i\delta_{1})\sinh(\pi(y-i\delta_{1}))}{64\pi^{4}\Gamma(1-\delta)\Gamma(\delta+1)^{2}(-i\delta_{1}-i\delta_{2}+y)(-i\delta_{1}+i\delta_{2}+y)} \quad (2.42c) \\
\times\Gamma\left(\frac{-2iy-2\delta+2}{4}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{2iy-2\delta+2}{4}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{-iy+\delta+1}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{iy+\delta+1}{2}\right) \\
=\kappa\Gamma\left(-iy-\delta-2\delta_{1}+1\right)\Gamma\left(-iy+\delta-2\delta_{1}+1\right)\Gamma\left(iy+2\delta_{1}-\delta+1\right)\Gamma\left(iy+\delta+2\delta_{1}+1\right)$$

$$\times \Gamma\left(\frac{-3}{2}\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{-3}{2}\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{-3}{2}\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{-3}{2}\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{-3}{2}\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{-3}{2}\right),$$

$$\mathbf{C}: -\frac{\Gamma(\delta)\sin(\pi\delta_2)(y+i\delta_2)\sinh(\pi(y+i\delta_2))}{64\pi^4\Gamma(1-\delta)\Gamma(\delta+1)^2(-i\delta_1+i\delta_2+y)(i\delta_1+i\delta_2+y)}$$

$$\times \Gamma\left(\frac{-2iy-2\delta+2}{4}\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{2iy-2\delta+2}{4}\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{-iy+\delta+1}{2}\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{iy+\delta+1}{2}\right)$$

$$\times \Gamma\left(\frac{iy-\delta-2\delta_2+1}{2}\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{iy+\delta-2\delta_2+1}{2}\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{-iy+2\delta_2-\delta+1}{2}\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{-iy+\delta+2\delta_2+1}{2}\right).$$

$$(2.42d)$$

Taking the residue of the poles in y for each of the above following the same prescription for separating the poles of each Γ -functions, we arrive to the following result for the anomalous dimension (2.37) as an infinite sum:

$$\begin{split} \gamma &= -g\bar{g}S\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left\{ \frac{1}{16\pi\delta^2} \bigg[\frac{\delta - \delta_1 + 2n + 1}{(\delta - \delta_1 + 2n + 1)^2 - \delta_2^2} - \frac{-\delta + \delta_1 + 2n + 1}{(-\delta + \delta_1 + 2n + 1)^2 - \delta_2^2} \right] \\ &+ \frac{\delta + \delta_1 + 2n + 1}{(\delta + \delta_1 + 2n + 1)^2 - \delta_2^2} + \frac{\delta + \delta_1 - 2n - 1}{(\delta + \delta_1 - 2n - 1)^2 - \delta_2^2} \bigg] \\ &+ \frac{(2n+1)(\delta_1 + \delta_2)}{2\pi\delta(\delta - \delta_1 - \delta_2 + 2n + 1)(-\delta + \delta_1 + \delta_2 + 2n + 1)(\delta + \delta_1 + \delta_2 - 2n - 1)(\delta + \delta_1 + \delta_2 + 2n + 1)} \bigg\} \\ &- \frac{g\bar{g}S}{64\delta^2} \sin(\pi\delta)\sin(\pi\delta_1)\sin(\pi\delta_2)\csc\left(\frac{-\delta + \delta_1 + \delta_2 + 1}{2}\pi\right)\sec\left(\frac{\delta + \delta_1 - \delta_2}{2}\pi\right) \\ &\times \sec\left(\frac{\delta - \delta_1 + \delta_2}{2}\pi\right)\sec\left(\frac{\delta + \delta_1 + \delta_2}{2}\pi\right). \end{split}$$

The above sums can be performed with Mathematica and give the following remarkably

simple result:

$$\gamma = -\frac{g\bar{g}S}{8\delta^2} \left[\frac{\sin(\pi\delta)}{\cos(\pi\delta) + \cos(\pi(\delta_1 + \delta_2))} + \frac{1}{2\pi} \left(\psi^{(0)} \left(\frac{1 - \delta - \delta_1 - \delta_2}{2} \right) + \psi^{(0)} \left(\frac{1 + \delta + \delta_1 + \delta_2}{2} \right) - \psi^{(0)} \left(\frac{1 + \delta - \delta_1 - \delta_2}{2} \right) - \psi^{(0)} \left(\frac{1 - \delta + \delta_1 + \delta_2}{2} \right) \right) \right],$$

$$(2.44)$$

in terms of the polygamma function. After replacing $\delta = \Delta - \frac{d}{2}$, we then get¹⁹

$$\gamma = -\frac{g\bar{g}S}{8(\Delta-1)^2} \left[\frac{\sin(\pi\Delta)}{\cos(\pi\Delta) - \cos(\pi(\Delta_1 + \Delta_2))} + \frac{1}{2\pi} \left(H_{\frac{\Delta+\Delta_1+\Delta_2-4}{2}} + H_{\frac{2-\Delta-\Delta_1-\Delta_2}{2}} - H_{\frac{\Delta-\Delta_1-\Delta_2}{2}} - H_{\frac{-\Delta+\Delta_1+\Delta_2-2}{2}} \right) \right],$$
(2.45)

which we also rewrote in terms of Harmonic numbers. In particular, for $\Delta_1 = \Delta_2 = \Delta = 3/2$ we obtain:

$$\gamma = -g\bar{g}\,S\,\left(-\frac{1}{2} + \frac{2}{\pi}\right) \sim -0.13662\,\times\,g\bar{g}\,S\,,\tag{2.46}$$

in perfect agreement with the numerical evaluation of the integral considered in section 2.1.2. We have checked many other (also complex) values and they precisely agree with the numerical evaluation. Note that for $\Delta > 2$ one has to carefully take into account the poles that cross the real axis and that would not be included when performing the naive numerical integral just along the real axis. When such crossing of poles happens, the contour needs to be deformed to ensure that the analytic continuation is done properly. In this respect, it is also interesting to note that the above explicit result is not singular for integer values of $\Delta > 2$ for which the pre-factor $\frac{1}{\Gamma(d-\Delta)}$ would naively give zero. In this case the integral over the real line does indeed give a vanishing answer, however the correct analytic continuation must take into account also those poles which crossed the real line. Therefore the even *d* result is simply given by a finite number of residues which crossed the real line in both directions for a given value of Δ . We have explicitly checked that indeed defining the integral as an analytic continuation from the region where the poles are below the real line we recover the result (2.45).

2.3 2pt tadpole

We now move onto two-point tadpole diagrams \bigcirc illustrated in figure 3. We begin in section 2.3.1 with diagrams where the quartic coupling $\mathcal{V}^{(4)}$ is a non-derivative quartic interaction. In section 2.3.3 we generalise the latter for $\mathcal{V}^{(4)}$ involving any number of derivatives.

¹⁹This formula agrees with the result independently obtained in the forthcoming [89], which instead employs a Hamiltonian approach for scalar fields in AdS. We thank D. Carmi, L. Di Pietro and S. Komatsu for providing examples of their independent result for a few specific values of $\Delta_1 = \Delta_2 = \Delta$.



Figure 3. Scalar two-point one-loop tadpole diagram generated by the quartic interaction $\mathcal{V}^{(4)}$.

2.3.1 ϕ^4 tadpole

Consider the loop amplitude generated by the quartic coupling²⁰

$$\mathcal{V}^{(4)} = g\phi_1\phi_2\phi^2, \tag{2.48}$$

given by

$$\mathcal{M}^{1\text{-loop tad.}}(P_1, P_2) = -g \int_{\text{AdS}} dX \, K_{\Delta_1,0}(X, P_1) \, G_{\bar{\Delta},0}(X, X) \, K_{\Delta_2,0}(X, P_2) \,.$$
(2.49)

In this case the spectral representation (2.4) of the bulk-to-bulk propagator allows to express the diagram (2.49) in terms of a tree-level three-point amplitude with a single the external leg integrated over the boundary, as illustrated in figure 1b: in particular, for the bulk-to-bulk propagator at coincident bulk points we have

$$G_{\Delta,0}(X;X) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\nu^2 d\nu}{\pi \left[\nu^2 + \left(\bar{\Delta} - \frac{d}{2}\right)^2\right]} \int_{\partial \text{AdS}} dP K_{\frac{d}{2} + i\nu,0}(X;P) K_{\frac{d}{2} - i\nu,0}(X;P)$$
(2.50)

$$=\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}+1\right)}{2\pi^{\frac{d}{2}+1}\Gamma\left(d\right)}\int_{-\infty}^{\infty}\frac{d\nu}{\left[\nu^{2}+\left(\bar{\Delta}-\frac{d}{2}\right)^{2}\right]}\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}+i\nu\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}-i\nu\right)}{\Gamma\left(i\nu\right)\Gamma\left(-i\nu\right)}\int_{\partial \mathrm{AdS}}dP\,K_{d,0}\left(X;P\right),$$

where the gamma function factor in the ν integrand comes from the normalisation of the bulk-to-boundary propagators on the first line. For the tadpole diagram, upon interchanging AdS and boundary integration, this yields:

$$\mathcal{M}^{1-\text{loop tad.}}\left(P_{1},P_{2}\right) = -g \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}+1\right)}{2\pi^{\frac{d}{2}+1}\Gamma\left(d\right)} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{d\nu}{\left[\nu^{2}+\left(\bar{\Delta}-\frac{d}{2}\right)^{2}\right]} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}+i\nu\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}-i\nu\right)}{\Gamma\left(i\nu\right)\Gamma\left(-i\nu\right)} \quad (2.51)$$
$$\times \int_{\partial \text{AdS}} dP \,\mathcal{M}^{\text{3pt tree}}_{\Delta_{1},\Delta_{2},d}\left(P_{1},P_{2},P\right),$$

²⁰In the following discussion we do not display explicitly the standard symmetry factors associated to the diagram \bigcirc which depend on how many indistinguishable legs are present in a given coupling. We recall that in the case of $\frac{g}{4!}\phi^4$ coupling all result obtained in this section should be multiplied by the symmetry factor $S = \frac{1}{2}$. In the case of O(N) model on AdS space with coupling $\frac{1}{4}(\phi^a\phi^a)^2$ the corresponding multiplying factor is instead:

$$S = g(N+2). (2.47)$$

in terms of the three-point amplitude (2.8) with an external leg integrated over the boundary. Inserting the explicit expression result for the amplitude $\mathcal{M}^{\text{3pt tree}}_{\Delta_1,\Delta_2,d}$, one obtains

$$\mathcal{M}^{1\text{-loop tad.}}(P_1, P_2) = -g \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2} + 1\right)}{2\pi^{\frac{d}{2} + 1}\Gamma\left(d\right)} \mathsf{B}\left(\Delta_1, \Delta_2, d; 0\right) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\nu \,\mathcal{F}^{1\text{-loop tad.}}\left(\nu\right) \\ \times \underbrace{P_{12}^{-\frac{1}{2}(\Delta_1 + \Delta_2 - d)} \int_{\partial \mathrm{AdS}} \frac{dP}{\left(-2P_1 \cdot P\right)^{\frac{1}{2}(d + \Delta_1 - \Delta_2)} \left(-2P_2 \cdot P\right)^{\frac{1}{2}(d + \Delta_2 - \Delta_1)}}_{=I_{2\mathrm{pt}}^{1\text{-loop}}(y_1, y_2) \ \left(1.5\right)}, \quad (2.52)$$

in terms of the two-point conformal integral (1.3b) whose divergences regulated in dimensional regularisation generates the log contribution. The spectral function is given by:

$$\mathcal{F}^{1\text{-loop tad.}}\left(\nu\right) = \frac{1}{\left[\nu^2 + \left(\bar{\Delta} - \frac{d}{2}\right)^2\right]} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2} + i\nu\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2} - i\nu\right)}{\Gamma\left(i\nu\right)\Gamma\left(-i\nu\right)}.$$
(2.53)

Combining the above with the dimensionally regularised form of the boundary integral (1.5) and keeping track of the normalisation of 2-pt functions, we obtain the following spectral representation for the anomalous dimension:

$$\gamma = g \,\delta_{\Delta_1,\Delta_2} \frac{\pi^{\frac{d}{2}-1} \, d\,\Gamma\left(\Delta_1 + 1 - \frac{d}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(d)\Gamma(\Delta_1)} \,\mathsf{B}\left(\Delta_1,\Delta_2,d;0\right) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\nu \,\mathcal{F}^{1\text{-loop tad.}}\left(\nu\right) \,. \tag{2.54}$$

In the following we explain how to evaluate the spectral integral in (2.54). In even dimensions d we have

$$\mathcal{F}^{1\text{-loop tad.}}(\nu) = \frac{1}{\left[\nu^2 + \left(\bar{\Delta} - \frac{d}{2}\right)^2\right]} \prod_{j=0}^{\frac{d-2}{2}} \left(\nu^2 + j^2\right), \qquad (2.55)$$

while in odd d

$$\mathcal{F}^{1\text{-loop tad.}}(\nu) = \frac{\nu \tanh \pi \nu}{\left[\nu^2 + \left(\bar{\Delta} - \frac{d}{2}\right)^2\right]} \prod_{j=\frac{1}{2}}^{\frac{d-2}{2}} \left(\nu^2 + j^2\right).$$
(2.56)

Let us note that, as expected, the above gives the same spectral integral as the ζ -function $\xi_{(\Delta,0)}(1)$. This can be made manifest performing first the integration over the boundary than the integral over AdS (see appendix B). Commuting the AdS integral with boundary and spectral integrals, however, makes manifest the analogy with momentum space Feynman rules where the integral over space time is commuted with the momentum space integrals and performed once and for all. Divergences are then encoded into momentum space integrals. This remarkable analogy become more apparent considering that the analogue of flat space harmonic function can be defined in terms of plane waves as $\Omega_{\nu}(x) = \nu \int d^d k \, e^{ik \cdot x} \delta(k^2 - \nu^2)$. We thus see that the split representation provides a close analogue to momentum space for AdS Feynman diagrams.

Tadpole in even dimensions. The UV divergence in (2.55) can be taken care of by introducing a regulator μ :

$$\zeta_{\Delta}^{\phi^4}(\mu) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{d\nu}{\left[\nu^2 + (\Delta - p)^2\right]^{\mu+1}} \prod_{j=0}^{\frac{d-2}{2}} \left(\nu^2 + j^2\right).$$
(2.57)

Evaluating the above for μ complex and $\Delta > \frac{d}{2}$, one then obtains

$$\zeta_{\Delta}^{\phi^4} \left(\mu \to 0\right) = (-1)^{d/2} \pi^2 \frac{\Gamma(\Delta)}{\Gamma(\Delta - d + 1)}.$$
(2.58)

Combining the above ζ -function with the formula for anomalous dimensions, we arrive to the following expression for the anomalous dimension in even dimensions:

$$\gamma = g \frac{(-1)^{d/2+1}}{2^{d+2} \pi^{\frac{d-1}{2}}} \frac{\Gamma(\Delta)}{(\Delta - \frac{d}{2})\Gamma\left(\frac{1+d}{2}\right)\Gamma(\Delta - d + 1)}.$$
(2.59)

It is interesting to consider the case of a conformally coupled scalar field for which (assuming $\Delta > \frac{d}{2}$) $\Delta = \frac{d+1}{2}$:

$$\gamma^{\text{conf.}} = g(-1)^{d/2+1} \frac{\pi^{\frac{1-d}{2}}}{2^{d+1}\Gamma\left(\frac{3-d}{2}\right)} \,. \tag{2.60}$$

This is non-vanishing in any even dimension d. Note that this effect is, however, an IR effect which does not enter in the flat space result where the first non-trivial contribution arises at 2 loops for massless scalar. The counterpart in AdS of the absence of UV divergences in flat space is the absence of single poles in the ζ -function regulator μ .

Tadpole in odd dimensions. The ζ -function tadpole computation is a bit more involved in odd CFT dimension d, in particular since the integrand does not reduce to a rational function. The result can still be given implicitly upon splitting the hyperbolic tangent in the spectral function (2.56) for the anomalous dimension (2.56) into a piece which is formally divergent and should be regularised, and a convergent piece:

$$\gamma = \gamma^{\text{reg.}} + \gamma^{\text{fin.}} \,, \tag{2.61}$$

with

$$\gamma^{\text{reg.}} = -g \frac{2^{-d} \pi^{-\frac{d}{2} - \frac{1}{2}}}{(d - 2\Delta) \Gamma\left(\frac{d+1}{2}\right)} \int_0^\infty d\nu \frac{\nu \, p^{(d)}(\nu^2)}{\left[\left(\Delta - \frac{d}{2}\right)^2 + \nu^2\right]^{1+\mu}},\tag{2.62a}$$

$$\gamma^{\text{fin.}} = g \frac{2^{-d+1} \pi^{-\frac{d}{2} - \frac{1}{2}}}{(d - 2\Delta) \Gamma\left(\frac{d+1}{2}\right)} \int_0^\infty d\nu \frac{\nu \, p^{(d)}(\nu^2)}{(1 + e^{2\pi\nu}) \left[\left(\Delta - \frac{d}{2}\right)^2 + \nu^2\right]},\tag{2.62b}$$

where the polynomial $p^{(d)}(\nu^2)$ is given by the product:

$$p^{(d)}(\nu^2) = \prod_{i=0}^{\frac{d-3}{2}} \left[\left(i + \frac{1}{2} \right)^2 + \nu^2 \right] = \sum_{n=0}^{\frac{d-3}{2}} \lambda_n^{(d)} \nu^{2n} \,. \tag{2.63}$$

The integral giving $\gamma^{\text{reg.}}$ can thus be performed using the standard identity:

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} d\nu \frac{\nu^{2n+1}}{\left[\left(\Delta - \frac{d}{2}\right)^{2} + \nu^{2}\right]^{1+\mu}} = \left(\Delta - \frac{d}{2}\right)^{2(n-\mu)} \frac{\Gamma(n+1)\Gamma(\mu-n)}{2\Gamma(\mu+1)}$$
(2.64)
$$\sim \frac{(-1)^{n} \left(\Delta - \frac{d}{2}\right)^{2n}}{2} \left[\frac{1}{\mu} + H_{n} - 2\log\left(\Delta - \frac{d}{2}\right)\right],$$

in terms of the harmonic numbers H_n . This yields:

$$\gamma^{\text{reg.}} = -g \frac{2^{-d} \pi^{-\frac{d}{2} - \frac{1}{2}}}{(d - 2\Delta)\Gamma\left(\frac{d+1}{2}\right)} \sum_{n=0}^{\frac{d-3}{2}} \lambda_n^{(d)} \frac{(-1)^n \left(\Delta - \frac{d}{2}\right)^{2n}}{2} \left[H_n - 2\log\left(\Delta - \frac{d}{2}\right) \right]. \quad (2.65)$$

To tackle the integral (2.62b) for the finite part $\gamma^{\text{fin.}}$, we rewrite part of the integrand as

$$\frac{p^{(d)}(\nu^2)}{\left(\Delta - \frac{d}{2}\right)^2 + \nu^2} = \frac{\Gamma(\Delta)}{\Gamma(-d + \Delta + 1)} \frac{1}{\left(\Delta - \frac{d}{2}\right)^2 + \nu^2} + \tilde{p}^{(d)}(\nu^2)$$
$$\equiv \frac{\Gamma(\Delta)}{\Gamma(\Delta - d + 1)} \frac{1}{\left(\Delta - \frac{d}{2}\right)^2 + \nu^2} + \sum_{n=0}^{\frac{d-3}{2}} \bar{\lambda}_n^{(d)} \nu^{2n}, \qquad (2.66)$$

where the final equality defines the coefficients $\bar{\lambda}_k^{(d)}$. One can then evaluate the ν integrals analytically using the following identities valid for $\Delta > \frac{d}{2}$:

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} d\nu \frac{\nu}{\left(1 + e^{2\pi\nu}\right) \left[\left(\Delta - \frac{d}{2}\right)^{2} + \nu^{2}\right]} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\psi \left(\Delta - \frac{d}{2} + \frac{1}{2}\right) - \log \left(\Delta - \frac{d}{2}\right)\right), \quad (2.67a)$$

$$\int_0^\infty d\nu \frac{\nu^n}{(1+e^{2\pi\nu})} = \left(1-2^{-n}\right)(2\pi)^{-n-1}\zeta(n+1)\Gamma(n+1)\,,\qquad(2.67b)$$

where $\psi(z)$ is the digamma function and $\zeta(z)$ is the ζ -function. Combining all the above ingredients we arrive to the following expression for the finite part of the anomalous dimension, valid in any odd CFT dimension d:

$$\gamma^{\text{fin}} = g \frac{2^{-d+1} \pi^{-\frac{d}{2} - \frac{1}{2}}}{(d - 2\Delta)\Gamma\left(\frac{d+1}{2}\right)} \left[\frac{1}{2} \frac{\Gamma(\Delta)}{\Gamma(\Delta - d + 1)} \left(\psi\left(\Delta - \frac{d}{2} + \frac{1}{2}\right) - \log\left(\Delta - \frac{d}{2}\right) \right) + \sum_{n=0}^{\frac{d-3}{2}} \bar{\lambda}_{n}^{(d)} \frac{(1 - 2^{-2n-1}) |B_{2(n+1)}|}{4(n+1)} \right].$$
(2.68)

Below we give some more explicit examples of γ^{fin} in dimensions d = 1, 3, 5, 7, 9:

$$\gamma^{(1)} = -g \frac{1}{2\pi} \frac{\log\left(\Delta - \frac{1}{2}\right)}{2\Delta - 1}, \qquad (2.69a)$$

$$\gamma^{(3)} = -g \frac{3(\Delta - 3)\Delta + 7}{48\pi^2(2\Delta - 3)} + g \frac{6(\Delta - 2)(\Delta - 1)\psi(\Delta - 1)}{48\pi^2(2\Delta - 3)}, \qquad (2.69b)$$

$$\gamma^{(5)} = +g \frac{5(\Delta-5)\Delta(9(\Delta-5)\Delta+98) + 1298}{3840\pi^3(2\Delta-5)} - g \frac{(\Delta-4)(\Delta-3)(\Delta-2)(\Delta-1)\psi(\Delta-2)}{64\pi^3(2\Delta-5)}, \qquad (2.69c)$$

$$\gamma^{(7)} = -g \frac{21(\Delta - 7)\Delta(5(\Delta - 7)\Delta(11(\Delta - 7)\Delta + 326) + 15638) + 1010368}{967680\pi^4(2\Delta - 7)}$$
$$(\Delta - 6)(\Delta - 5)(\Delta - 4)(\Delta - 3)(\Delta - 2)(\Delta - 1)\psi(\Delta - 3)$$

$$+g\frac{(\Delta-6)(\Delta-5)(\Delta-4)(\Delta-3)(\Delta-2)(\Delta-1)\psi(\Delta-3)}{768\pi^4(2\Delta-7)},$$
(2.69d)

$$\gamma^{(9)} = -g \frac{(\Delta - 8)(\Delta - 7)(\Delta - 6)(\Delta - 5)(\Delta - 4)(\Delta - 3)(\Delta - 2)(\Delta - 1)\psi(\Delta - 4)}{12288\pi^5(2\Delta - 9)}$$
(2.69e)

$$+g\frac{(\Delta-9)\Delta(21(\Delta-9)\Delta(5(\Delta-9)\Delta(25(\Delta-9)\Delta+1564)+178516)+36755072)+129256824}{30965760\pi^5(2\Delta-9)}$$

with similar results in higher dimensions. For the case of the conformally coupled scalar $(\Delta = \frac{d+1}{2})$ the above gives:

$$\gamma^{(1)} = g \frac{\log(2)}{2\pi}, \qquad \gamma^{(3)} = -g \frac{1}{48\pi^2}, \qquad \gamma^{(5)} = -g \frac{11}{1920\pi^3}, \qquad (2.70)$$

$$\gamma^{(7)} = -g \frac{359}{120960\pi^4}, \qquad \gamma^{(9)} = -g \frac{8777}{3870720\pi^5}.$$
(2.71)

It is also interesting to notice that in the conformally coupled case the $\frac{1}{\mu}$ pole in the ζ -function regulator is cancelled, in agreement with the expected absence of UV divergences in the flat space result. In general, in odd dimensions the regulator pole is proportional to:

$$\sim \frac{1}{\mu} \prod_{i=0}^{d-2} (\Delta - 1 - i),$$
 (2.72)

and vanishes for integer conformal dimensions $\Delta < d$. Still, there is a IR contribution to the anomalous dimension.

2.3.2 Wilson-Fisher fixed point in AdS_4

A possible application of the results obtained in this section is to consider the Wilson-Fisher fixed point [90, 91] for the O(N) model in hyperbolic space with N real conformally coupled scalar fields:

$$S = \int d^{d+1}x \sqrt{-g} \left(\frac{1}{2} (\partial \phi^a)^2 + \frac{M_d}{2} (\phi^a)^2 + \frac{g}{4} (\phi^a \phi^a)^2 \right) , \qquad (2.73)$$

and conformal mass:

$$M_d = \frac{\Lambda}{4} (d+1)(d-1) \,. \tag{2.74}$$

In this case the one loop β -function in $d = 4 - \epsilon$ dimensions obtained from standard epsilon expansion reads:

$$\beta = \frac{N+8}{8\pi^2} g^2 - \epsilon g , \qquad (2.75)$$



Figure 4. One-loop tadpole diagram $\mathcal{M}_{1234}^{1-\text{loop tad}}$ generated by the quartic vertex (2.78). The point split fields ϕ_1 and ϕ_4 are external, while ϕ_2 and ϕ_3 propagate in the loop. The other diagrams (2.80) permute the positions of the point-split fields ϕ_i .

and the fixed point sits at

$$g^{\star} = \frac{8\pi^2}{N+8} \,\epsilon \,. \tag{2.76}$$

One can then plug the above value of the fixed point coupling into the anomalous dimension for the conformally coupled scalar on hyperbolic space obtaining the following prediction (with ζ -function regularisation) for the anomalous dimension of the dual operator of dimension $\Delta = \frac{5-\epsilon}{2}$:²¹

$$\gamma = -\frac{\epsilon}{6(N+8)}\,.\tag{2.77}$$

It is natural to interpret this result as the anomalous dimension of an operator in a "defect CFT" on the boundary of AdS_4 .

2.3.3 General 2pt tadpole with derivatives

Here we generalise the results in section 2.3.1 to tadpole diagrams for an arbitrary quartic scalar self-interaction dressed with derivatives. Using the ambient space framework (section 1.2), a complete basis for the latter is given by

$$\mathcal{V}_{k,m}^{(4)}(X) = \frac{g}{(k+m)!} \left[\phi(X) \left(\partial_U \cdot \partial_X\right)^k \phi(X) \right] \\ \times \left(\partial_U \cdot \partial_X\right)^m \phi(X) \left(U \cdot \partial_X\right)^{k+m} \phi(X), \quad k \ge 2m \ge 0.$$
(2.78)

In this case there are four distinct contributing diagrams. To label the possibilities, we employ the point-splitting notation:

$$\mathcal{V}_{k,m}^{(4)}(X) = \frac{g}{(k+m)!} \left[\phi_1(X) \left(\partial_U \cdot \partial_X \right)^k \phi_2(X) \right] \left(\partial_U \cdot \partial_X \right)^m \phi_3(X) \left(U \cdot \partial_X \right)^{k+m} \phi_4(X) \Big|_{\phi_i = \phi},$$
(2.79)

and denote the contributing diagrams by:

$$\mathcal{M}_{1234}^{1\text{-loop tad}}, \qquad \mathcal{M}_{1342}^{1\text{-loop tad}}, \qquad \mathcal{M}_{3142}^{1\text{-loop tad}}, \qquad \mathcal{M}_{4132}^{1\text{-loop tad}}. \tag{2.80}$$

The subscript labels the positions of the scalar fields in the point-split vertex (2.79), and is illustrated in figure 4.

²¹If we use $\frac{g}{4!}\phi^4$ the result below should be redefined with N = 1 and $\epsilon \to 6\epsilon$.

In this more general case, the scalar propagators are acted on by ambient partial derivatives — which are straightforward to manage. For bulk-to-boundary propagators for instance, we have

$$(U \cdot \partial_X)^n K_{\Delta,0}(X; P) = 2^n \left(\Delta + 1 - \frac{d}{2}\right)_n (U \cdot P)^n K_{\Delta+n,0}(X; P).$$
(2.81)

This in particular leads to a shift in the argument of the gamma functions in the spectral function compared to the ϕ^4 case (2.53), and can be seen simply from:

$$\begin{aligned} &(U_{1} \cdot \partial_{X_{1}})^{p} \left(U_{2} \cdot \partial_{X_{2}}\right)^{q} G_{\Delta,0}\left(X_{1}, X_{2}\right) \Big|_{X_{i}=X} \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\nu^{2} d\nu}{\pi \left[\nu^{2} + \left(\Delta - \frac{d}{2}\right)^{2}\right]} \int_{\partial \mathrm{AdS}} dP \left(U_{1} \cdot \partial_{X_{1}}\right)^{p} K_{\frac{d}{2} + i\nu,0}\left(X_{1}; P\right) \left(U_{2} \cdot \partial_{X_{2}}\right)^{q} K_{\frac{d}{2} - i\nu,0}\left(X_{2}; P\right) \Big|_{X_{i}=X} \\ &= \frac{2^{p+q} \Gamma \left(\frac{d}{2} + 1 + p + q\right)}{2\pi^{\frac{d}{2} + 1} \Gamma \left(d\right)} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{d\nu}{\left[\nu^{2} + \left(\Delta - \frac{d}{2}\right)^{2}\right]} \frac{\Gamma \left(\frac{d}{2} + i\nu + p\right) \Gamma \left(\frac{d}{2} - i\nu + q\right)}{\Gamma \left(i\nu\right) \Gamma \left(-i\nu\right)} \\ &\times \int_{\partial \mathrm{AdS}} dP \left(P \cdot U_{1}\right)^{p} \left(P \cdot U_{2}\right)^{q} K_{d+p+q,0}\left(X; P\right), \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.82)$$

where we used point splitting to restrict the action of each derivative to only one of either of the two ends of the propagator and the identity (2.81). Generalising (2.53), the spectral function in the case of derivative interactions (2.78) is thus of the form:

$$\mathcal{F}_{p,q}^{1-\text{loop tad.}}\left(\nu\right) = \frac{1}{\left[\nu^2 + \left(\Delta - \frac{d}{2}\right)^2\right]} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2} + i\nu + p\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2} - i\nu + q\right)}{\Gamma\left(i\nu\right)\Gamma\left(-i\nu\right)}.$$
 (2.83)

We discuss the evaluation of the corresponding spectral integral at the end of this section.

The expression (2.82) allows one to immediately conclude that the diagram $\mathcal{M}_{1342}^{1\text{-loop tad}}$ is vanishing for m > 0: in this case we have $U_1 = \partial_U$ and $U_1 = \partial_U$, and (2.82) vanishes since P is a null vector: $P^2 = 0$. For m = 0, $\mathcal{M}_{1342}^{1\text{-loop tad}}$ is the same as $\mathcal{M}_{3142}^{1\text{-loop tad}}$. We give the remaining diagrams below.

Using (2.82) and together with the identity (2.81) for ambient derivatives of bulk-toboundary propagators, we have

$$\mathcal{M}_{1234}^{1\text{-loop tad}}(P_1, P_2) \tag{2.84}$$

$$= -\frac{g}{(k+m)!} \int_{\text{AdS}} dX \, K_{\Delta,0} \left(X, P_1 \right) \left(\partial_U \cdot \partial_{X_1} \right)^k \left(\partial_U \cdot \partial_{X_2} \right)^m G_{\Delta,0} \left(X_1, X_2 \right) \Big|_{X_i = X} \left(U \cdot \partial_X \right)^{k+m} K_{\Delta,0} \left(X, P_2 \right),$$

$$= -\frac{g(-2)^{k+m}}{(k+m)!} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2} + 1 + k + m\right)}{2\pi^{\frac{d}{2} + 1} \Gamma\left(d\right)} \left(\Delta + 1 - \frac{d}{2} \right)_{k+m} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\nu \mathcal{F}_{k,m}^{1\text{-loop tad.}}(\nu)$$

$$\times \int_{\partial \text{AdS}} dP \left(-2P \cdot P_2 \right)^{k+m} \mathcal{M}_{\Delta,\Delta+k+m,d+k+m}^{3\text{pt tree}} \left(P_1, P_2, P \right).$$

Inserting the expression (2.8) for the three-point amplitude yields:

$$\mathcal{M}_{1234}^{1\text{-loop tad}}(P_1, P_2) = -\frac{g(-2)^{k+m}}{(k+m)!} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2} + 1 + k + m\right)}{2\pi^{\frac{d}{2} + 1}\Gamma\left(d\right)} \left(\Delta + 1 - \frac{d}{2}\right)_{k+m} \mathsf{B}\left(\Delta, \Delta + k + m, d + k + m; 0\right) \\ \times \mathcal{M}^{1\text{-loop}}(P_1, P_2) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\nu \mathcal{F}_{k,m}^{1\text{-loop tad.}}(\nu),$$
(2.85)

with spectral representation for the anomalous dimension:

$$\gamma_{1234} = -\frac{g(-2)^{k+m+1}\pi^{\frac{d}{2}-1}}{(k+m)!} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}+1+k+m\right)}{\Gamma\left(d\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\Delta\right)} \Gamma\left(\Delta+1-\frac{d}{2}+k+m\right) \times \mathsf{B}\left(\Delta,\Delta+k+m,d+k+m;0\right) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\nu \mathcal{F}_{k,m}^{1-\mathrm{loop\ tad.}}\left(\nu\right).$$
(2.86)

Similarly, for the other diagrams we have

$$\mathcal{M}_{3142}^{1\text{-loop tad}}(P_1, P_2)$$

$$= -\frac{g}{(k+m)!} \int_{\text{AdS}} dX \, (\partial_U \cdot \partial_X)^m \, K_{\Delta,0} \, (X, P_1) \, (\partial_U \cdot \partial_X)^k \, K_{\Delta,0} \, (X, P_2) \, (U \cdot \partial_{X_2})^{k+m} \, G_{\Delta,0} \, (X, X_2)$$

$$= -\frac{g(-2)^{k+m}}{(k+m)!} \frac{\Gamma \left(\frac{d}{2} + 1 + k + m\right)}{2\pi^{\frac{d}{2} + 1} \Gamma \left(d\right)} \left(\Delta + 1 - \frac{d}{2}\right)_k \left(\Delta + 1 - \frac{d}{2}\right)_m \mathsf{B} \left(\Delta + m, \Delta + k, d + m + k; 0\right)$$

$$\times \mathcal{M}^{1\text{-loop}}(P_1, P_2) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\nu \mathcal{F}_{0,k+m}^{1\text{-loop tad.}}(\nu) \, ,$$

$$(2.87)$$

with anomalous dimension:

$$\gamma_{3142} = -\frac{g(-2)^{k+m+1}\pi^{\frac{d}{2}-1}}{(k+m)!} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}+1+k+m\right)}{\pi\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(d\right)\Gamma\left(\Delta\right)} \Gamma\left(\Delta+1-\frac{d}{2}+k\right) \left(\Delta+1-\frac{d}{2}\right)_{m} \times \mathcal{B}\left(\Delta+m,\Delta+k,d+m+k;0\right) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\nu \mathcal{F}_{0,k+m}^{1-\text{loop tad.}}\left(\nu\right).$$
(2.88)

And finally

$$\mathcal{M}_{4132}^{1\text{-loop tad}}(P_1, P_2) \tag{2.89}$$

$$= -\frac{g}{(k+m)!} \int_{\text{AdS}} dX \left(\partial_U \cdot \partial_X\right)^k K_{\Delta,0}\left(X, P_2\right) \left(\partial_U \cdot \partial_{X_2}\right)^m G_{\Delta,0}\left(X; X_2\right) \left(U \cdot \partial_X\right)^{k+m} K_{\Delta,0}\left(X, P_1\right)$$

$$= -\frac{g(-2)^{k+m}}{(k+m)!} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}+1+m\right)}{2\pi^{\frac{d}{2}+1}\Gamma\left(d\right)} \left(\Delta+1-\frac{d}{2}\right)_k \left(\Delta+1-\frac{d}{2}\right)_{k+m} \mathsf{B}\left(\Delta+m+k, \Delta+k, d+m; 0\right)$$

$$\times \mathcal{M}^{1\text{-loop}}\left(P_1, P_2\right) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\nu \mathcal{F}_{0,m}^{1\text{-loop tad.}}\left(\nu\right),$$

with anomalous dimension:

$$\gamma_{4132} = -\frac{g(-2)^{k+m+1}\pi^{\frac{d}{2}-1}}{(k+m)!} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}+1+m\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(d\right)\Gamma\left(\Delta\right)} \Gamma\left(\Delta+1-\frac{d}{2}+k\right) \left(\Delta+1-\frac{d}{2}\right)_{k+m} \times \mathsf{B}\left(\Delta+m+k,\Delta+k,d+m;0\right) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\nu \mathcal{F}_{0,m}^{1-\mathrm{loop\ tad.}}\left(\nu\right).$$
(2.90)

To conclude this section let us discuss the evaluation of the spectral integrals. The integrals are of a similar type to those (2.53) arising in ϕ^4 theory, and can be divided into two parts:

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\nu \mathcal{F}_{m,n}^{1\text{-loop tad.}}(\nu) = \int_{0}^{\infty} d\nu \frac{\nu p(\nu^{2}) + r(\nu^{2})}{\left[\left(\Delta - \frac{d}{2}\right)^{2} + \nu^{2}\right]^{1+\mu}} - 2\int_{0}^{\infty} d\nu \frac{\nu \left[a + q(\nu^{2})\left[\left(\Delta - \frac{d}{2}\right)^{2} + \nu^{2}\right]\right]}{(1 + e^{2\pi\nu})\left[\left(\Delta - \frac{d}{2}\right)^{2} + \nu^{2}\right]}, \quad (2.91)$$



Figure 5. Scalar one-point tadpole diagram with off-shell external leg, generated by the cubic vertex (2.94).

in terms of polynomials $p(\nu^2) \equiv \sum_i \xi_i \nu^{2i}$, $r(\nu^2) \equiv \sum_i r_i \nu^{2i}$ and $q(\nu^2) \equiv \sum_i \zeta_i \nu^{2i}$ which are defined by the above equality for integer dimensions. The polynomial $r(\nu^2)$ appears in even dimensions, while $p(\nu^2)$ and $q(\nu^2)$ are non-vanishing in odd dimensions and satisfy the relation

$$p(\nu^{2}) = \eta + q(\nu^{2}) \left[\left(\Delta - \frac{d}{2} \right)^{2} + \nu^{2} \right], \qquad (2.92)$$

with η a constant. One can thus in full generality evaluate the corresponding spectral integrals in ζ -function regularisation using (2.67) and (2.64), obtaining the result as a linear combination of the constants ξ_n and ζ_n :

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\nu \mathcal{F}_{m,n}^{1\text{-loop tad.}}(\nu)$$

$$= \left[\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \xi_i \, \frac{(-1)^i \left(\Delta - \frac{d}{2}\right)^{2i}}{2} \left[H_i - 2 \log \left(\Delta - \frac{d}{2}\right) \right] \right]$$

$$- \left[\sum_i \zeta_i \, \frac{(1 - 2^{-2i-1}) \left| B_{2(i+1)} \right|}{2(i+1)} \right] - \eta \left[\psi \left(\Delta - \frac{d}{2} + \frac{1}{2}\right) - \log \left(\Delta - \frac{d}{2}\right) \right]$$

$$- \left[\sum_i \pi r_i \left(-\frac{1}{4} \right)^i (d - 2\Delta)^{2i-1} \right] ,$$
(2.93)

which is expressed in terms of Bernoulli numbers B_i , harmonic numbers H_i and digamma function $\psi(z)$. Similar results can also be obtained using Mellin-Barnes regularisation.

2.4 One-point bulk tadpole

In this section we consider the one-point tadpole diagram with a single off-shell external leg in the bulk, generated by the cubic coupling:

$$\mathcal{V}^{(3)} = g\bar{\phi}\phi^2. \tag{2.94}$$

It is given by the bulk integral:

$$\mathfrak{T}^{\text{1pt tadpole}}\left(X_{1}\right) = -g \int_{\text{AdS}} dX \, G_{\bar{\Delta},0}\left(X_{1};X\right) G_{\Delta,0}\left(X;X\right),\tag{2.95}$$



Figure 6. The factorisation (2.96) of the tadpole diagram (2.95) into a tadpole connected to the boundary and a bulk-to-boundary propagator, integrated over their common boundary point.

and depicted in figure 5. In the following we argue that this is vanishing. Using the spectral representation (2.4) of the scalar bulk-to-bulk propagator, the diagram factorises as:

$$\mathfrak{T}^{\text{1pt tadpole}}(X_1) = -\frac{g}{4\pi^{d+1}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{d\bar{\nu}}{\left[\bar{\nu}^2 + \left(\bar{\Delta} - \frac{d}{2}\right)^2\right]} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2} + i\bar{\nu}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2} - i\bar{\nu}\right)}{\Gamma\left(i\bar{\nu}\right)\Gamma\left(-i\bar{\nu}\right)} \int_{\partial \text{AdS}} d\bar{P} \frac{1}{\left(-2X_1 \cdot \bar{P}\right)^{\frac{d}{2} + i\bar{\nu}}} \times \int_{\text{AdS}} dX \frac{1}{\left(-2X \cdot \bar{P}\right)^{\frac{d}{2} - i\bar{\nu}}} G_{\Delta,0}(X;X),$$
(2.96)

which is shown in figure 6. Concentrating on the tadpole factor on the second line which is connected to the boundary point \overline{P} : using the identity (2.50) for the bulk-to-bulk propagator at coincident points, we have

$$\int_{\text{AdS}} dX \frac{1}{\left(-2X \cdot \bar{P}\right)^{\frac{d}{2}-i\bar{\nu}}} G_{\Delta,0}\left(X;X\right) = \frac{1}{4\pi^{d+1}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{d\nu}{\left[\nu^{2} + \left(\Delta - \frac{d}{2}\right)^{2}\right]} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2} + i\nu\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2} - i\nu\right)}{\Gamma\left(i\nu\right)\Gamma\left(-i\nu\right)} \\ \times \int_{\partial \text{AdS}} dP \int_{\text{AdS}} dX \frac{1}{\left(-2X \cdot \bar{P}\right)^{d}} \frac{1}{\left(-2X \cdot \bar{P}\right)^{\frac{d}{2}-i\bar{\nu}}}.$$
 (2.97)

The two-point bulk integrals of the type on the second line are given by:²²

$$\int_{\text{AdS}} dX \, \frac{1}{(-2X \cdot P_1)^{\Delta_1}} \frac{1}{(-2X \cdot P_2)^{\Delta_2}} = 2\pi^{d/2+1} \frac{\Gamma(\Delta_1 - \frac{d}{2})}{\Gamma(\Delta_1)} \frac{1}{P_{12}^{\Delta_1}} \, \delta(\Delta_1 - \Delta_2) + 2\pi^{d+1} \frac{\Gamma(\frac{d}{2} - \Delta_1)\Gamma(\frac{d}{2} - \Delta_2)}{\Gamma(\Delta_1)\Gamma(\Delta_2)} \delta^{(d)}(P_1, P_2) \, \delta(\Delta_1 + \Delta_2 - d) \,, \quad (2.98)$$

which implies

$$\int_{\partial \text{AdS}} dP \int_{\text{AdS}} dX \, \frac{1}{\left(-2X \cdot P\right)^d} \frac{1}{\left(-2X \cdot \bar{P}\right)^{\frac{d}{2}-i\bar{\nu}}} = 2\pi^{\frac{d}{2}+1} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(d\right)} A\delta\left(\frac{d}{2}+i\bar{\nu}\right) + 2\pi^{d+1} \frac{\Gamma\left(-\frac{d}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(i\bar{\nu}\right)}{\Gamma\left(d\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}-i\bar{\nu}\right)} \delta\left(\frac{d}{2}-i\bar{\nu}\right). \quad (2.99)$$

²²This equation is the AdS analogue of the orthogonality relation $\int d^d x \, e^{ix \cdot (p_1 - p_2)} = \delta^{(d)}(p_1 - p_2).$

The constant A is given by the divergent integral

$$A = \int_{\partial \text{AdS}} dP \frac{1}{\left(-2P \cdot \bar{P}\right)^d},\tag{2.100}$$

which vanishes in dimensional regularisation. Since the integration over the parameter $\bar{\nu}$ in (2.96) is also restricted to real values, the tadpole factor (2.97) connected to the boundary is zero. It thus appears that, as expected, the tadpole is vanishing when regularising the bulk IR divergences (which maps to a UV boundary divergence):

$$\mathfrak{T}^{1\text{pt tadpole}}(X_1) \equiv 0. \tag{2.101}$$

We may thus argue that such diagrams do not contribute to bulk amplitudes.

3 Spinning diagrams

Having illustrated the evaluation of two-point one-loop diagrams for the simplest case of scalar field theories, we now turn to theories of spinning fields. We mostly focus on two-point bubble diagrams, but in section 3.4 at the end of this section we also discuss tadpole diagrams with a single off-shell bulk external leg.

The bulk-to-boundary propagator for a totally symmetric field of spin s and mass $m^2 R^2 = \Delta (\Delta - d) - s$ is most simply expressed in the ambient space formalism, where it is given by [11, 92]:²³

$$K_{\Delta,s}(X,U;P,Z) = \left(U \cdot Z - \frac{U \cdot PZ \cdot X}{P \cdot X}\right)^s \frac{C_{\Delta,s}}{\left(-2P \cdot X\right)^{\Delta}},\tag{3.1}$$

with normalisation

$$C_{\Delta,s} = \frac{\left(\Delta + s - 1\right)\Gamma\left(\Delta\right)}{2\pi^{d/2}\left(\Delta - 1\right)\Gamma\left(\Delta + 1 - \frac{d}{2}\right)}.$$
(3.2)

It is often convenient to express the bulk-to-boundary propagator in the form [14]

$$K_{\Delta,s}(X,U;P,Z) = \frac{1}{(\Delta-1)_s} \left(\mathcal{D}_P(Z;U) \right)^s K_{\Delta,0}(X;P) , \qquad (3.3)$$

with differential operator

$$\mathcal{D}_P(Z;U) = (Z \cdot U) \left(Z \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial Z} - P \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial P} \right) + (P \cdot U) \left(Z \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial P} \right), \qquad (3.4)$$

acting on a scalar bulk-to-boundary propagator (2.2) of the same dimension. This in particular leads to identities that generalise (2.81):

$$(U_{i} \cdot \partial_{X})^{n} K_{\Delta,s}(X, U; P, Z) = \frac{2^{n} \left(\Delta + 1 - \frac{d}{2}\right)_{n}}{(\Delta - 1)_{s}} \left(\mathcal{D}_{P}(Z; U)\right)^{s} \left(U_{i} \cdot P\right)^{n} K_{\Delta + n, 0}(X; P),$$
(3.5)

which are useful to evaluate Witten diagrams with derivative interactions.

²³For ease of notation our definition of mass is based on the wave operator $(\nabla_{\mu}\nabla^{\mu} + m^2)\varphi_{\mu(s)} = 0$ acting on symmetric traceless and transverse filed where ∇ is the AdS covariant derivative. This definition allows to simplify various formulas in the radial reduction. Note that this mass is not zero for gauge fields.

The spectral representation of the bulk-to-bulk propagator takes the form²⁴

$$G_{\Delta,s}(x_1, x_2) = \sum_{\mathbf{p}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\nu \, g_{p_1, p_2, p_3}^{(s)}(\nu) \left(u_1^2\right)^{p_1} \left(u_2^2\right)^{p_2} \\ \times (u_1 \cdot \nabla_1)^{p_3} \left(u_2 \cdot \nabla_2\right)^{p_3 + 2(p_1 - p_2)} \Omega_{\nu, s - 2p_2 - p_3}(x_1, x_2), \qquad (3.7)$$

for some functions $g_{p_1,p_2,p_3}^{(s)}(\nu)$ whose properties we discuss later on. Symmetry in $(x_1, u_1) \leftrightarrow (x_2, u_2)$ imposes: $g_{p_2,p_1,p_3+2(p_1-p_2)}^{(s)}(\nu) = g_{p_1,p_2,p_3}^{(s)}(\nu)$. This way of representing bulk-to-bulk propagators has so far been applied in the literature for totally symmetric massive spin-s fields [11] and spin-s gauge fields [12].²⁵ The totally symmetric spin-J harmonic function $\Omega_{\nu,J}$ is traceless and divergenceless regular bi-tensor, with equation of motion

$$\left(\Box_1 + \left(\frac{d}{2}\right)^2 + \nu^2 + J\right)\Omega_{\nu,J}(x_1; x_2) = 0.$$
(3.8)

Like for the scalar harmonic functions (2.6), they factorise into a product of bulk-toboundary propagators:

$$\Omega_{\nu,J}(x_1;x_2) = \frac{\nu^2}{\pi} \int_{\partial \text{AdS}} dP K_{\frac{d}{2}+i\nu,J}(X_1;P) \cdot K_{\frac{d}{2}-i\nu,J}(X_2;P) \,. \tag{3.9}$$

Combining (3.9) with the representation (3.7) of the bulk-to-bulk propagators, a one-loop bubble diagram $\mathcal{M}_{s;s_1,s_2}^{\text{2pt bubble}}$ with spin-s external fields of mass $m^2 R^2 = \Delta (\Delta - d) - s$ and fields of spins s_1 and s_2 propagating in the loop has a decomposition of the form

$$\mathcal{M}_{s;s_{1},s_{2}}^{\text{2pt bubble}}\left(y_{1},y_{2}\right) = \sum_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}} \frac{1}{\pi^{2}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \nu^{2} d\nu \bar{\nu}^{2} d\bar{\nu} \, g_{p_{1},p_{2},p_{3}}^{(s_{1})}\left(\nu\right) g_{q_{1},q_{2},q_{3}}^{(s_{2})}\left(\bar{\nu}\right) \\ \times \int d^{d}y d^{d}\bar{y} \, \mathcal{M}_{s,s_{1}',s_{2}';\Delta,\frac{d}{2}+i\nu,\frac{d}{2}+i\bar{\nu}}^{\text{3pt tree-level}}\left(y_{1},y,\bar{y}\right) \cdot \mathcal{M}_{s,s_{1}',s_{2}';\Delta,\frac{d}{2}-i\nu,\frac{d}{2}-i\bar{\nu}}^{(s_{2})}\left(y_{2},y,\bar{y}\right), \quad (3.10)$$

in terms tree-level spinning three-point amplitudes $\mathcal{M}_{s,s'_1,s'_2;\Delta,\frac{d}{2}\pm i\nu,\frac{d}{2}\pm i\overline{\nu}}^{\text{3pt tree-level}}$, which generalises the scalar case (2.12) and is illustrated in figure 1a. For concision we introduced: $s'_i = s_i - 2p_{i+1} - p_{i-1}$ where $i \cong i+3$.

For totally symmetric fields, all tree level three-point amplitudes are known for arbitrary cubic coupling constants [14, 15, 59]. The task is then to evaluate the three- and two-point spinning conformal integrals in each term of the decomposition (3.10). We explain how to do this in section 3.2. We first review the evaluation of tree-level three-point Witten diagrams for spinning fields in the following section.

$$\sum_{\mathbf{p}} = \sum_{p_1=0}^{[s/2]} \sum_{p_3=0}^{s-2p_1} \sum_{p_2=0}^{[p_3/2]+p_1} .$$
(3.6)

 $^{^{24}}$ For concision we define:

²⁵For other works on spinning bulk-to-bulk propagators, see [57, 71, 93, 94].

3.1 Review: cubic couplings and 3pt Witten diagrams

For a generic triplet of spinning fields on AdS_{d+1} , the possible couplings respecting the AdS isometry are in general not unique. In the ambient space formalism, a basis of on-shell cubic vertices for totally symmetric fields φ_{s_i} of spins s_i and mass $m_i^2 R^2 = \Delta_i (\Delta_i - d) - s_i$, is given by $[15]^{26}$

$$\mathcal{I}_{s_{1},s_{2},s_{3}}^{n_{1},n_{2},n_{3}} = \sum_{m_{i}} C_{s_{1},s_{2},s_{3};m_{1},m_{2},m_{3}}^{n_{1},n_{2},m_{3}} \mathcal{Y}_{1}^{s_{1}-m_{2}-m_{3}} \mathcal{Y}_{2}^{s_{2}-m_{3}-m_{1}} \mathcal{Y}_{3}^{s_{3}-m_{1}-m_{2}} \mathcal{H}_{1}^{m_{1}} \mathcal{H}_{2}^{m_{2}} \mathcal{H}_{3}^{m_{3}} \times \varphi_{s_{1}} \left(X_{1}, U_{1} \right) \varphi_{s_{2}} \left(X_{2}, U_{2} \right) \varphi_{s_{s}} \left(X_{3}, U_{3} \right) \Big|_{X_{i}=X}, \quad (3.11)$$

with coefficients

$$C_{s_1,s_2,s_3;m_1,m_2,m_3}^{n_1,n_2,n_3} = \left(\frac{d-2(s_1+s_2+s_3-1)-(\tau_1+\tau_2+\tau_3)}{2}\right)_{m_1+m_2+m_3} \times \prod_{i=1}^3 \left[2^{m_i} \binom{n_i}{m_i}(n_i+\delta_{(i+1)(i-1)}-1)_{m_i}\right],$$
(3.12)

and $\delta_{(i-1)(i+1)} = \frac{1}{2}(\tau_{i-1} + \tau_{i+1} - \tau_i), i \cong i+3$. This is built from six basic SO(d+1, 1)covariant contractions (see e.g. [76, 77, 95, 96]):

$$\mathcal{Y}_1 = \partial_{U_1} \cdot \partial_{X_2}, \qquad \qquad \mathcal{Y}_2 = \partial_{U_2} \cdot \partial_{X_3}, \qquad \qquad \mathcal{Y}_3 = \partial_{U_3} \cdot \partial_{X_1}, \qquad (3.13a)$$

$$\mathcal{H}_1 = \partial_{U_2} \cdot \partial_{U_3}, \qquad \qquad \mathcal{H}_2 = \partial_{U_3} \cdot \partial_{U_1}, \qquad \qquad \mathcal{H}_3 = \partial_{U_1} \cdot \partial_{U_2}. \qquad (3.13b)$$

The basis (3.11) is convenient for Witten diagram computations, in particular because the three-point amplitude generated by each basis element is given by simple three-point conformal structure on the boundary [15]:

$$\mathcal{M}_{s_1,s_2,s_3;\tau_1,\tau_2,\tau_3}^{n_1,n_2,n_3}(y_1,y_2,y_3) = \mathsf{B}(s_i;n_i;\tau_i) \left[\left[\mathcal{O}_{\Delta_1,s_1}(y_1) \mathcal{O}_{\Delta_2,s_2}(y_2) \mathcal{O}_{\Delta_3,s_3}(y_3) \right] \right]^{(\mathbf{n})}, \quad (3.14)$$

with²⁷

$$\begin{split} & [[\mathcal{O}_{\Delta_{1},s_{1}}(y_{1})\mathcal{O}_{\Delta_{2},s_{2}}(y_{2})\mathcal{O}_{\Delta_{3},s_{3}}(y_{3})]]^{(\mathbf{n})} \\ & \equiv \frac{\mathsf{H}_{32}^{n_{1}}\mathsf{H}_{13}^{n_{2}}\mathsf{H}_{21}^{n_{3}}}{(y_{12})^{\delta_{12}}(y_{23})^{\delta_{23}}(y_{31})^{\delta_{31}}} \left[\prod_{i=1}^{3} 2^{\frac{\delta_{(i+1)(i-1)}}{2} + n_{i} - 1}\Gamma\left(\frac{\delta_{(i+1)(i-1)}}{2} + n_{i}\right)\right] \\ & \times \left[\prod_{i=1}^{3} \mathsf{q}_{i,(i-1)(i+1)}^{\frac{1-n_{i}}{2} - \frac{\delta_{(i+1)(i-1)}}{4}} J_{(\delta_{(i+1)(i-1)} + 2n_{i} - 2)/2}\left(\sqrt{\mathsf{q}_{(i-1)(i+1)}}\right)\right] \mathsf{Y}_{1,32}^{s_{1} - n_{2} - n_{3}} \mathsf{Y}_{2,13}^{s_{2} - n_{3} - n_{1}} \mathsf{Y}_{3,21}^{s_{3} - n_{1} - n_{2}}, \end{split}$$

²⁶For concision we define: $\sum_{m_i} = \sum_{m_3=0}^{\min\{s_1,s_2,n_3\}} \sum_{m_2=0}^{\min\{s_1-n_3,s_3,n_2\}} \sum_{m_1=0}^{\min\{s_2-n_3,s_3-n_2,n_1\}}.$ ²⁷Recall the six three-point conformally covariant building blocks are given by $(i \cong i+3)$

$$\mathbf{Y}_{i,(i-1)(i+1)} = \frac{z_i \cdot y_{(i-1)i}}{y_{(i-1)i}^2} - \frac{z_i \cdot y_{(i+1)i}}{y_{(i+1)i}^2},\tag{3.15a}$$

$$\mathsf{H}_{(i-1)(i+1)} = \frac{1}{y_{(i-1)(i+1)}^2} \left(z_{i-1} \cdot z_{i+1} + \frac{2z_{i-1} \cdot y_{(i-1)(i+1)} \, z_{i+1} \cdot y_{(i+1)(i-1)}}{y_{(i+1)(i-1)}^2} \right). \tag{3.15b}$$

Note that we adopt a different notation to [15], which can be obtained through the replacements: $Y_{i,(i-1)(i+1)} \rightarrow Y_i, H_{(i-1)(i+1)} \rightarrow H_i, q_{i,(i-1)(i+1)} \rightarrow q_i.$

and we define

$$q_{i,(i-1)(i+1)} = 2H_{(i-1)(i+1)} \partial_{Y_{i+1,i(i-1)}} \cdot \partial_{Y_{i-1,(i+1)i}}.$$
(3.17)

The coefficients $\mathsf{B}(s_i; n_i; \tau_i)$ are given by

$$B(s_{i};n_{i};\tau_{i}) = \pi^{-d}(-2)^{(s_{1}+s_{2}+s_{3})-(n_{1}+n_{2}+n_{3})-4}\Gamma\left(\frac{\tau_{1}+\tau_{2}+\tau_{3}-d+2(s_{1}+s_{2}+s_{3})}{2}\right)$$

$$\times \prod_{i=1}^{3} \frac{\Gamma\left(s_{i}-n_{i+1}+n_{i-1}+\frac{\tau_{i}+\tau_{i+1}-\tau_{i-1}}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(s_{i}+n_{i+1}-n_{i-1}+\frac{\tau_{i}+\tau_{i-1}-\tau_{i+1}}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(2n_{i}+\frac{\tau_{i+1}+\tau_{i-1}-\tau_{i}}{2}\right)}$$

$$\times \prod_{i=1}^{3} \frac{\Gamma(s_{i}+n_{i+1}+n_{i-1}+\tau_{i}-1)}{\Gamma\left(s_{i}+\tau_{i}-\frac{d}{2}+1\right)\Gamma\left(2s_{i}+\tau_{i}-1\right)}.$$
(3.18)

The expression (3.14) for the amplitude is to be compared with the comparably more involved amplitude [59] generated by the canonical basis of cubic couplings given by monomials in $\mathcal{Y}_{i,(i-1)(i+1)}$ and $\mathcal{H}_{(i-1)(i+1)}$.

Employing the basis (3.11) of cubic couplings and bulk-to-bulk propagators (3.7), the spectral decomposition of spinning bubble diagrams (3.10) will contain terms of the generic form

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\nu d\bar{\nu} \, \nu^2 \bar{\nu}^2 g_{p_1, p_2, p_3}^{(s_1)}\left(\nu\right) g_{q_1, q_2, q_3}^{(s_2)}\left(\bar{\nu}\right) F_{s, s_1', s_2'; \tau_s}^{\mathbf{n}, \mathbf{m}}\left(\nu, \bar{\nu}; y_1, y_2\right),\tag{3.19}$$

where,

$$F_{s,s_{1}',s_{2}';\tau_{s}}^{\mathbf{n},\mathbf{m}}\left(\nu,\bar{\nu};y_{1},y_{2}\right)$$

$$\propto \int_{\partial \mathrm{AdS}} d^{d}y d^{d}\bar{y} \,\mathcal{M}_{s,s_{1},s_{2};\tau_{s},\frac{d}{2}+i\nu-s_{1},\frac{d}{2}+i\bar{\nu}-s_{2}}^{n_{1},n_{2},n_{3}}\left(y_{1},y,\bar{y}\right) \cdot \mathcal{M}_{s,s_{1},s_{2};\tau_{s},\frac{d}{2}+i\nu-s_{1},\frac{d}{2}+i\bar{\nu}-s_{2}}^{m_{1},n_{2},n_{3}}\left(y_{1},y,\bar{y}\right) \cdot \mathcal{M}_{s,s_{1},s_{2};\tau_{s},\frac{d}{2}+i\nu-s_{1},\frac{d}{2}+i\bar{\nu}-s_{2}}^{m_{1},n_{2},n_{3}}^{m_{1},n_{2},n_{3}}^{m_{1},n_{2},n_{3}}\left(y_{1},y,\bar{y}\right) \cdot \mathcal{M}_{s,s_{1},s_{2};\tau_{s},\frac{d}{2}+i\nu-s_{1},\frac{d}{2}+i\bar{\nu}-s_{2}}^{m_{1},n_{2},n_{3}}^{m_{1},n_{2},n_{3}}\left(y_{1},y,\bar{y}\right) \cdot \mathcal{M}_{s,s_{1},s_{2};\tau_{s},\frac{d}{2}+i\bar{\nu}-s_{2}}^{m_{1},n_{2},n_{3}}^{m_{1},n_{3}}^{m_$$

Inserting in (3.20) the explicit expressions (3.14) for the three-point amplitudes, we see that a key step is then to evaluate conformal integrals of the type:

$$\mathfrak{K}^{(\mathbf{n},\mathbf{m})}(\nu,\bar{\nu}\,;y_1,y_2) = \int d^d y d^d \bar{y} \left[\left[\mathcal{O}_{\Delta,s}(y_1,z_1) \mathcal{O}_{\frac{d}{2}+i\nu,s_1}(y,\hat{\partial}_z) \mathcal{O}_{\frac{d}{2}+i\bar{\nu},s_2}(\bar{y},\hat{\partial}_{\bar{z}}) \right] \right]^{(\mathbf{n})} \\ \times \left[\left[\mathcal{O}_{\frac{d}{2}-i\bar{\nu},s_2}(\bar{y},\bar{z}) \mathcal{O}_{\frac{d}{2}-i\nu,s_1}(y,z) \mathcal{O}_{\Delta,s}(y_2,z_2) \right] \right]^{(\mathbf{m})}, \quad (3.21)$$

which we discuss in the following.

3.2 Conformal integrals

As explained in the previous section, by employing the basis (3.11) of on-shell cubic vertices, the task of computing one-loop bubble diagrams is reduced to evaluating conformal integrals of the form

$$\Re_{s;s_{1},s_{2}}^{(\mathbf{n},\mathbf{m})}(\nu,\bar{\nu}\,;y_{1},y_{2}) = \int d^{d}y d^{d}\bar{y} \left[\left[\mathcal{O}_{\Delta,s}(y_{1},z_{1})\mathcal{O}_{\frac{d}{2}+i\nu,s_{1}}(y,\hat{\partial}_{z})\mathcal{O}_{\frac{d}{2}+i\bar{\nu},s_{2}}(\bar{y},\hat{\partial}_{\bar{z}}) \right] \right]^{(\mathbf{n})} \times \left[\left[\mathcal{O}_{\frac{d}{2}-i\bar{\nu},s_{2}}(\bar{y},\bar{z})\mathcal{O}_{\frac{d}{2}-i\nu,s_{1}}(y,z)\mathcal{O}_{\Delta,s}(y_{2},z_{2}) \right] \right]^{(\mathbf{m})}, \quad (3.22)$$

for external fields of spin s and mass $m^2 R^2 = \Delta (\Delta - d) - s$, and internal spins s_1 and s_2 .

The integral (3.22) can be expanded in terms of the basic conformal integrals:

$$\Im_{\alpha_{1},\alpha_{2},\gamma,\beta_{1},\beta_{2}}^{a_{1},a_{2},b_{1},b_{2}} \equiv \int d^{d}y d^{d}\bar{y} \frac{(z_{1} \cdot (y_{1}-y))^{a_{1}}(z_{2} \cdot (y_{2}-y))^{a_{2}}(z_{1} \cdot (y_{1}-\bar{y}))^{b_{1}}(z_{2} \cdot (y_{2}-\bar{y}))^{b_{2}}}{\left[(y_{1}-y)^{2}\right]^{\alpha_{1}}\left[(y_{2}-y)^{2}\right]^{\alpha_{2}}\left[(y-\bar{y})^{2}\right]^{\gamma}\left[(y_{1}-\bar{y})^{2}\right]^{\beta_{1}}\left[(y_{2}-\bar{y})^{2}\right]^{\beta_{2}}},$$
(3.23)

where conformal invariance requires:

$$\alpha_1 - a_1 + \alpha_2 - a_2 + \gamma = d, \qquad \beta_1 - b_1 + \beta_2 - b_2 + \gamma = d.$$
(3.24)

This decomposition of (3.22) is shown in section A.6. Direct evaluation of (3.23) gives:²⁸

$$\begin{split} \Im_{\alpha_{1},\alpha_{2},\gamma,\beta_{1},\beta_{2}}^{a_{1},a_{2},b_{1},b_{2}} &= \frac{\pi^{d/2}}{(y_{12}^{2})^{d/2-\gamma}} \sum_{n=0}^{a_{1}} \sum_{m=0}^{a_{2}} \binom{a_{1}}{n} \binom{a_{2}}{m} \binom{z_{1} \cdot y_{12}}{y_{12}^{2}}^{a_{1}-n} \left(\frac{z_{2} \cdot y_{21}}{y_{12}^{2}}\right)^{a_{2}-m} \\ &\times \frac{\Gamma(\alpha_{1}+\gamma-a_{1}+n-\frac{d}{2})\Gamma(\alpha_{2}+\gamma-a_{2}+m-\frac{d}{2})\Gamma(\frac{d}{2}-\gamma+a_{1}+a_{2}-n-m)}{\Gamma(\alpha_{1})\Gamma(\alpha_{2})\Gamma(\gamma)} \\ &\times \frac{\Gamma(\beta_{1}+\alpha_{1}+\gamma-a_{1}-b_{1}-\frac{d}{2})\Gamma(\beta_{2}+\alpha_{2}+\gamma-a_{2}-b_{2}-\frac{d}{2})}{\Gamma(\beta_{1}+\alpha_{1}+\gamma-a_{1}+n-\frac{d}{2})\Gamma(\beta_{2}+\alpha_{2}+\gamma-a_{2}+m-\frac{d}{2})} \\ &\times \left(-\frac{1}{2}z_{1}\cdot\partial_{y_{1}}\right)^{n+b_{1}} \left(-\frac{1}{2}z_{2}\cdot\partial_{y_{2}}\right)^{m+b_{2}} \mathcal{M}^{1-\mathrm{loop}}\left(y_{1},y_{2}\right). \end{split}$$

Using conformal symmetry to recover the full CFT structure and evaluating the derivatives in y_1 and y_2 , we arrive to the following expression for the log term:

$$\begin{aligned} \Im_{\alpha_{1},\alpha_{2},\gamma,\beta_{1},\beta_{2}}^{a_{1},a_{2},b_{1},b_{2}}\Big|_{\log} &= \frac{2\pi^{d}}{(y_{12})^{d-\gamma}} \left(\frac{z_{1} \cdot y_{12}}{y_{12}^{2}}\right)^{a_{1}+b_{1}} \left(\frac{z_{2} \cdot y_{12}}{y_{12}^{2}}\right)^{a_{2}+b_{2}} \log(y_{12}^{2}) \sum_{n=0}^{a_{1}} \sum_{m=0}^{a_{2}} \binom{a_{1}}{n} \binom{a_{2}}{m} \\ &\times \frac{\Gamma\left(-a_{1}+n+\alpha_{1}+\gamma-\frac{d}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(-a_{2}+m+\alpha_{2}+\gamma-\frac{d}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(\alpha_{1})\Gamma(\alpha_{2})\Gamma(\gamma)\Gamma\left(b_{1}+\frac{d}{2}+n\right)\Gamma\left(b_{2}+\frac{d}{2}+m\right)} \\ &\times \frac{\Gamma\left(b_{1}+b_{2}+\frac{d}{2}+m+n\right)\Gamma\left(a_{1}+a_{2}+\frac{d}{2}-m-n-\gamma\right)}{\Gamma(\alpha_{1})\Gamma(\alpha_{2})\Gamma(\gamma)\Gamma\left(b_{1}+\frac{d}{2}+n\right)\Gamma\left(b_{2}+\frac{d}{2}+m\right)}. \end{aligned}$$
(3.25)

One can then combine this result with the expansion of (3.22) in terms of the basic conformal integrals (3.23) derived in section A.6 to obtain the log contribution to $\mathfrak{K}_{s;s_1,s_2}^{(\mathbf{n},\mathbf{m})}$.

3.3 s - (s' 0) - s bubble

Let us now use this approach to extract the log contribution to bubble diagrams with a spin s' gauge field and a scalar field propagating internally between two external spin-s gauge fields, illustrated in figure 7. Owing to the scalar propagating in the loop, in this case there is no contribution from ghosts. Ghosts will be required only when gauge fields are propagating in the loop, as we do in section 3.4 where tadpole diagrams with spin-s gauge fields in the loop are considered.

²⁸Without loss of generality we set $z_1 \cdot z_2 = 0$, since terms proportional to $z_1 \cdot z_2$ can be recovered by conformal symmetry.



Figure 7. One-loop bubble diagram with a gauge spin-s field and a scalar propagating internally between two external gauge fields of spin s. Throughout we represent gauge fields with wavy lines.

In this subsection, we restrict ourselves to the contributions generated by the traceless and transverse part of the bulk-to-bulk propagators, which in the spectral representation (3.7) corresponds to the term with $p_1 = p_2 = p_3 = 0$. This is the universal part of the propagator, which encodes the exchanged single-particle state. The spectral representation of the traceless and transverse part of a spin-s bulk-to-bulk propagator for a field of mass $m^2R^2 = \Delta (\Delta - d) - s$ is given by:

$$G_{\Delta,s}^{TT}(x_1; x_2) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\nu \, g_{0,0,0}^{(s)}(\nu) \, \Omega_{\nu,s}(x_1; x_2) \,, \qquad (3.26a)$$

$$g_{0,0,0}^{(s)}(\nu) = \frac{1}{\left[\nu^2 + \left(\Delta - \frac{d}{2}\right)^2\right]}.$$
(3.26b)

The notation TT signifies the restriction to the traceless and transverse part. The other terms in the propagators (i.e. terms in (3.7) with at least one $p_i > 0$) generate purely contact contributions to Witten diagrams, which in contrast are not universal and are dependent on the choice of field frame. In particular, contact contributions collapse in the bubble to Ω -type tadpole diagrams. This can be understood by noting that these contact contributions are related to Ω one-loop diagrams generated by quartic couplings under field re-definitions. In section 4.1, and also section D, in some examples we shall compute bubble diagrams using the full bulk-to-bulk propagators which includes such contact terms.

The cubic vertex for spin-s, s' gauge fields with a scalar is given in de Donder gauge by (D.4), whose TT part reads:

$$\mathcal{V}_{s,s',0}^{(3)} = g \mathcal{Y}_1^s \mathcal{Y}_2^{s'} \varphi_s \left(X_1, U_1 \right) \varphi_{s'} \left(X_2, U_2 \right) \phi \left(X_3 \right) \Big|_{X_i = X}, \tag{3.27}$$

for some coupling constant g. Recall that there are no contributions from Ghost vertices in this case owing to the scalar propagating in the loop. Via the factorisation (3.9), the bubble diagram generated by (3.27) decomposes as

$$\mathcal{M}^{\text{2pt bubble}}\left(P_{1}, P_{2}\right) = g^{2} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\nu^{2} \bar{\nu}^{2} d\nu d\bar{\nu}}{\pi^{2} [\nu^{2} + (\Delta_{s'} - \frac{d}{2})^{2}] [\bar{\nu}^{2} + (\Delta - \frac{d}{2})^{2}]} F^{\mathbf{0},\mathbf{0}}_{s,s',0;\tau_{s}}\left(\nu,\bar{\nu}; P_{1}, P_{2}\right),$$
(3.28)

where $F_{s,s',0;\tau_s}^{\mathbf{0},\mathbf{0}}$ is the product of tree-level three-point amplitudes (3.20). Plugging in the explicit expressions (3.14) for the latter, one obtains

$$\mathcal{M}^{\text{2pt bubble}}(P_1, P_2) = g^2 \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\nu^2 \bar{\nu}^2 d\nu d\bar{\nu}}{\pi^2 [\nu^2 + (\Delta_{s'} - \frac{d}{2})^2] [\bar{\nu}^2 + (\Delta - \frac{d}{2})^2]} \\ \times \mathsf{B}\left(s, s', 0; 0; \Delta_s - s, \frac{d}{2} + i\nu - s', \frac{d}{2} + i\bar{\nu}\right) \mathsf{B}\left(s, s', 0; 0; \Delta_s - s, \frac{d}{2} - i\nu - s', \frac{d}{2} - i\bar{\nu}\right) \\ \times \mathfrak{K}^{(0,0)}_{s;s',0}(\nu, \bar{\nu}; y_1, y_2), \tag{3.29}$$

where $\Re_{s;s',0}^{(0,0)}$ is the conformal integral (3.2), with log contribution (see section 3.2) whose explicit evaluation yields the remarkably simple result:

$$\begin{aligned} \Re_{s;s',0}^{(0,0)}(\nu,\bar{\nu};y_1,y_2)\Big|_{\log(y_{12}^2)} &= \frac{\pi^{d+\frac{1}{2}}2^{-d-s'+6}s!\Gamma(d+s'-2)\Gamma(d+2s-4)}{(d+2s-2)\Gamma\left(\frac{d-1}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}+s'-1\right)\Gamma(d+s-3)} \\ &\times \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{s'+2+i(\nu-\bar{\nu})}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{s'+2-i(\nu-\bar{\nu})}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{-d+s'-2s+4+i(\nu-\bar{\nu})}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{-d+s'-2s+4-i(\nu+\bar{\nu})}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d+s'-2+i(\nu-\bar{\nu})}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{-d+s'+4+i(\nu-\bar{\nu})}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{-d+s'-2-i(\nu-\bar{\nu})}{2}\right)} \\ &\times \frac{\log(y_{12}^2)}{(y_{12}^2)^{d-2}}\left(\frac{\mathsf{H}_{21}}{2}\right)^s. \end{aligned}$$
(3.30)

Recall that in this section we take $\Delta_s = s + d - 2$ for a spin-s gauge field, which is substituted in (3.30) above.

Putting everything together gives the following spectral representation of the contribution to the anomalous dimension of a spin-s higher-spin current on the boundary:

$$\gamma_{TT} = -g_{s,0,s'}^2 \frac{\pi^{-\frac{7+d}{2}} s! 2^{-d+s'+s-2} \Gamma(d+s'-2)}{(d+2s-4) \Gamma\left(\frac{d-1}{2}\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}+s'-1\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}+s\right) \Gamma(d+2s-2)} \times \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\nu d\bar{\nu} \, \mathcal{F}_{TT}^{\text{2pt bubble}}\left(\nu,\bar{\nu}\right),$$
(3.31)

and

$$\mathcal{F}_{TT}^{\text{2pt bubble}}(\nu,\bar{\nu}) = \frac{\nu\bar{\nu}\sinh(\pi\nu)\sinh(\pi\bar{\nu})}{\left[\nu^{2} + \left(\Delta_{s} - \frac{d}{2}\right)^{2}\right] \left[\bar{\nu}^{2} + \left(\Delta - \frac{d}{2}\right)^{2}\right]} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2} - i\nu - 1\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2} + i\nu - 1\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2} + s' + i\nu - 1\right)} \\ \times \Gamma\left(\frac{d + s' + 2s - 2 + i(\nu - \bar{\nu})}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{d + s' + 2s - 2 - i(\nu - \bar{\nu})}{2}\right) \\ \times \Gamma\left(\frac{d + s' + 2s - 2 - i(\nu + \bar{\nu})}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{d + s' + 2s - 2 + i(\nu + \bar{\nu})}{2}\right)$$
(3.32)
$$\times \Gamma\left(\frac{s' + 2 + i(\nu - \bar{\nu})}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{s' + 2 - i(\nu - \bar{\nu})}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{s' + 2 - i(\nu - \bar{\nu})}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{s' + 2 - i(\nu + \bar{\nu})}{2}\right).$$

A consistency check is the recovery of the spectral function (2.14) from (3.32) for the bubble in ϕ^3 theory when one sets s = s' = 0, and $\Delta_1 = \Delta_2 = d - 2$ in (2.14).
Pole structure. It is also interesting to study the pole structure of the spectral function (3.32). At fixed $\bar{\nu}$, apart from the single poles at $\nu = \pm i(\Delta_s - \frac{d}{2})$, which is usually uplifted to a branch cut in ζ -function regularisation, the above displays 8 series of poles one for each gamma functions factor in the numerator — labelled by non-negative integers:

$$\pm i\nu = \pm i\bar{\nu} + d + s' + 2s - 2 + 2n, \qquad \pm i\nu = \pm i\bar{\nu} + s' + 2 + 2n, \qquad (3.33)$$

for all possible uncorrelated permutations of the \pm . On top of the above poles (3.33), we also have a finite number of additional (spurious) poles at:

$$\pm i\nu = 1 - \frac{d}{2} - n, \qquad \pm i\nu - 1 + \frac{d}{2} + s' > 0, \qquad (3.34)$$

coming from the Γ -function factor on the first line of (3.32), which arise for s' > n and are absent for s' = 0. Their effect is compensated by the contact contributions in the bulk-to-bulk propagator, see e.g. [97, 98]. Upon introducing regulators μ and $\bar{\mu}$ one can perform the above integral with Mellin-Barnes techniques defining:

$$H(\mu,\bar{\mu}) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\nu \, d\bar{\nu} \, \mathcal{F}_{TT}^{\text{2pt bubble}}\left(\nu,\bar{\nu}\right) \, \mu^{i\nu}\bar{\mu}^{i\bar{\nu}} \,, \qquad (3.35)$$

. .

which is analytic in μ and $\bar{\mu}$ for an appropriate domain in the complex μ and $\bar{\mu}$ plane. As mentioned in the introduction, the above function defines a generalised hypergeometric function whose analyticity properties regulate the spectral integral. After closing the contour in the appropriate domain and performing the ν integration, one is left with a function of $\bar{\nu}$ with a pole at $\bar{\nu} = \pm i(\Delta - \frac{d}{2})$ and some leftover single poles which can be obtained from (3.33) upon substituting the location of the ν pole. For instance, when sitting on the pole $\nu = \pm i(\Delta_s - \frac{d}{2})$ the corresponding $\bar{\nu}$ poles are located at:

$$\pm i\bar{\nu} = \pm \left(\Delta_s - \frac{d}{2}\right) + d + s' + 2s - 2 + 2n, \qquad \pm i\bar{\nu} = \pm \left(\Delta_s - \frac{d}{2}\right) + s' + 2 + 2n. \quad (3.36)$$

It should also be noted that for integer values of ν and $\bar{\nu}$ the sinh has zeros which cancel possible poles at these location.

A relatively simple and interesting case is d = 3, which is relevant for higher-spin gauge theories on AdS₄. In this case the structure of the spectral function drastically simplifies:

$$\mathcal{F}_{TT}^{\text{2pt bubble}}(\nu,\bar{\nu}) = \frac{\pi\nu\,\pi\bar{\nu}\,\sinh(\pi\nu)\,\sinh(\pi\bar{\nu})}{\left[\nu^2 + \left(\Delta_s - \frac{3}{2}\right)^2\right] \left[\bar{\nu}^2 + \left(\Delta - \frac{3}{2}\right)^2\right]} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{3}{2} - i\nu - 1\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{3}{2} + i\nu - 1\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{3}{2} + s' + i\nu - 1\right)} \times P(\nu - \bar{\nu})P(\nu + \bar{\nu})\frac{\pi(\nu + \bar{\nu})\,\pi(\nu - \bar{\nu})}{\sinh[\pi(\nu + \bar{\nu})]\sinh[\pi(\nu - \bar{\nu})]},$$
(3.37)

in terms of a polynomial function P which depends only on the internal and external spins s and s':

$$P(\alpha) = \left[\prod_{i=0}^{s-1} \left[\left(\frac{s'+1}{2} + i\right)^2 + \left(\frac{\alpha}{2}\right)^2 \right] \right] \left[\prod_{j=1}^{s'} \left[\left(\frac{j}{2}\right)^2 + \left(\frac{\alpha}{2}\right)^2 \right] \right].$$
 (3.38)





(a) One-point tadpole with off-shell scalar exter- (b) One-point tadpole with off-shell external nal leg and spin-s gauge field propagating in the spin-s gauge field and a scalar propagating in loop.

the loop.

Figure 8. One-point tadpole diagrams involving a spin-s field and a scalar field.

Apart from the spurious poles coming from the Γ -function factors on the first line of (3.37), one can see that all physical poles are resummed into the simple factor:

$$\frac{\pi(\nu+\bar{\nu})\,\pi(\nu-\bar{\nu})}{\sinh[\pi(\nu+\bar{\nu})]\sinh[\pi(\nu-\bar{\nu})]}\,,\tag{3.39}$$

dressed by a polynomial factor at fixed s and s'.

One-point bulk tadpoles $\mathbf{3.4}$

Let us also discuss the contribution from tadpole diagrams generated by the coupling (3.27), with a single bulk external leg. There are two cases, which are depicted in figure 8. As in the preceding section, we focus on the contributions generated by the traceless and transverse part of the bulk-to-bulk propagators. Like for the scalar one-point tadpole diagrams considered in section 2.4, we can argue that they give vanishing contributions.

We first consider the case of a scalar external leg and a spin-s field propagating in the loop, displayed in figure 8 (a). In this case, there is in principle a contribution from ghost fields whose cubic vertex is given by the second term in (3.42) below, in de Donder gauge.

The corresponding generalisation of the tadpole factor (2.97) connected to the boundary associated to a 0-s-s vertex in type A theory is, for both physical and ghost fields:

$$\mathcal{T}_{s}(\bar{P}) = -g_{s,s,0} \frac{C_{\bar{\Delta},0}}{\pi} q_{s}(\bar{\Delta}) \left[\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\nu \frac{\nu^{2}}{\nu^{2} + (\Delta - \frac{d}{2})^{2}} C_{\frac{d}{2} - i\nu,s} C_{\frac{d}{2} + i\nu,s}}{\int_{f_{s}(\nu)} \int_{f_{s}(\nu)} dP \, dX \, \frac{(-2P \cdot \bar{P})^{s}}{(-2P \cdot X)^{d+s}(-2\bar{P} \cdot X)^{\bar{\Delta}+s}},$$
(3.40)

with

$$q_s(\bar{\Delta}) = (-2)^s \frac{(d+2s-2)(d+s-3)!}{(d-2)!} \frac{\Gamma(s+\bar{\Delta})}{\Gamma(\bar{\Delta})}.$$
(3.41)

The latter result holds for both ghost and physical vertex [39] (see also section D) which read in this case:

$$\mathcal{V} = g_{0,s,s} \left[\mathcal{Y}_1^s \mathcal{Y}_2^s \varphi_1 \varphi_2 \phi_3 + s(d-4+2s) \, \mathcal{Y}_1^{s-1} \mathcal{Y}_2^{s-1} \bar{c}_1 c_2 \phi_3 \right] \,, \tag{3.42}$$

and which are both polynomials in the \mathcal{Y}_i structures. The coupling constant $g_{0,s,s}$ for the type A theory reads:

$$g_{0,s,s} = \frac{\pi^{\frac{d-3}{4}} 2^{\frac{3d}{2}+s-\frac{1}{2}} \sqrt{\Gamma\left(\frac{d-1}{2}\right)} \Gamma\left(\frac{d-1}{2}+s\right)}{s! \Gamma(d+2s-3)},$$
(3.43)

The UV divergent spectral integral in ν coming from the spin-s bulk-to-bulk propagator is completely factorised from the bulk and boundary integral, and the integrand reads more explicitly:

$$f_s(\nu) = \frac{\nu^2}{4\pi^d} \frac{\nu^2 + (s + \frac{d}{2} - 1)^2}{\nu^2 + (\Delta - \frac{d}{2})^2} \Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2} - 1 - i\nu\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2} - 1 + i\nu\right) \frac{\sinh \pi\nu}{\pi\nu}, \qquad (3.44)$$

where for a spin-s gauge field one chooses $\Delta^{\text{ph.}} = d - 2 + s$ and for spin s - 1 ghosts one chooses $\Delta^{\text{gh.}} = d - 1 + s$. We have also introduced the function $q_s(\bar{\Delta})$ which encodes the result of vertex contractions in terms of the dimension $\bar{\Delta} = \frac{d}{2} - i\bar{\nu}$ of the external leg to the tadpole. In d = 3 the latter simplifies to

$$f_s(\nu) = \frac{1}{4\pi^3} \frac{4\nu^2 + (2s+1)^2}{4\nu^2 + (2\Delta - 3)^2} \nu \tanh \pi \nu, \qquad (3.45)$$

which can be regularised via ζ -function regularisation after splitting it into two pieces as:

$$\frac{1}{4\pi^3} \int \nu \frac{[4\nu^2 + (2s+1)^2]}{[4\nu^2 + (2\Delta - 3)^2]^{1+\mu}} - \frac{1}{4\pi^3} \int \frac{4\nu^2 + (2s+1)^2}{4\nu^2 + (2\Delta - 3)^2} \frac{2\nu}{1 + e^{2\pi\nu}}, \quad (3.46)$$

with the second integral convergent. The above integrals, being of the general type (2.91), can also be explicitly evaluated via (2.93).

Using the expression (2.98) for a generic two-point bulk integral, in this case we have (for $s > 0^{29}$):

$$\mathcal{I}_s = 2\pi^{d/2+1} \frac{\Gamma(\frac{d}{2}+s)}{\Gamma(d+s)} A \,\delta(d-\bar{\Delta}). \tag{3.47}$$

and combining all the ingredients we can then write down the following expression for the tadpole:

$$\mathcal{T}_{s}^{\text{ph.}} = -\frac{2^{\frac{d+5}{2}}\pi^{\frac{3(d+1)}{4}}(-1)^{s}(d+2s-3)(d+2s-2)^{2}\sqrt{\Gamma\left(\frac{d-1}{2}\right)}}{(d+s-2)(d+s-1)\Gamma(d-1)s!}\frac{\Gamma(s+\bar{\Delta})}{\Gamma(\bar{\Delta})} \times \left(\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\nu f_{s}^{\text{ph.}}(\nu)\right) C_{\bar{\Delta},0} A \,\delta(\bar{\Delta}-d) \,,$$
(3.48)

²⁹In the s > 0 case the second term in eq. (2.98) is proportional to $\int dx^d (x^2)^s \delta(x) = 0$ and therefore vanishes identically.

for physical fields together with

$$\mathcal{T}_{s}^{\text{gh.}} = -\frac{2^{\frac{d+5}{2}}\pi^{\frac{3(d+1)}{4}}(-1)^{s}(d+2s-4)^{2}(d+2s-3)\sqrt{\Gamma\left(\frac{d-1}{2}\right)}}{(d+s-3)(d+s-2)\Gamma(d-1)(s-1)!}\frac{\Gamma(s+\bar{\Delta}-1)}{\Gamma(\bar{\Delta})} \times \left(\int_{-\infty}^{\infty}d\nu f_{s-1}^{\text{gh.}}(\nu)\right)C_{\bar{\Delta},0}A\,\delta(\bar{\Delta}-d),$$
(3.49)

for the ghost contribution. We recall that the constant A is given by $A = \int d^d x \frac{1}{(x^2)^d}$ and vanishes in our modified dimensional regularisation scheme (see section A.2). Still, the above UV divergent coefficient can be straightforwardly evaluated using the methods of section (2.93). Like for the scalar case presented in section 2.4, noticing also that $\bar{\Delta} = \frac{d}{2} - i\bar{\nu}$ with $\bar{\nu}$ restricted to real values, this contribution is vanishing.³⁰

To summarise, regulating the AdS IR divergences automatically recover the vanishing of the tadpole. The UV divergence is instead controlled by a factorised spectral integral which depends explicitly on $\bar{\Delta}$.

Let us now consider the diagram in figure 8 (b), with a spin-s external leg and scalar propagating in the loop. In this case there is no contribution from ghosts. The diagram is given by:

$$\mathfrak{T}^{\text{1pt tadpole}}(X_1; U_1) = -g_{s,0,0} \int_{\text{AdS}} dX \, (\partial_{U_2} \cdot \partial_{X_2}) \mathcal{G}_{d-2,0}(X, X_2) \Big|_{X_2 = X} \mathcal{G}_{d-2,s}(X_1, U_1; X, U_2).$$
(3.50)

Focusing on the traceless and transverse part of the spin-s bulk-to-bulk propagator, this factorises as

$$\mathfrak{T}^{\text{1pt tadpole}}(X_{1};U_{1})\Big|_{TT} = -g_{s,0,0} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\bar{\nu}^{2} d\bar{\nu}}{\pi \left[\bar{\nu}^{2} + \left(s + \frac{d}{2} - 2\right)^{2}\right]} \int_{\partial \text{AdS}} d\bar{P} K_{\frac{d}{2} + i\bar{\nu},s}\left(X_{1}, U_{1}; \bar{P}, \hat{\partial}_{Z}\right) \\ \times \int_{\text{AdS}} dX \left(\partial_{U_{2}} \cdot \partial_{X_{2}}\right)^{s} G_{d-2,0}\left(X, X_{2}\right)\Big|_{X_{2} = X} K_{\frac{d}{2} - i\bar{\nu},s}\left(X, U_{2}; \bar{P}, Z\right).$$
(3.51)

Using the identity (2.82) for derivatives of bulk-to-bulk propagators at coincident points and (3.3) for spinning bulk-to-boundary propagators, the tadpole factor in the second line gives:

$$\int_{\text{AdS}} dX \, \left(\partial_{U_2} \cdot \partial_{X_2}\right)^s G_{d-2,0} \left(X, X_2\right) \Big|_{X_2 = X} K_{\frac{d}{2} - i\bar{\nu}, s} \left(X, U_2; \bar{P}, Z\right) \\
= \frac{2^s C_{\frac{d}{2} - i\bar{\nu}, 0}}{\left(\frac{d}{2} - i\bar{\nu} - 1\right)_s} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{C_{\frac{d}{2} + i\nu, 0} C_{\frac{d}{2} - i\nu + s, 0} \nu^2 d\nu}{\pi \left[\nu^2 + \left(\frac{d}{2} - 2\right)^2\right]} \left(-i\nu + \frac{d}{2}\right)_s \\
\times \int_{\partial \text{AdS}} dP \, \left(\mathcal{D}_{\bar{P}} \left(Z; P\right)\right)^s \int_{\text{AdS}} dX \, \frac{1}{\left(-2X \cdot P\right)^{d+s}} \frac{1}{\left(-2X \cdot \bar{P}\right)^{\frac{d}{2} - i\bar{\nu}}}. \quad (3.52)$$

In the same way as for the diagram (a), we can argue that in dimensional regularisation

$$\mathfrak{T}^{\text{1pt tadpole}}\left(X_1; U_1\right)\Big|_{TT} \equiv 0.$$
(3.53)

³⁰Also the scalar cut vanishes for analogous reasons, since the corresponding real dimension for the conformally coupled scalar is also outside the domain in which the δ -function is concentrated.

Considering other regularisations one can still argue that the latter vanishes using (2.98):

$$\int_{\text{AdS}} dX \, \frac{1}{(-2X \cdot P)^{d+s}} \frac{1}{(-2X \cdot \bar{P})^{\frac{d}{2} - i\bar{\nu}}} = 2\pi^{d/2+1} \frac{\Gamma(\frac{d}{2} + s)}{\Gamma(d+s)} \frac{1}{(-2P \cdot \bar{P})^{d+s}} \delta\left(\frac{d}{2} + i\bar{\nu} + s\right) + 2\pi^{d+1} \frac{\Gamma(-\frac{d}{2} - s)\Gamma(i\bar{\nu})}{\Gamma(d+s)\Gamma(\frac{d}{2} - i\bar{\nu})} \delta^{(d)}(P, \bar{P}) \,\delta\left(s + \frac{d}{2} - i\bar{\nu}\right), \quad (3.54)$$

and the fact that $\bar{\nu}$ is restricted to real values when considering a bulk to bulk propagator attached to a point in AdS.

4 Applications

4.1 Graviton bubble

In this section we consider the bubble diagram generated by the minimal coupling of scalar fields to gravity. In this case we shall use the full graviton propagator, which in de-Donder gauge reads [39]:³¹

$$G_{d,2}(x_1, x_2) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{d\nu}{\nu^2 + \left(\frac{d}{2}\right)^2} \Omega_{\nu,2}(x_1, x_2) - \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\nu \, u_1^2 u_2^2 \frac{1}{d(d-1)\left[\nu^2 + \left(\frac{d}{2}+1\right)^2\right]} \Omega_{\nu,0}(x_1, x_2) + \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\nu \frac{1}{d\left[\nu^2 + \left(\frac{d}{2}+1\right)^2\right]\left[\nu^2 + \frac{d}{2}\left(\frac{d}{2}+4\right)\right]} \left[u_1^2 (u_2 \cdot \nabla_2)^2 + u_2^2 (u_1 \cdot \nabla_1)^2\right] \Omega_{\nu,0}(x_1, x_2) - \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\nu \frac{(d-1)}{d\left[\nu^2 + \left(\frac{d}{2}+1\right)^2\right]\left[\nu^2 + \frac{d}{2}\left(\frac{d}{2}+4\right)\right]^2} (u_1 \cdot \nabla_1)^2 (u_2 \cdot \nabla_2)^2 \Omega_{\nu,0}(x_1, x_2).$$
(4.3)

The cubic coupling of scalars ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 to gravity is given in de Donder gauge by [15]

$$\mathcal{V}_{2,0,0}^{(3)}(X) = g \mathcal{Y}_3^2 \phi_1(X_1) \phi_2(X_2) \varphi_3(X_3, U_3) + g \frac{1}{2} (d-2) \phi_1(X_1) \phi_2(X_2) \varphi_3'(X_3) \Big|_{X_i = X} .$$
(4.4)

In the following we compute the bubble diagram with ϕ_1 on the external legs. This is given by the four terms,

$$\mathcal{M}^{\text{2pt-bubble}} = \mathcal{M}_{1,0;1,0}^{\text{2pt-bubble}} + \frac{1}{2} (d-2) \mathcal{M}_{1,0;0,1}^{\text{2pt-bubble}} + \frac{1}{2} (d-2) \mathcal{M}_{0,1;1,0}^{\text{2pt-bubble}} + \frac{1}{4} (d-2)^2 \mathcal{M}_{0,1;0,1}^{\text{2pt-bubble}},$$
(4.5)

³¹In terms of the decomposition (3.7), we have

$$g_{1,1,0}^{(2)}(\nu) = -\frac{1}{d(d-1)\left[\nu^2 + \left(\frac{d}{2}+1\right)^2\right]}, \qquad \qquad g_{1,0,0}^{(2)}(\nu) = \frac{1}{d\left[\nu^2 + \left(\frac{d}{2}+1\right)^2\right]\left[\nu^2 + \frac{d}{2}\left(\frac{d}{2}+4\right)\right]}, \quad (4.1)$$

$$g_{0,0,2}^{(2)}(\nu) = -\frac{(d-1)}{d\left[\nu^2 + \left(\frac{d}{2} + 1\right)^2\right] \left[\nu^2 + \frac{d}{2}\left(\frac{d}{2} + 4\right)\right]^2}, \quad g_{0,0,1}^{(2)}(\nu) = 0,$$

$$(4.2)$$

and the traceless and transverse part, which is the same in any gauge, is: $g_{0,0,0}^{(2)}(\nu) = \frac{1}{\left[\nu^2 + \left(\frac{d}{2}\right)^2\right]}$.

where we defined: 32

$$\mathcal{M}_{a,c;b,d}^{\text{2pt-bubble}}(P_1, P_2) = g \int_{\text{AdS}} dX_1 dX_2 K_{\Delta_1,0}(X_1; P_1) K_{\Delta_2,0}(X_2; P_2) G_{d,2}(X_1, \partial_{U_1}; X_2, \partial_{U_2}) \\ \times (U_1 \cdot \mathcal{P}_1 \cdot U_1)^c (U_2 \cdot \mathcal{P}_2 \cdot U_2)^d (U_1 \cdot \partial_{X_1})^{2a} (U_2 \cdot \partial_{X_2})^{2b} G_{\Delta,0}(X_1, X_2).$$
(4.6)

The spectral representation of the graviton (4.3) and scalar (2.4) bulk-to-bulk propagators, via the factorisation (3.9) of harmonic functions, leads to the following decomposition of the bubble diagram:

$$\mathcal{M}_{a,c;b,d}^{\text{2pt-bubble}}\left(y_{1}, y_{2}\right) = \frac{g^{2}}{\pi^{2}} \sum_{\mathbf{p}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \nu^{2} d\nu \,\bar{\nu}^{2} d\bar{\nu} \,g_{p_{1},p_{2},p_{3}}^{(2)}\left(\nu\right) g_{0,0,0}^{(0)}\left(\bar{\nu}\right) \\ \times \int_{\partial \text{AdS}} dP d\bar{P} \,\mathcal{A}_{\Delta_{1},\frac{d}{2}+i\bar{\nu},\frac{d}{2}+i\nu}^{a,c;p_{1},p_{3}}\left(P_{1},\bar{P},P\right) \cdot \mathcal{A}_{\Delta_{2},\frac{d}{2}-i\bar{\nu},\frac{d}{2}-i\nu}^{b,d;p_{2},p_{3}+2(p_{1}-p_{2})}\left(P_{2},\bar{P},P\right), \quad (4.7)$$

in terms of the tree-level three-point diagrams:

$$\mathcal{A}_{\Delta_{1},\Delta_{2},\Delta_{3}}^{a,c;p_{1},p_{3}}(P_{1},P_{2},P_{3};Z) = \int_{\mathrm{AdS}} dX \, K_{\Delta_{1},0}(X,P_{1}) \left(\partial_{U} \cdot \mathcal{P} \cdot \partial_{U}\right)^{c} \left(\partial_{U} \cdot \partial_{X}\right)^{2a} K_{\Delta_{2},0}(X,P_{2}) \\ \times \left(U \cdot \mathcal{P} \cdot U\right)^{p_{1}} \left(U \cdot \nabla\right)^{p_{3}} K_{\Delta_{3},s-2p_{1}-p_{3}}(X,U;P_{3},Z).$$
(4.8)

In section C we show how to bring (4.7) into the form (3.19). This gives the spectral representation:

$$\mathcal{M}^{2\text{pt-bubble}}(y_{1}, y_{2}) = g^{2} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\nu^{2} \bar{\nu}^{2} d\nu d\bar{\nu}}{\pi^{2} [\nu^{2} + (\frac{d}{2})^{2}] [\bar{\nu}^{2} + (\Delta - \frac{d}{2})^{2}]} \\ \times \mathsf{B}\left(0, 2, 0; 0; \Delta_{1}, \frac{d}{2} + i\nu - 2, \frac{d}{2} + i\bar{\nu}\right) \mathsf{B}\left(0, 2, 0; 0; \Delta_{2}, \frac{d}{2} - i\nu - 2, \frac{d}{2} - i\bar{\nu}\right) \mathfrak{K}_{0;2,0}^{(0,0)}(\nu, \bar{\nu}; y_{1}, y_{2}) \\ + \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\nu d\bar{\nu} \, \mathcal{G}_{\text{contact}}^{2\text{pt-bubble}}(\nu, \bar{\nu}) \, \mathfrak{K}_{0;0,0}^{(0,0)}(\nu, \bar{\nu}; y_{1}, y_{2}).$$

$$(4.9)$$

The first line is the traceless and transverse contribution, which coincides with the previous result (3.29) for s = 0, s' = 2 and $\Delta_1 = \Delta_2 = d-2$. The second line is the contribution from the contact terms in the propagator (4.3), which involve traces and gradients. The function $\mathcal{G}_{\text{contact}}^{\text{2pt-bubble}}(\nu, \bar{\nu})$ is rather involved, and is given in section C together with its derivation.

The corresponding form for the contribution to the anomalous dimension is given by:

$$\gamma = \gamma_{TT} + \gamma_{\text{contact}},\tag{4.10}$$

where the tracless and transverse contribution γ_{TT} is given by (3.31) with s = 0 and s' = 2, while:

$$\gamma_{\text{contact}} = -g^2 \delta_{\Delta_1 \Delta_2} \frac{\pi^{d+\frac{1}{2}} 2^{-d+4} \Gamma\left(\Delta_1 - \frac{d}{2}\right) \Gamma(d-2)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{d-1}{2}\right) \Gamma(d-\Delta_1) \Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2} - 1\right)} \frac{1}{\sqrt{C_{\Delta_1,0} C_{\Delta_2,0}}} \\ \times \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\nu d\bar{\nu} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d-\Delta_1 + i(\nu-\bar{\nu})}{2}\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{d-\Delta_1 - i(\nu-\bar{\nu})}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{\Delta_1 - i(\nu-\bar{\nu})}{2}\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{\Delta_1 + i(\nu-\bar{\nu})}{2}\right)} \mathcal{G}_{\text{contact}}^{\text{2pt-bubble}}\left(\nu, \bar{\nu}\right).$$
(4.11)

³²Note that: $(U \cdot \mathcal{P} \cdot U) = u^2$.

4.2 Type A higher-spin gauge theory

The spectrum of the minimal type A higher-spin gauge theory on AdS_{d+1} consists of an infinite tower of gauge fields φ_s of spins $s = 2, 4, 6, \ldots$ and a parity even scalar ϕ of fixed mass $m_0^2 = -2(d-2)/R^2$. The results of section 3 can be employed to compute the s - (s'0) - s bubble diagrams in the theory, focusing on the contribution from the traceless and transverse part of the bulk-to-bulk propagators.

The traceless and transverse cubic couplings of the interacting theory are given in ambient space by [59, 60]:³³

$$\mathcal{V}_{s_1, s_2, s_3} = g_{s_1, s_2, s_3} \mathcal{I}^{0, 0, 0}_{s_1, s_2, s_3}, \tag{4.12}$$

where $\mathcal{I}^{0,0,0}_{s_1,s_2,s_3}$ was defined in equation (3.11) and the coupling constants are:

$$g_{s_1,s_2,s_3} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}} \frac{\pi^{\frac{d-3}{4}} 2^{\frac{3d-1+s_1+s_2+s_3}{2}}}{\Gamma(d+s_1+s_2+s_3-3)} \prod_{i=1}^3 \sqrt{\frac{\Gamma(s_i+\frac{d-1}{2})}{\Gamma(s_i+1)}},$$
(4.13)

for canonically normalised kinetic terms.

In generic space-time dimensions, the spectral form of the contribution from the traceless and transverse part of the propagators to the anomalous dimension is simply given by (3.31) with couplings $g = g_{s,0,s'}$:

$$\gamma_{TT} = -g_{s,0,s'}^2 \frac{\pi^{-\frac{7+d}{2}} s! 2^{-d+s'+s-2} \Gamma(d+s'-2)}{(d+2s-4) \Gamma\left(\frac{d-1}{2}\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}+s'-1\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}+s\right) \Gamma(d+2s-2)} \times \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\nu d\bar{\nu} \, \mathcal{F}_{TT}^{\text{2pt bubble}}\left(\nu,\bar{\nu}\right), \tag{4.14}$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{F}_{TT}^{\text{2pt bubble}}(\nu,\bar{\nu}) &= \frac{\nu\bar{\nu}\sinh(\pi\nu)\sinh(\pi\bar{\nu})}{[\nu^{2} + (\Delta_{s} - \frac{d}{2})^{2}][\bar{\nu}^{2} + (\Delta - \frac{d}{2})^{2}]} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2} - i\nu - 1\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2} + i\nu - 1\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2} + s' + i\nu - 1\right)} \\ &\times \Gamma\left(\frac{d + s' + 2s - 2 + i(\nu - \bar{\nu})}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{d + s' + 2s - 2 - i(\nu - \bar{\nu})}{2}\right) \\ &\times \Gamma\left(\frac{d + s' + 2s - 2 - i(\nu + \bar{\nu})}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{d + s' + 2s - 2 + i(\nu + \bar{\nu})}{2}\right) \tag{4.15} \\ &\times \Gamma\left(\frac{s' + 2 + i(\nu - \bar{\nu})}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{s' + 2 - i(\nu - \bar{\nu})}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{s' + 2 - i(\nu - \bar{\nu})}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{s' + 2 - i(\nu + \bar{\nu})}{2}\right), \end{aligned}$$

whose properties were discussed in section 3.3.

Let us note that this result holds for the standard boundary condition on the scalar field near z = 0:³⁴

$$\phi(z,y) \sim z^{\Delta_+},\tag{4.17}$$

 33 See [76, 82, 99–101] for previous studies and classifications of metric-like cubic vertices of totally symmetric higher-spin gauge fields in AdS, as relevant for this work.

³⁴Here we work in Poincaré co-ordinates $x^{\mu} = (z, y^i)$

$$ds^{2} = \frac{R^{2}}{z^{2}} \left(dz^{2} + dy_{i} dy^{i} \right), \qquad (4.16)$$

where z here should not be confused with the boundary auxiliary vector z^i . The boundary of AdS is located at z = 0, with boundary directions y^i , i = 1, ..., d.

where Δ_+ is the largest root of the equation:³⁵

$$\Delta \left(\Delta - d \right) = m_0^2 R^2. \tag{4.19}$$

By definition, $\Delta_+ \geq \frac{d}{2}$. For $m_0^2 R^2 > -\frac{d^2}{4} + 1$, (4.17) is the unique admissible boundary condition invariant under the symmetries of AdS space [102]. That the result (4.14) holds for this particular boundary condition can be seen by noting that the spectral representation (2.4) only holds for square integrable functions, which requires $\Delta > \frac{d}{2}$.

On the other hand, if the scalar mass lies within the window

$$-\frac{d^2}{4} < m_0^2 R^2 < -\frac{d^2}{4} + 1, \tag{4.20}$$

there is a second admissible boundary condition [102]:

$$\phi(z,y) \sim z^{\Delta_{-}},\tag{4.21}$$

where Δ_{-} is the smallest root of equation (4.19). This choice of scalar boundary condition is possible for the type A higher-spin gauge theory on AdS₄, where the scalar mass $m_0^2 R^2 =$ -2(d-2) = -2 falls within the range (4.20). While the result (4.14) holds in the type A theory for the boundary behaviour (4.17) with $\Delta_{+} = 2$, in the following section we show how the bubble diagram can be evaluated for the alternative boundary condition (4.21) with $\Delta_{-} = 1$.

4.2.1 Alternative quantization on AdS₄

In this section we show how to evaluate the bubble diagrams with the alternative boundary condition (4.21) on the bulk scalar. See e.g. [69, 70, 103] for previous works on Witten diagrams for the alternative boundary conditions.

The bulk-to-bulk propagator of a spin-J field of mass $m^2 R^2 = \Delta (\Delta - d) - J$ with the alternative boundary condition is given by:³⁶

$$G_{\Delta_{-},J}(x_{1},x_{2}) = G_{\Delta_{+},J}(x_{1},x_{2}) - \frac{4\pi}{(\Delta_{+}-\Delta_{-})} \Omega_{\frac{i}{2}(\Delta_{-}-\Delta_{+}),J}(x_{1},x_{2})$$
(4.23)
= $G_{\Delta_{+},J}(x_{1},x_{2}) + (\Delta_{+}-\Delta_{-}) \int_{\partial AdS} d^{d}y \, K_{\Delta_{+},J}(x_{1};y) \cdot K_{\Delta_{-},J}(y;x_{2}),$

where in the second equality we inserted the factorised form (3.9) of the harmonic function. From this expression for J = 0, we see that the s - (s'0) - s bubble diagrams with the

$$\Delta = \Delta_{\pm} = \frac{d}{2} \pm \sqrt{\frac{d^2}{4} + m^2 R^2}.$$
(4.18)

 36 To obtain this expression one uses that harmonic functions can be expressed as a linear combination of the propagators with two different boundary conditions [71]:

$$\Omega_{\frac{i}{2}(\Delta_{-}-\Delta_{+}),J}(x_{1},x_{2}) = \frac{(\Delta_{+}-\Delta_{-})}{4\pi} \left[G_{\Delta_{+},J}(x_{1},x_{2}) - G_{\Delta_{-},J}(x_{1},x_{2}) \right].$$
(4.22)

 $^{^{35}{\}rm Which}$ has solutions:



Figure 9a. Diagrammatic relation between bubble diagrams with different conformal boundary conditions on the scalar propagating inside the loop. For s' > 0, they differ by a single-cut of the scalar internal line.



Figure 9b. For bubble diagrams with two scalars propagating in the loop, diagrams with different conformal boundary conditions on the scalar fields differ by both a single and double cut of the internal lines.

alternative boundary condition on the scalar running in the loop can be obtained from those with the standard boundary condition (4.17), supplemented by the additional diagrams generated by the rightmost term in the modified propagator (4.23) — to account for the difference in boundary condition. This is illustrated in figures 9, and we show how to evaluate the additional diagrams in the following.

Single cut

Let us first evaluate the additional diagram in figure 9a, which for s' = 0 is equal to the left-most additional diagram in figure 9b. This corresponds to "cutting" the scalar bulk-tobulk propagator in the s - (s'0) - s bubble diagram (4.14) — i.e. going on-shell with respect to the internal scalar leg. Given the result (4.14), the spectral form for the contribution to anomalous dimension from this diagram is easy to write down by fixing $\frac{d}{2} + i\bar{\nu} = \Delta_+$:

$$\gamma_{s,s'}^{\Delta_{+}\Delta_{-}} = -g_{s,0,s'}^{2} \frac{\pi^{-\frac{7+d}{2}} s! \, 2^{-d+s'+s-2} \Gamma(d+s'-2)}{(d+2s-4) \Gamma\left(\frac{d-1}{2}\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}+s'-1\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}+s\right) \Gamma(d+2s-2)} \times \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\nu \, \mathcal{F}_{\Delta_{+}\Delta_{-}}^{\text{2pt bubble}}(\nu) \,, \tag{4.24}$$

where

$$\mathcal{F}_{\Delta_{+}\Delta_{-}}^{\text{2pt bubble}}\left(\nu\right) = \frac{2\pi}{i\bar{\nu}} \left[\bar{\nu}^{2} + \left(\Delta - \frac{d}{2}\right)^{2}\right] \times \mathcal{F}_{TT}^{\text{2pt bubble}}\left(\nu,\bar{\nu}\right)\Big|_{\bar{\nu}=-i\left(\Delta_{+}-\frac{d}{2}\right)}.$$
(4.25)

The notation $\gamma^{\Delta_+\Delta_-}_{s,s'}$ is defined as

$$\gamma_{s,s'}^{\Delta_+\Delta_-} = \gamma_{s,s'}^{\Delta_+} - \gamma_{s,s'}^{\Delta_-}, \qquad (4.26)$$

where $\gamma_{s,s'}^{\Delta_+}$ is the contribution to the anomalous dimension generated by the s - (s'0) - sbubble diagram with the Δ_+ boundary condition on the scalar (which was considered in the previous section), and $\gamma_{s,s'}^{\Delta_-}$ is the same but with the Δ_- boundary condition.

In the present case of AdS_4 with $\Delta_+ = 2$, we have in particular

$$\mathcal{F}_{TT}^{s'}(\nu) = -\pi^4 \, 2^{1-4(s'+s)} \left[\nu^2 + \left(s' + \frac{1}{2}\right)^2 \right] \frac{\nu \tanh(\pi\nu) \operatorname{sech}(\pi\nu)}{\left[\nu^2 + \left(\Delta_{s'} - \frac{d}{2}\right)^2\right]} \\ \times \frac{\Gamma\left(s' + 2s - i\nu + \frac{1}{2}\right) \Gamma\left(s' + 2s + i\nu + \frac{1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2} - i\nu\right) \Gamma\left(i\nu + \frac{1}{2}\right)}.$$
(4.27)

The ν integral in this case can be evaluated by expanding (4.27) as a series in ν^2 :

$$\mathcal{F}_{TT}^{s'}(\nu) = -\pi^4 \, 2^{1-4(s+s')} \left(\sum_n c_{s,s'}^{(n)} \nu^{2n+1} \right) \tanh(\pi\nu) \operatorname{sech}(\pi\nu), \tag{4.28}$$

which truncates to a polynomial in ν^2 since the denominator of the first line cancels with one of the factors within the Γ -functions in the numerator of the second line. The coefficients are defined as:

$$c_{s,s'}^{(n)} = \text{coeff.}\left[\frac{\nu^2 + (s' + \frac{1}{2})^2}{\left[\nu^2 + \left(\Delta_{s'} - \frac{d}{2}\right)^2\right]} \frac{\Gamma\left(i\nu + \frac{1}{2} + 2s + s'\right)\Gamma\left(-i\nu + \frac{1}{2} + 2s + s'\right)}{\Gamma\left(i\nu + \frac{1}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(-i\nu + \frac{1}{2}\right)}, \nu^{2n}\right].$$
 (4.29)

Using the identity:

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\nu \,\nu^{2n+1} \tanh(\pi\nu) \operatorname{sech}(\pi\nu) = \frac{1}{\pi} \left(-\frac{1}{4}\right)^n \,(2n+1)E_{2n}\,,\tag{4.30}$$

where E_n are the Euler numbers the integral can be analytically evaluated for any spins.³⁷

The final form for the contribution (4.24) to the anomalous dimension from the single cut of a s - (s'0) - s bubble is thus:

$$\gamma_{s,s'}^{\Delta_{+}\Delta_{-}} = g_{s,0,s'}^{2} \frac{\pi^{-\frac{1}{2} - \frac{d}{2}} s! \, 2^{-d-1-3(s'+s)} \Gamma(d+s'-2)}{(d+2s-4)\Gamma\left(\frac{d-1}{2}\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2} + s' - 1\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2} + s\right) \Gamma(d+2s-2)} \times \sum_{n} c_{s,s'}^{(n)} \left(-\frac{1}{4}\right)^{n} (2n+1) E_{2n}.$$

$$(4.31)$$

where for generality we have kept d arbitrary in the overall prefactor. For the s' = 0 contribution we can evaluate the sum over n exactly:

$$\gamma_{s,0}^{\Delta_+\Delta_-} = \frac{32s^2}{N\pi^2(2s-1)(2s+1)}.$$
(4.32)

We give a plot of the s' > 0 contributions in figure 10. It is interesting to notice that contributions from higher s' are exponentially suppressed in s' - s, so that dropping terms with s' > 2s gives only a small error when evaluating the sum over spins. One may verify for large s' that contributions for $s' \gg s$ are of order $10^{-\frac{s'}{2}+s}$. This allows to obtain approximated analytic results with arbitrarily small errors.

³⁷Notice that the single cut gives a convergent integral in ν . This confirms the expectation that the UV divergences for Δ_+ and Δ_- boundary conditions precisely cancel. The anomalous dimension then only receives finite IR contributions coming from the boundary conformal integrals.



Figure 10. Plot of the contributions to the anomalous dimension from a single cut of the s-(s'0)-s bubble diagram on the internal scalar leg. On the horizontal axis we vary the internal spin s', while the colour gradient represents varying external spin s. The contributions are exponentially suppressed for large s'.

Double cut

For the bubble diagram s - (00) - s, with only scalars propagating in the loop, for the Δ_{-} boundary condition there is a further additional diagram given by the "double cut" of the scalar bulk-to-bulk propagators, which is the rightmost diagram shown in figure 9b. It is given by:

$$\mathcal{M}_{\Delta_{+},\Delta_{-}}^{\Delta_{+},\Delta_{-}}(y_{1},y_{2}) = \frac{1}{2}g_{s,0,0}^{2}\left(\Delta_{+}-\Delta_{-}\right)^{2} \\ \times \int_{\partial \mathrm{AdS}} d^{d}y d^{d}\bar{y} \,\mathcal{M}_{s,0,0;d-2,\Delta_{+},\Delta_{+}}^{0,0,0}(y_{1},y,\bar{y}) \cdot \mathcal{M}_{s,0,0;d-2,\Delta_{-},\Delta_{-}}^{0,0,0}(y_{2},y,\bar{y}) \,.$$

The corresponding contribution $(\gamma_{s,0})^{\Delta_+\Delta_-}_{\Delta_+\Delta_-}$ to the anomalous dimension is very easy to extract, and can be done by simply setting $\frac{d}{2} + i\nu = \Delta_+$ and s' = 0 in the spectral representation (4.24) of the contribution for the anomalous dimension from the single cut

diagram. The result reads:

$$(\gamma_{s,0})_{\Delta+\Delta-}^{\Delta+\Delta-} = \left[(\Delta_{+} - \Delta_{-})^{2} C_{\Delta+,0} C_{\Delta-,0} \right]^{2}$$

$$\times \frac{2^{6} \pi^{2d} (d-4) \Gamma \left(2 - \frac{d}{2}\right) \Gamma(s+1)}{N(d+2s-4)(d+2s-2) \Gamma \left(\frac{d}{2} - 1\right) \Gamma(d+s-3)}$$

$$= -\frac{2^{2d-2}(d-4) \Gamma \left(\frac{d-1}{2}\right)^{2} s! \csc \left(\frac{\pi d}{2}\right) \sin^{2} \left(\frac{\pi d}{2}\right)}{\pi^{2} (d+2s-4)(d+2s-2) \Gamma(d+s-3)}.$$

$$(4.33)$$

One can check that this agrees on the CFT side with the contribution to the anomalous dimension of the "two-triangle" diagram (also known as "Aslamazov-Larkin" diagram), see e.g. [34, 104], in agreement with the general arguments in [69, 70].

Combining with the contribution (4.32) from the single-cut diagram, the total additional contribution from s - (00) - s one-loop diagrams for the Δ_+ boundary condition with respect to the Δ_- boundary condition is given by:

$$\gamma_{s,0} \equiv \gamma_{s,0}^{\Delta_+\Delta_-} - (\gamma_{s,0})_{\Delta_+\Delta_-}^{\Delta_+\Delta_-}$$

$$= \left(\frac{32s^2}{\pi^2(2s-1)(2s+1)N} + \frac{16s}{\pi^2(2s+1)(2s-1)N}\right) = \frac{16s}{N\pi^2(2s-1)}.$$
(4.34)

Total contribution. To obtain the total contribution from the additional diagrams for s - (s'0) - s bubbles in the alternative quantisation of the type A higher-spin gauge theory, we need to sum over the exchanged spin s' in the spectrum. In particular, this is given by:

$$\gamma_s^{\Delta_+ \Delta_-} = \sum_{s' \in 2\mathbb{N}} \gamma_{s,s'}^{\Delta_+ \Delta_-}.$$
(4.35)

As anticipated, evaluating this sum analytically is rather complicated due to the involved form of expansion coefficients $c_{s,s'}^{(n)}$. However, it is possible to obtain an analytic estimate of the result by truncating the summation over spin. This is possible owing to the exponential damping of the contributions for higher and higher exchanged spins, illustrated in figure 10. We plot the result in figure 11 for fixed external spin s, up to s = 2000.

4.2.2 Comparison with dual CFT

In addition to the s - (s'0) - s bubble diagrams considered so far in this section, there are other types of processes that contribute at one-loop to the total two-point amplitude in the type A minimal higher-spin gauge theory. For external spin-s fields, all diagrams that contribute are shown in figure 12, for both boundary conditions on the bulk scalar field. Notice that we have not included \bigcirc -type tadpole diagrams, since it was argued in section 3.4 that, at least taken individually, such diagrams do not contribute.³⁸

 $^{^{38}}$ It should however be noted that, in order to consider diagrams individually (i.e. for fixed spins propagating internally before summing over the spectrum), it needs to be investigated whether the infinite sum over spin commutes with the integration over AdS. This is a subtle issue, in particular since the sum over spin in higher-spin gauge theories has a finite radius of convergence [61] and the integration over boundary (1.4) is divergent. We discuss this point further in section 4.2.3.



Figure 11. Plot of the re-summation of the contributions to the anomalous dimension from the difference of s - (s'0) - s bubble diagrams for the Δ_{-} and Δ_{+} boundary condition on the scalar field. The internal spin s' is summed over while the external spin s, which is displayed on the horizontal axis, is fixed.



Figure 12. Diagrams contributing to the one-loop two-point amplitude $\mathcal{M}_s^{\Delta_{\pm}, \text{total 1-loop}}(y_1, y_2)$ with external spin-s gauge fields in the type A higher-spin gauge theory on AdS₄, for both the Δ_+ and Δ_- boundary conditions on the bulk scalar. Diagrams (a) and (b) were considered in section 4.2 of this work.

In the context of AdS/CFT, the diagrams displayed in figure 12 give the holographic computation of the 1/N correction to the two-point CFT correlation function of the singletrace operator dual to a spin-s gauge field on AdS. On AdS₄, the type A minimal higher-spin theory with $\Delta_{-} = 1$ boundary condition (4.21) is conjectured to be dual to the free scalar O(N) model in three dimensions, restricted to the O(N) singlet sector [67]. The spectrum of primary operators consists of a tower of even spin conserved currents

$$\partial \cdot \mathcal{J}_s \approx 0,$$
 (4.36)

dual to a spin-s gauge field φ_s in the bulk, and a scalar \mathcal{O} of scaling dimension Δ_- which is dual to the bulk parity even scalar ϕ . Owing to the absence of 1/N corrections in free theory, the total of the diagrams in figure 12 for the Δ_- boundary condition is then expected to vanish.

Adding a double-trace deformation λO^2 to the free theory above induces a flow an IR fixed point where O has instead dimension $\Delta_+ = 2$, known as the critical O(N) model. In the holographic picture, the double-trace deformation modifies the boundary condition on the dual bulk scalar field [105, 106], requiring instead to impose the Δ_+ boundary condition (4.17). This bulk interpretation of multi-trace deformations inspired the conjectured duality between the type A minimal higher-spin gauge theory with $\Delta_+ = 2$ boundary condition and the critical O(N) model in three dimensions [68]. At this interacting fixed point, the operators \mathcal{J}_s are no-longer conserved and acquire an anomalous dimension:

$$\Delta_s = s + d - 2 + \gamma_s. \tag{4.37}$$

At the operator level, this statement reads as the non-conservation equation of the schematic form

$$\partial \cdot \mathcal{J}_s = \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}} \sum \mathcal{J}\mathcal{J},$$
(4.38)

which implies that the anomalous dimensions are $\gamma_s \sim \mathcal{O}(1/N)$. At leading order in 1/N, they are given by [107, 108]

$$\gamma_s = \frac{16(s-2)}{3\pi^2 N \left(2s-1\right)},\tag{4.39}$$

and to date have been determined using various approaches in CFT [34, 109–111].

To date the anomalous dimensions (4.39) have not yet been extracted via a direct one-loop calculation in AdS. From the large N expansion of the two-point function

$$\langle \mathcal{J}_{s}(y_{1}) \mathcal{J}_{s}(y_{2}) \rangle = C_{\mathcal{J}_{s}} \frac{\mathsf{H}_{21}^{s}}{(y_{12}^{2})^{d-2}} \left(1 - \gamma_{s} \log\left(y_{12}^{2}\right) + \ldots\right),$$
(4.40)

where $C_{\mathcal{J}_s}$ is the $\mathcal{O}(1)$ normalisation and the ... contain $\mathcal{O}(1/N^2)$ terms and corrections to the normalisation, we see that the anomalous dimensions of the higher-spin operators may be computed holographically at $\mathcal{O}(1/N)$ by extracting the log contribution from the bulk two-point amplitude at one-loop for the Δ_+ boundary condition, shown in figure 12. While in this work we have not evaluated all diagrams in the total one-loop amplitude (in particular, we have not evaluated diagrams (c)-(e)), with the results of section 3 we



Figure 13. Diagrams which contribute to the difference $\mathcal{M}_s^{\Delta_+, \text{total 1-loop}}(y_1, y_2) - \mathcal{M}_s^{\Delta_-, \text{total 1-loop}}(y_1, y_2)$ of two-point one-loop amplitudes for the Δ_+ and Δ_- boundary conditions on the bulk scalar. Diagrams (a)-(c) on the first line were computed in section 4.2.1.

can still however study how the different one-loop processes in figure 12 contribute to the anomalous dimensions (4.39):

In order for the duality with the free scalar theory to hold, the two-point amplitude with Δ_{-} boundary condition should not generate anomalous dimensions. Under this assumption, the anomalous dimension (4.39) should be encoded in the diagrams that remain in the difference of the two-point amplitudes with Δ_{+} and Δ_{-} boundary conditions on the bulk scalar, which is shown in figure 13. Since the change of boundary condition is just on the bulk scalar, only the diagrams involving a scalar in the loop, which are displayed on the first line of figure 12 (diagrams (a), (b) and (c)), may generate non-trivial contributions in figure 13. The diagrams on the first line of the latter were computed in section 4.2.1, which arise from bubble diagrams (a) and (b) in figure 12. The total of which, given by the modulus of equation (4.35), does not reproduce the anomalous dimension (4.39). The discrepancy is quite large: the CFT result (4.39) asymptotes to a constant value for large s:

$$\gamma_s \to \frac{8}{3\pi^2 N},\tag{4.41}$$

while the total contribution (4.35) from the bubble diagrams seems to grow linearly with s — as shown in figure 11. The remaining diagram (d) in figure 13, which arises from the \bigcirc tadpole diagram (c) in figure 12 generated by the *s*-*s*-0-0 contact interactions, should thus give a significant non-trivial contribution of the equal but opposite magnitude as that from the total of diagrams (a), (b) and (c) in figure 13.



Figure 14. Re-summation of tadpole diagrams with a single-cut of the scalar loop. The infinite sum over spin s' and the divergent integration over the boundary seem not to commute.

4.2.3 Discussion

Sum over spin. In computing the one-loop contributions to the type A higher-spin gauge theory two-point amplitude in the preceding section, we performed the sum over spin *after* regularising the divergent two-point boundary conformal integrals (1.4). This is the standard prescription for computing Feynman diagrams in a field theory, where each diagram is evaluated separately and the amplitude is obtained from their total sum. However, since in higher-spin gauge theories an infinite number of diagrams must be summed for fixed external legs at each order in 1/N — owing to the infinite spectrum of higher-spin gauge fields — it is interesting to ask whether the infinite sum over spin and regularised integration over the boundary may be commuted.

This point can be explored and is most illuminated by considering the contributions from $\underline{\bigcirc}$ -type tadpole diagrams, which in section 3.4 were argued to vanish individually. In performing the boundary integration *before* summing over spin, such diagrams thus do not contribute to one-loop two-point amplitude. For simplicity, in the following let us restrict to the single-cut tadpole diagrams that would appear in the difference of the one-loop two-point amplitudes for the Δ_+ and Δ_- , shown in figure 14. These diagrams were not considered in section 4.2.2, where they would appear in figure 13, because there the sum over spin was being taken after performing the boundary integration and they thus did not contribute. To investigate instead summing over spin *prior* to performing the boundary integration, it is useful to note that each individual such diagram in the sum over spin s'can be expressed as³⁹

$$\mathcal{M}_{\text{tadpole},s'}^{\Delta_{+},\Delta_{-}}(y_{1},y_{2}) = \frac{1}{2} \left(\Delta_{+} - \Delta_{-} \right)^{2} \int_{\partial \text{AdS}} d^{d}y_{3} d^{d}y_{4} \, \mathcal{M}_{s,s|s'|0^{-},0^{-}}^{\text{tree-level exch.}}(y_{1},y_{2},y_{3},y_{4}) \, K_{\Delta_{+},0}(y_{3},y_{4}) \, . \tag{4.43}$$

³⁹The integration weighted by the Δ_+ scalar bulk-to-boundary propagator in equation (4.43) enforces the change of boundary condition on one of the external scalars from Δ_- to Δ_+ [112], i.e. (see section A.7):

$$K_{\Delta_{+},J}(x;y) = -(\Delta_{+} - \Delta_{-}) \int_{\partial \text{AdS}} d^{d}\bar{y} \, K_{\Delta_{-},J}(x;\bar{y}) \cdot K_{\Delta_{+},J}(y;\bar{y}) \,. \tag{4.42}$$

where $\mathcal{M}_{s,s|s'|0^-,0^-}^{\text{tree-level exch.}}$ is the spin s' exchange diagram in the type A minimal theory with Δ_- boundary condition on both scalars, which was computed in [15].⁴⁰ For the part of exchange diagrams corresponding to the genuine exchange of the single-particle (s.p.) state (i.e. as opposed to contact contributions associated to double-trace blocks) which is encoded in the traceless and transverse part of the bulk-to-bulk propagator (3.26), the sum over exchanged spin is given by a higher-spin block [61, 113]:⁴¹

$$\mathcal{H}_{(s,s|d-2|0^-,0^-)} = \sum_{s'\in 2\mathbb{N}} \mathcal{M}_{s,s|s'|0^-,0^-}^{\text{tree-level exch.}} \Big|_{\text{s.p.}},\tag{4.44}$$

which re-sums the contribution from the infinite tower of exchanged massless higher-spin particles. It is given explicitly by:

$$\mathcal{H}_{(s,s|d-2|0^{-},0^{-})} = \frac{c_{ss00}}{N(y_{12}^2)^{d-2}(y_{34}^2)^{d-2}} \left[\left(\frac{u}{v}\right)^{\frac{d-2}{2}} \left((2\mathsf{q}_{12})^{-\frac{d-4}{4}} \Gamma\left(\frac{d-2}{2}\right) J_{\frac{d-4}{2}}(\sqrt{2}\mathsf{q}_{21}) \right) \mathsf{Y}_{1,24}^s \mathsf{Y}_{2,31}^s \right] \\ + \frac{c_{ss00}}{N(y_{12}^2)^{d-2}(y_{34}^2)^{d-2}} \left[u^{\frac{d-2}{2}} \left((2\bar{\mathsf{q}}_{12})^{-\frac{d-4}{4}} \Gamma\left(\frac{d-2}{2}\right) J_{\frac{d-4}{2}}(\sqrt{2}\bar{\mathsf{q}}_{12}) \right) \mathsf{Y}_{1,23}^s \mathsf{Y}_{2,43}^s \right]. \quad (4.45)$$

where

$$q_{12} = \mathsf{H}_{21}\partial_{\mathsf{Y}_{1,24}}\partial_{\mathsf{Y}_{2,31}}, \qquad \bar{\mathsf{q}}_{12} = \mathsf{H}_{12}\partial_{\mathsf{Y}_{1,23}}\partial_{\mathsf{Y}_{2,41}}, \qquad (4.46)$$

and with normalisation:

$$c_{ss00} = \frac{\sqrt{\pi}2^{-\Delta-s+4}\Gamma(s+1)\Gamma\left(s+\frac{\Delta}{2}\right)\Gamma(s+\Delta-1)}{N\Gamma\left(\frac{\Delta}{2}\right)^2\Gamma\left(s+\frac{\Delta}{2}-\frac{1}{2}\right)},$$
(4.47)

corresponding to unit normalisation of the two point functions. The cross ratios in the (12) channel are defined as:

$$u = \frac{y_{12}^2 y_{34}^2}{y_{13}^2 y_{24}^2}, \qquad v = \frac{y_{14}^2 y_{23}^2}{y_{13}^2 y_{24}^2}.$$
(4.48)

The higher-spin block (4.45) allows us to compute the contribution (dropping contact terms in exchange amplitudes) from the single-cut diagrams (4.43) arising from \bigcirc tapoles by performing the sum over spin *prior to* evaluating the boundary conformal integral. This is given by:

$$\mathcal{M}_{\text{tadpole}}^{\Delta_{+},\Delta_{-}}(y_{1},y_{2}) = \frac{1}{2} \left(\Delta_{+} - \Delta_{-} \right)^{2} \int_{\partial \text{AdS}} d^{d}y_{3} d^{d}y_{4} \sum_{s' \in 2\mathbb{N}} \mathcal{M}_{s,s|s'|0^{-},0^{-}}^{\text{tree-level exch.}}(y_{1},y_{2},y_{3},y_{4}) \Big|_{\text{s.p.}} K_{\Delta_{+},0}(y_{3},y_{4}),$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \left(\Delta_{+} - \Delta_{-} \right)^{2} \int_{\partial \text{AdS}} d^{d}y_{3} d^{d}y_{4} \mathcal{H}_{(s,s|d-2|0^{-},0^{-})}(y_{1},y_{2},y_{3},y_{4}) K_{\Delta_{+},0}(y_{3},y_{4}),$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \left(\Delta_{+} - \Delta_{-} \right)^{2} C_{\Delta_{+},0} C_{\Delta_{-},0} C_{s+d-2,s} \left[-\frac{2\pi^{d}d(d-2)}{N\Gamma\left(\frac{d+2}{2}\right)^{2}} \right] \frac{\log(y_{12}^{2})}{(y_{12}^{2})^{d-2}} \mathsf{H}_{21}^{s}, \qquad (4.49)$$

$$\equiv -C_{s+d-2,s}\gamma_{\text{tadpole}}^{\Delta_+,\Delta_-} \frac{\log(y_{12}^2)}{(y_{12}^2)^{d-2}} \mathsf{H}_{21}^s,\tag{4.50}$$

⁴⁰See also the preceding [12, 13] for the s = 0 case, and also [93, 94].

⁴¹Restricting to the single-particle contribution is the AdS analogue of restricting to single pole in Mandelstam variables in flat space exchange diagrams.

where in the second-last equality we restricted to the log term that encodes the contribution to the anomalous dimension, as shown in the last equality, and which we note is nonvanishing. Upon recalling that:

$$(\Delta_{+} - \Delta_{-})^{2} C_{\Delta_{+},0} C_{\Delta_{-},0} = \frac{1}{2} (d-4) \pi^{-d-1} \sin\left(\frac{\pi d}{2}\right) \Gamma(d-2), \qquad (4.51)$$

for d = 3, corresponding to AdS₄ in the bulk, this yields:

$$\gamma_{\text{tadpole}}^{\Delta_+,\Delta_-} = \frac{8}{3\pi^2 N},\tag{4.52}$$

which is a non-zero and spin-independent contribution to the anomalous dimension. This is to be contrasted with the vanishing contribution obtained in section 4.2.1 instead by first performing the integration over the boundary, which seems to suggest that the sum over spin and boundary integration does not commute in higher-spin gauge theories.

While it may seem non-standard in field theory to first perform the sum over spin, which is more reminiscent of working directly with some analogue of string fields as opposed to expanding in spin, we note that it does the job of recovering the CFT anomalous dimension (4.39): this is straightforward to see by noting that, by first summing over spin, the difference of one-loop two-point amplitudes for Δ_+ and Δ_- boundary conditions considered in section 4.2.2 is given by:

$$\mathcal{M}_{s}^{\Delta_{+},\text{total 1-loop}}(y_{1},y_{2}) - \mathcal{M}_{s}^{\Delta_{-},\text{total 1-loop}}(y_{1},y_{2}) = -\mathcal{M}_{\Delta_{+},\Delta_{-}}^{\Delta_{+},\Delta_{-}}(y_{1},y_{2}) + \frac{1}{2} \left(\Delta_{+} - \Delta_{-}\right)^{2} \int_{\partial \text{AdS}} d^{d}y_{3} d^{d}y_{4} \, \mathcal{M}_{s,s,0^{-},0^{-}}^{\text{tree-level 4pt}}(y_{1},y_{2},y_{3},y_{4}) \, K_{\Delta_{+},0}(y_{3},y_{4}) \,, \quad (4.53)$$

where $\mathcal{M}_{\Delta_+,\Delta_-}^{\Delta_+,\Delta_-}$ is the double-cut diagram computed in section 4.2.1 and $\mathcal{M}_{s,s,0^-,0^-}^{\text{tree-level 4pt}}$ is the full connected tree-level four-point amplitude in the type A higher-spin gauge theory with two spin-s external gauge fields and two external scalars with Δ_- boundary condition. Amplitudes in higher-spin gauge theories on AdS₄ are uniquely fixed by the global higherspin symmetry [61]. In particular, in terms of s-, t- and u-channel higher-spin blocks (4.45) we have:

$$\mathcal{M}_{s,s,0^{-},0^{-}}^{\text{tree-level 4pt}}\left(y_{1}, y_{2}, y_{3}, y_{4}\right) = \frac{1}{2} \left[\mathcal{H}_{\left(s,s|d-2|0^{-},0^{-}\right)}\left(y_{1}, y_{3}, y_{2}, y_{4}\right) + \mathcal{H}_{\left(s,0^{-}|d-2|s,0^{-}\right)}\left(y_{1}, y_{4}, y_{3}, y_{2}\right) + \mathcal{H}_{\left(s,0^{-}|d-2|0^{-},s\right)}\left(y_{1}, y_{4}, y_{3}, y_{2}\right) \right],$$

$$(4.54)$$

which neatly re-sums the contributions from the infinite tower of gauge fields in the spectrum. Performing now the boundary integration, we have

$$\frac{1}{2} \left(\Delta_{+} - \Delta_{-} \right)^{2} \int d^{d}y_{3} d^{d}y_{4} \mathcal{H}_{(s,0^{-}|d-2|s,0^{-})} \left(y_{1}, y_{3}, y_{2}, y_{4} \right) K_{\Delta_{+},0} \left(y_{3}, y_{4} \right) \Big|_{\log} \qquad (4.55)$$

$$= \frac{1}{2N} \left(\Delta_{+} - \Delta_{-} \right)^{2} C_{\Delta_{+},0} C_{\Delta_{-},0} C_{s+d-2,s} \times \left[\frac{32\pi^{d-2}}{(d+2s-4)(d+2s-2)\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}-1\right)^{2}} - \frac{\pi^{d}d(d-2)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d+2}{2}\right)^{2}} \right] \frac{\log(y_{12}^{2})}{(y_{12}^{2})^{d-2}} \,\mathsf{H}_{21}^{s},$$

and (which by symmetry in y_3 and y_3 is identical to (4.55)):

$$\frac{1}{2} (\Delta_{+} - \Delta_{-})^{2} \int d^{d}y_{3} d^{d}y_{4} \mathcal{H}_{(s,0^{-}|d-2|0^{-},s)} (y_{1}, y_{4}, y_{3}, y_{2}) K_{\Delta_{+},0} (y_{3}, y_{4}) \Big|_{\log} \qquad (4.56)$$

$$= \frac{1}{2N} (\Delta_{+} - \Delta_{-})^{2} C_{\Delta_{+},0} C_{\Delta_{-},0} C_{s+d-2,s} \\
\times \left[\frac{32\pi^{d-2}}{(d+2s-4)(d+2s-2)\Gamma \left(\frac{d}{2}-1\right)^{2}} - \frac{\pi^{d}d(d-2)}{\Gamma \left(\frac{d+2}{2}\right)^{2}} \right] \frac{\log(y_{12}^{2})}{(y_{12}^{2})^{d-2}} \mathsf{H}_{21}^{s}.$$

Combined with (4.50), (4.51), and the result (4.33) for the double-cut $\mathcal{M}_{\Delta_+,\Delta_-}^{\Delta_+,\Delta_-}$, from (4.53) upon factoring out the normalisation $C_{s+d-2,s}$ we obtain

$$\gamma_s = \frac{2^d (d-4) \sin\left(\frac{\pi d}{2}\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{d-1}{2}\right) (ds! \Gamma(d-1) - 2(s-1)(d+s-2)\Gamma(d+s-3))}{\pi^{3/2} d(d+2s-4)(d+2s-2)\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right) \Gamma(d+s-3)N}, \quad (4.57)$$

which matches the result of [34, 114], and in particular for d = 3 reduces to the CFT result (4.39) for the anomalous dimensions in the O(N) model:

$$\gamma_s = \frac{16(s-2)}{3\pi^2(2s-1)N} \,. \tag{4.58}$$

Let us stress that, in first performing the sum over spin, once it is assumed that the duality with the Δ_{-} boundary condition holds, the recovery of the anomalous dimension (4.58) from (4.53) is trivial [70]. A non-trivial question would be whether the same result can be recovered by treating higher-spin gauge theories as standard field theories, which entails using the approach taken in section 4.2.1 that instead sums over spin after performing the boundary integration.⁴² Since we have seen that the contribution from bubble diagrams (4.35) is insufficient, addressing this question requires to take into account Ω -type tadpole diagrams, which we leave for future work. We would also like to stress that in using twist-blocks we are able to project out all double-trace contribution from the current exchange. This subtraction should be generated in the field theory computation by the quartic contact term and may justify the different behaviour of (4.58) with respect to the behaviour in figure 11.

Let us note that also in performing first the sum over spin we can see that \bigcirc -type tadpole diagrams should give a non-trivial contribution to the anomalous dimension. The total contribution from the single-cut diagrams arising from s - (s'0) - s bubbles in the difference of one-loop two-point amplitudes (4.53) is given (modulo contact terms) by (4.55), i.e.:

$$\mathcal{M}_{s}^{\Delta_{+},\Delta_{-}} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\Delta_{+} - \Delta_{-} \right)^{2} \int d^{d}y_{3} \, d^{d}y_{4} \, \mathcal{H}_{(s,0^{-}|d-2|s,0^{-})} \left(y_{1}, y_{3}, y_{2}, y_{4} \right) \, K_{\Delta_{+},0} \left(y_{3}, y_{4} \right) \Big|_{\log} \\ = \frac{1}{2N} \left(\Delta_{+} - \Delta_{-} \right)^{2} C_{\Delta_{+},0} C_{\Delta_{-},0} C_{s+d-2,s}$$

$$\times \left[\frac{32\pi^{d-2}}{(d+2s-4)(d+2s-2)\Gamma \left(\frac{d}{2}-1\right)^{2}} - \frac{\pi^{d}d(d-2)}{\Gamma \left(\frac{d+2}{2}\right)^{2}} \right] \frac{\log(y_{12}^{2})}{(y_{12}^{2})^{d-2}} \, \mathsf{H}_{21}^{s} \,,$$
(4.59)

⁴²If this turns out to be the case, a further question would be how this can be reconciled with the apparent non-commutativity of the sum over spin with the boundary integration observed earlier in this section.

which, either alone or together with the tadpole contributions (4.50) does not recover the contribution generated by the second line of (4.53).⁴³

Acknowledgments

C. S. and M. T. thank Massimo Bianchi for useful discussions and the University of Rome Tor Vergata for the warm hospitality. We also thank Andres Collinucci for much appreciated technical support and Dean Carmi, Lorenzo Di Pietro and Shota Komatsu for discussions. The research of M. T. is partially supported by the Fund for Scientific Research-FNRS Belgium, grant FC 6369, the Russian Science Foundation grant 14-42-00047 in association with Lebedev Physical Institute and by the INFN within the program "New Developments in AdS_3/CFT_2 Holography". The research of C. S. was partially supported by the INFN and ACRI's (Associazione di Fondazioni e di Casse di Risparmio S.p.a.) Young Investigator Training Program, as part of the Galileo Galilei Institute for Theoretical Physics (GGI) workshop "New Developments in AdS_3/CFT_2 Holography". The work of S.G. was supported in part by the US NSF under Grant No. PHY-1620542.

A Appendix of conformal integrals

In this appendix we outline the evaluation of various boundary conformal integrals utilised in this work.

A.1 Fourier transform

We recall the standard result:

$$\frac{1}{(2\pi)^{d/2}} \int \frac{d^d q}{[q^2]^{\Delta}} e^{iq \cdot p} = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{d/2}} \frac{1}{\Gamma(\Delta)} \int_0^\infty \frac{dt}{t} t^{\Delta} \int d^d q \, e^{iq \cdot p - t \, q^2} = \frac{1}{2^{d/2}} \frac{\Gamma(\frac{d}{2} - \Delta)}{\Gamma(\Delta)} \left(\frac{4}{p^2}\right)^{\frac{d}{2} - \Delta}, \tag{A.1}$$

which we will use repeatedly in the following.

A.2 Two-point and comments on regularisation

The two-point conformal integral

$$I_{2\text{pt}}(y_1, y_2) = \int \frac{d^d y}{\left[(y_1 - y)^2 \right]^{a_1} \left[(y_2 - y)^2 \right]^{a_2}}, \qquad a_1 + a_2 = d, \tag{A.2}$$

appears universally in the computation of AdS two-point loop amplitudes. The regularisation of the latter integral generically produces two type of terms: one proportional to

⁴³In fact, the non-trivial contribution from \bigcirc -type tadpoles appears to arise from the 1/ \square -type nonlocality of quartic contact interactions in higher-spin gauge theories on AdS_{d+1} [61], which smears out the contact interaction to produce precisely the higher-spin blocks in the second line of (4.53) needed to recover the anomalous dimension. Notice that the expression of the four-point amplitude (4.54) purely in terms of higher-spin blocks indicates that any genuine contact contributions (i.e. not of the 1/ \square -type) cancel among each other to give a vanishing overall contribution to the anomalous dimension.

 $(y_{12}^2)^{-\frac{d}{2}}$ and a term proportional to $\log(y_{12}^2)$, which is the fingerprint of the generation of anomalous dimensions. By conformal invariance all divergent diagrams, regardless they are bubble or tadpoles \bigcirc , are proportional to the above 2 pt integral. It can be evaluated by taking the Fourier transform

$$\frac{1}{(2\pi)^{\frac{d}{2}}} \int d^d y_1 I_{2\text{pt}}(y_1, 0) e^{-iy_1 \cdot p}$$
(A.3)

$$=\frac{1}{\Gamma(a_1)\Gamma(a_2)}\int_0^\infty \frac{dt_1dt_2}{t_1t_2}t_1^{a_1}t_2^{a_2}\frac{1}{(2\pi)^{\frac{d}{2}}}\left(\int d^d y_1 e^{-t_1y_1^2-iy_1\cdot p}\right)\left(\int d^d y e^{-t_2y^2-iy\cdot p}\right),$$

where in the equality we sent $y_1 \rightarrow y_1 + y$ and employed the Schwinger parameterisation

$$\frac{1}{(x^2)^a} = \frac{1}{\Gamma(a)} \int_0^\infty \frac{dt}{t} t^a e^{-tx^2}.$$
 (A.4)

Evaluating the Gaussian integrals and performing the change of variables $t \to 1/t$, one finds

$$\frac{1}{(2\pi)^{\frac{d}{2}}} \int d^d y_1 I_{2\text{pt}}(y_1,0) e^{-iy_1 \cdot p} = \left(\frac{\pi}{2}\right)^{\frac{d}{2}} \frac{1}{\Gamma(a_1)\Gamma(a_2)} \int_0^\infty \frac{dt_1 dt_2}{t_1 t_2} t_1^{\frac{d}{2}-a_1} t_2^{\frac{d}{2}-a_2} e^{-(t_1+t_2)\frac{p^2}{4}}$$
(A.5)

$$= \left(\frac{\pi}{2}\right)^{\frac{d}{2}} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2} - a_1\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2} - a_2\right)}{\Gamma\left(a_1\right) \Gamma\left(a_2\right)} \left(\frac{4}{p^2}\right)^{d-a_1-a_2}, \qquad (A.6)$$

where in the second equality we used the integral representation of the Gamma function. Taking the inverse Fourier transform obtains the final expression

$$I_{2\text{pt}}(y_1, y_2) = \pi^{\frac{d}{2}} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2} - a_1\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2} - a_2\right)}{\Gamma(a_1) \Gamma(a_2)} \frac{\Gamma\left(a_1 + a_2 - \frac{d}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(d - a_1 - a_2)} \left(y_{12}^2\right)^{\frac{d}{2} - a_1 - a_2}, \quad (A.7)$$

and, in particular, for $a_1 + a_2 = d$ employing the dimensional regularisation in eq. (A.10) we have

$$I_{2\text{pt}}(y_1, y_2) = \frac{2\pi^{d/2} (y_{12}^2)^{-\frac{d}{2}} \left(\log(\pi(y_{12}^2)) - \psi^{(0)}\left(\frac{d}{2}\right) \right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)}, \qquad a_1 = a_2, \qquad (A.8a)$$

$$= 0, a_1 \neq a_2. (A.8b)$$

It is also interesting to study more generally the analytic structure of the above integral as a function of d, a_1 and a_2 which can be done in various ways. Considering a simple parameterisation of the type $a_1 = \frac{d}{2} + \epsilon_1 x$ and $a_2 = \frac{d}{2} + \epsilon_2 x$ and expanding in x one arrives at:

$$I_{2\text{pt}}(y_1, y_2) \sim \frac{\pi^{d/2} (y_{12}^2)^{-\frac{d}{2}} (\epsilon_1 + \epsilon_2)^2 \log((y_{12}^2))}{\epsilon_1 \epsilon_2 \Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} - \frac{\pi^{d/2} (y_{12}^2)^{-\frac{d}{2}} (\epsilon_1 + \epsilon_2)}{x \epsilon_1 \epsilon_2 \Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)}.$$
 (A.9)

The variant of dimensional regularisation mentioned above (which is here referred to as a prescription to regulate a divergent integral) is instead achieved with the parameterisation:⁴⁴

$$d^{\star} = d + \epsilon, \qquad a_1 = \frac{d}{2}, \qquad a_2 = \frac{d}{2}, \qquad (A.10)$$

⁴⁴To avoid any confusion it is useful to stress that a standard dimensional analytic continuation where one analytically continues the bulk Lagrangian to arbitrary dimensions does not define a regularisation of the theory in our case since this does not break the boundary conformal symmetry.

with d^{\star} the dimension of the measure. This gives

$$I_{2pt}(y_1, y_2) = \frac{\pi^{\frac{d+\epsilon}{2}} \Gamma\left(\frac{\epsilon}{2}\right)^2 \Gamma\left(\frac{d-\epsilon}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)^2 \Gamma(\epsilon)} (y_{12}^2)^{\frac{\epsilon-d}{2}} \\ \sim \frac{4\pi^{d/2} (y_{12}^2)^{-d/2}}{\epsilon \Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} + \frac{2\pi^{d/2} (y_{12}^2)^{-d/2} \left(\log(\pi(y_{12}^2)) - \psi^{(0)}\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)}.$$
(A.11)

Another possible regularisation consists in taking the limit $a_1 \rightarrow d/2$ at a_2 fixed and then take the limit $a_2 \rightarrow d/2$. In this case one obtains:

$$I_{2\text{pt}}(y_1, y_2) \sim -\frac{\pi^{d/2}(y_{12}^2)^{-\frac{d}{2}}}{\epsilon_1 \Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} - \frac{\pi^{d/2}(y_{12}^2)^{-\frac{d}{2}}}{\epsilon_2 \Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} + \frac{2\pi^{d/2}(y_{12}^2)^{-\frac{d}{2}}\log((y_{12}^2))}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)}, \quad (A.12)$$

giving a log coefficient $\frac{2\pi^{d/2}}{\Gamma(d/2)}$ which is the same as for dimensional regularisation but in a different subtraction scheme, since no wave function renormalisation is generated. Other choices of $\epsilon_1 = k \epsilon_2$ should not be admissible as they give different coefficients for the log.

In this work we stick to the above generalised dimensional regularisation as this allows to keep $a_1 = a_2 = \frac{d}{2}$ in the regularisation process. This regularisation also matches known expectations in the large-*N* expansion on the boundary side. Furthermore, it might be interesting to notice that all divergent conformal integrals we have encountered can be reduced to the same 2pt divergent conformal integral. Therefore, once a consistent regularisation scheme is identified for I_{2pt} , one should be able to consistently regulate all divergent conformal integrals.

A.3 Three-point

The three-point conformal integral

$$I_{3pt}(y_1, y_2, y_3) = \int \frac{d^d y}{\left[(y_1 - y)^2 \right]^{a_1} \left[(y_2 - y)^2 \right]^{a_2} \left[(y_3 - y)^2 \right]^{a_3}}, \quad a_1 + a_2 + a_3 = d, \quad (A.13)$$

arising in the computation of bubble diagrams can be evaluated using Schwinger parameterisation:

$$I_{3pt}(y_1, y_2, y_3) = \int \frac{d^d y}{\Gamma(a_1) \Gamma(a_2) \Gamma(a_3)} \int_0^\infty \frac{dt_1 dt_2 dt_3}{t_1 t_2 t_3} t_1^{a_1} t_2^{a_2} t_3^{a_3} e^{-\sum_i t_i (y_i - y)^2}.$$
 (A.14)

Writing

$$\sum_{i} t_i (y_i - y)^2 = T \left(y - \frac{1}{T} \sum_{i} t_i y_i \right)^2 + \frac{1}{T} \sum_{i < j} t_i t_j y_{ij}^2, \quad T = \sum_{i} t_i,$$
(A.15)

we can evaluate the integral in y to give

$$I_{3\text{pt}}(y_1, y_2, y_3) = \frac{\pi^{\frac{d}{2}}}{\Gamma(a_1) \,\Gamma(a_2) \,\Gamma(a_3)} \int_0^\infty \frac{dt_1 dt_2 dt_3}{t_1 t_2 t_3} t_1^{a_1} t_2^{a_2} t_3^{a_3} T^{-d/2} e^{-\frac{1}{T} \sum_{i < j} t_i t_j y_{ij}^2}.$$
 (A.16)

The crucial observation of Symanzik [40] was that, when $a_1 + a_2 + a_3 = d$, (A.16) is unchanged if we take instead $T = \sum_i \kappa_i t_i$ for any $\kappa_i \ge 0.45$ We can thus simply take, for instance, $T = t_3$ which gives the following final expression upon using the integral representation of the gamma function

$$I_{3\text{pt}}(y_1, y_2, y_3) = \frac{\pi^{d/2}}{\Gamma(a_1) \Gamma(a_2) \Gamma(a_3)} \frac{\Gamma(\frac{d}{2} - a_1) \Gamma(\frac{d}{2} - a_2) \Gamma(\frac{d}{2} - a_3)}{(y_{12}^2)^{\frac{d}{2} - a_3} (y_{13}^2)^{\frac{d}{2} - a_2} (y_{32}^2)^{\frac{d}{2} - a_1}}.$$
 (A.18)

A.4 *n*-point

The 3pt conformal integral discussed in the previous section admits a straightforward extension to n-points:

$$I_{n-\text{pt}} \equiv \int \frac{d^d y}{\prod_{i=1}^n \left[(y_i - y)^2 \right]^{a_i}}, \qquad \sum_i a_i = d \,, \tag{A.19}$$

via the Symanzik trick and employing the Cahen-Mellin identity:

$$e^{-z} = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{c-i\infty}^{c+i\infty} ds \,\Gamma(-s) \, z^s \,, \tag{A.20}$$

valid for c < 0 and $|\arg(z)| < \frac{\pi}{2}$. The procedure is to first perform the Gaussian integration after employing the Schwinger parametrisation as in the 3pt case and use Cahen-Mellin formula in such a way to perform all Schwinger parameter integrations. The final result is given by Symanzik \star formula and reads:

$$I_{n-pt}(y_i) = \frac{\pi^{d/2}}{\prod_i \Gamma(a_i)} \oint d\delta_{ij} \prod_{i < j} \Gamma(\delta_{ij})(y_{ij})^{-\delta_{ij}}, \qquad (A.21)$$

where the contour integration measure is defined as (see also [115])

$$\oint d\delta_{ij} \equiv \frac{2}{(2\pi i)^{\frac{n(n-3)}{2}}} \int_{c-i\infty}^{c+i\infty} \prod_{i$$

where the constant c is selected to ensure that all poles of gamma functions are on the left or right of the integration paths.

A.5 Bubble integral and alternative regularisations

In this section we study a different regularisation of the bubble conformal integrals which do not rely on analytically continuing the boundary dimension but instead a deformation

$$\frac{dt_1 dt_2 dt_3}{t_1 t_2 t_3} t_1^{a_1} t_2^{a_2} t_3^{a_3} = \frac{d\alpha_1 d\alpha_2 d\alpha_3}{\alpha_1 \alpha_2 \alpha_3} \alpha_1^{a_1} \alpha_2^{a_2} \alpha_3^{a_3} \delta\left(1 - \sum_i \kappa_i \alpha_i\right) d\sigma \sigma^{d-1}.$$
(A.17)

In performing the integration over σ the explicit dependence on T disappears.

⁴⁵This can be seen by making the change of variables $t_i = \sigma \alpha_i$ with α_i constrained by $\sum_i \kappa_i \alpha_i = 1$. For the integration measure we have

of the bulk Harmonic functions appearing in the bulk-to-bulk propagators. In the spirit of large-N conformal field theories one can indeed regularise all boundary conformal integrals deforming asymptotic behaviour of one of the bulk-to-boundary propagators in the split representation (3.9) of the harmonic functions as:

$$\Omega_{\nu,J} = \frac{\nu^2}{\pi} \int_{\partial \text{AdS}} dP \, C_{\frac{d}{2} + i\nu,J} \, C_{\frac{d}{2} - i\nu,J} \widehat{K}_{\frac{d}{2} + i\nu - \epsilon,J} \widehat{K}_{\frac{d}{2} - i\nu,J}, \tag{A.23}$$

where

.

$$\widehat{K}_{\Delta,J}(X,U;P,Z) = \left(U \cdot Z - \frac{U \cdot PZ \cdot X}{P \cdot X}\right)^s \frac{1}{\left(-2P \cdot X\right)^{\Delta}},\tag{A.24}$$

is the bulk-to-boundary propagator without normalisation factor.

With such deformed harmonic functions the basic scalar bubble conformal integral is not conformal:

$$\int d^d y \, d^d \bar{y} [[\mathcal{O}_{\Delta}(y_1)\mathcal{O}_{\frac{d}{2}+i\nu-\epsilon}(y)\mathcal{O}_{\frac{d}{2}+i\bar{\nu}-\epsilon}(\bar{y})]] [[\mathcal{O}_{\frac{d}{2}-i\nu}(\bar{y})\mathcal{O}_{\frac{d}{2}-i\bar{\nu}}(y)\mathcal{O}_{\Delta}(y_2)]].$$
(A.25)

One can still perform the integral rewriting it in Mellin space using the identity:

$$\int d^{d}y_{\mathsf{x}} d^{d}y_{\mathsf{y}} \frac{1}{(y_{1\mathsf{x}}^{2})^{\alpha_{1}} (y_{2\mathsf{x}}^{2})^{\alpha_{2}} (y_{x\mathsf{y}}^{2})^{\gamma} (y_{1\mathsf{y}}^{2})^{\beta_{1}} (y_{2\mathsf{y}}^{2})^{\beta_{2}}} = \frac{1}{(y_{12}^{2})^{d-\alpha_{1}-\alpha_{2}-\beta_{1}-\beta_{2}-\gamma}}$$

$$\pi^{d}$$
(A.26)

$$\times \frac{\Gamma(\alpha_1)\Gamma(\alpha_2)\Gamma(\gamma)\Gamma(d-\alpha_1-\alpha_2-\gamma)}{\Gamma(\alpha_2)\Gamma(\gamma)\Gamma(d-\alpha_1-\alpha_2-\gamma)} \\ \times \int_{-i\infty}^{+i\infty} \frac{ds \, dt}{(2\pi i)^2} \frac{\Gamma(-s)\Gamma(-t)\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}+s+t-\gamma\right)\Gamma(d+s-\alpha_2-\beta_2-\gamma)\Gamma(d+t-\alpha_1-\beta_1-\gamma)\Gamma(d+s+t-\alpha_1-\alpha_2-\gamma)}{\Gamma(2d+s+t-\alpha_1-\alpha_2-\beta_1-\beta_2-2\gamma)} \\ \times \frac{\Gamma\left(-\frac{d}{2}-s+\alpha_2+\gamma\right)\Gamma\left(-\frac{d}{2}-t+\alpha_1+\gamma\right)\Gamma\left(-\frac{3d}{2}-s-t+\alpha_1+\alpha_2+\beta_1+\beta_2+2\gamma\right)}{\Gamma\left(-\frac{d}{2}-s+\alpha_2+\beta_2+\gamma\right)\Gamma\left(-\frac{d}{2}-t+\alpha_1+\beta_1+\gamma\right)} \,.$$

The limit $\epsilon \to 0$ can be performed as usual for Mellin integrals starting from a region where each Γ -function argument is positive and analytically continuing while keeping track of contour crossings. In our case the only contribution proportional to $\log(y_{12}^2)$ comes from the residue at s = 0 and t = 0 where for $\epsilon \to 0$ the integration contour is pinched. The result reads:

$$\int d^{d}y \, d^{d}\bar{y} [[\mathcal{O}_{\Delta}(y_{1})\mathcal{O}_{\frac{d}{2}+i\nu-\epsilon}(y)\mathcal{O}_{\frac{d}{2}+i\bar{\nu}-\epsilon}(\bar{y})]] [[\mathcal{O}_{\frac{d}{2}-i\nu}(\bar{y})\mathcal{O}_{\frac{d}{2}-i\bar{\nu}}(y)\mathcal{O}_{\Delta}(y_{2})]] = \\ = \frac{2\pi^{d}\Gamma\left(\Delta - \frac{d}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2} - \Delta + \frac{\Delta - i(\nu-\bar{\nu})}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2} - \Delta + \frac{\Delta + i(\nu-\bar{\nu})}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)\Gamma(d-\Delta)\Gamma\left(\frac{\Delta - i(\nu-\bar{\nu})}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{\Delta + i(\nu-\bar{\nu})}{2}\right)}\frac{\log(y_{12}^{2})}{(y_{12}^{2})^{\Delta}} + \dots, \quad (A.27)$$

where the \ldots give terms not proportional to a log and the log-term matches the result obtained by analytically continuing the boundary space-time dimension in (2.14). While the log-term does not depend on the regularisation the \ldots depend explicitly on the regularisation and in this case are expressed in terms of a Mellin-Barnes integral which contributes to the 2-pt function normalisation.

A.6 Decomposition of bubble integrals

In this appendix we explain how to decompose the conformal integrals (3.2):

$$\mathfrak{K}_{s_{1},s_{2};s_{x},s_{y}}^{(\mathbf{n},\mathbf{m})}(\nu,\bar{\nu}\,;y_{1},y_{2}) = \int d^{d}y_{\mathsf{x}}d^{d}y_{\mathsf{y}} \left[\left[\mathcal{O}_{\Delta_{1},s_{1}}(y_{1},z_{1})\mathcal{O}_{\Delta_{\mathsf{x}},s_{\mathsf{x}}}(y_{\mathsf{x}},\hat{\partial}_{z_{\mathsf{x}}})\mathcal{O}_{\Delta_{\mathsf{y}},s_{\mathsf{y}}}(y_{\mathsf{y}},\hat{\partial}_{z_{\mathsf{y}}}) \right] \right]^{(\mathbf{n})} \times \left[\left[\mathcal{O}_{d-\Delta_{\mathsf{y}},s_{\mathsf{y}}}(y_{\mathsf{y}},z_{\mathsf{y}})\mathcal{O}_{d-\Delta_{\mathsf{x}},s_{\mathsf{x}}}(y_{\mathsf{x}},z_{\mathsf{x}})\mathcal{O}_{\Delta_{2},s_{2}}(y_{2},z_{2}) \right] \right]^{(\mathbf{m})}, \quad (A.28)$$

which arise from spinning two-point bubble diagrams in terms of basic conformal integrals of the form:

$$\mathfrak{I}_{\alpha_{1},\alpha_{2},\gamma,\beta_{1},\beta_{2}}^{a_{1},a_{2},b_{1},b_{2}} \equiv \int d^{d}y_{\mathsf{x}}d^{d}y_{\mathsf{y}} \, \frac{(z_{1} \cdot y_{1\mathsf{x}})^{a_{1}}(z_{2} \cdot y_{2\mathsf{x}})^{a_{2}}(z_{1} \cdot y_{1\mathsf{y}})^{b_{1}}(z_{2} \cdot y_{2\mathsf{y}})^{b_{2}}}{(y_{1\mathsf{x}}^{2})^{\alpha_{1}}(y_{2\mathsf{x}}^{2})^{\alpha_{2}}(y_{\mathsf{xy}}^{2})^{\gamma}(y_{1\mathsf{y}}^{2})^{\beta_{1}}(y_{2\mathsf{y}}^{2})^{\beta_{2}}} \,, \tag{A.29}$$

where conformal invariance requires:

$$\alpha_1 - a_1 + \alpha_2 - a_2 + \gamma = d$$
, $\beta_1 - b_1 + \beta_2 - b_2 + \gamma = d$. (A.30)

By using the series expansion around z = 0

$$J_{\alpha}(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^{k}}{k! \Gamma(k+\alpha+1)} \left(\frac{z}{2}\right)^{2k+\alpha},$$
 (A.31)

of the Bessel functions present in the three-point conformal structures (3.16), the integrand of (A.28) can be reduced to a linear sum of monomials of the form:

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{Q}_{\mathbf{p},\bar{\mathbf{p}}} &= \left[\mathsf{Y}_{1,\mathsf{y}\mathsf{x}}^{s_1-p_\mathsf{x}-p_\mathsf{y}} \bar{\mathsf{Y}}_{\mathsf{x},1\mathsf{y}}^{s_\mathsf{x}-p_\mathsf{y}-p_1} \bar{\mathsf{Y}}_{\mathsf{y},\mathsf{x}1}^{s_\mathsf{y}-p_1-p_\mathsf{x}} \bar{\mathsf{H}}_{\mathsf{y}\mathsf{x}}^{p_1} \bar{\mathsf{H}}_{1\mathsf{y}}^{p_\mathsf{y}} \bar{\mathsf{H}}_{\mathsf{x}1}^{p_\mathsf{y}} \right] \left[\mathsf{Y}_{2,\mathsf{y}\mathsf{x}}^{s_2-\bar{p}_\mathsf{x}-\bar{p}_\mathsf{y}} \mathsf{Y}_{\mathsf{x},2\mathsf{y}}^{s_\mathsf{y}-p_2-\bar{p}_\mathsf{x}} \mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{y}\mathsf{x}}^{p_\mathsf{z}} \mathsf{H}_{2\mathsf{y}}^{p_\mathsf{y}} \mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{x}2}^{p_\mathsf{y}} \right] \\ &\times \frac{1}{(y_{1\mathsf{x}}^2)^{\delta_{1\mathsf{x}}} (y_{\mathsf{x}\mathsf{y}}^2)^{\delta_{\mathsf{x}\mathsf{y}}} (y_{1\mathsf{y}}^2)^{\delta_{\mathsf{y}1}}} \frac{1}{(y_{2\mathsf{y}}^2)^{\bar{\delta}_{2\mathsf{y}}} (y_{\mathsf{x}\mathsf{y}}^2)^{\bar{\delta}_{\mathsf{y}\mathsf{x}}} (y_{2\mathsf{x}}^2)^{\bar{\delta}_{\mathsf{y}\mathsf{x}}}}, \end{split} \tag{A.32}$$

where

$$\delta_{xy} = \frac{1}{2}(\tau_x + \tau_y - \tau_1), \qquad \delta_{1x} = \frac{1}{2}(\tau_1 + \tau_x - \tau_y), \qquad \delta_{1y} = \frac{1}{2}(\tau_1 + \tau_y - \tau_x), \qquad (A.33a)$$

$$\bar{\delta}_{xy} = \frac{1}{2}(\tau_1 + \tau_y - \tau_x), \qquad \bar{\delta}_{xy} = \frac{1}{2}(\tau_1 + \tau_y - \tau_y), \qquad \bar{\delta}_{xy} = \frac{1}{2}(\tau_1 + \tau_y - \tau_y), \qquad (A.33a)$$

$$\bar{\delta}_{xy} = d - \Delta_x - \Delta_y + \frac{1}{2}(\tau_x + \tau_y - \tau_2), \quad \bar{\delta}_{2x} = \Delta_y - \Delta_x + \frac{1}{2}(\tau_2 + \tau_x - \tau_y), \quad \bar{\delta}_{1y} = \Delta_x - \Delta_y + \frac{1}{2}(\tau_2 + \tau_y - \tau_x), \quad (A.33b)$$

with twists $\tau_i = \Delta_i - s_i$. The conformal building blocks in this case read explicitly:

$$\mathbf{Y}_{1,yx} = \frac{z_1 \cdot y_{y1}}{y_{y1}^2} - \frac{z_1 \cdot y_{x1}}{y_{x1}^2}, \qquad \qquad \mathbf{Y}_{2,yx} = \frac{z_2 \cdot y_{y2}}{y_{y2}^2} - \frac{z_2 \cdot y_{x2}}{y_{x2}^2}, \qquad (A.34a)$$

$$\bar{\mathbf{Y}}_{\mathbf{x},1\mathbf{y}} = \frac{\hat{\partial}_{z_{\mathbf{x}}} \cdot y_{1\mathbf{x}}}{y_{1\mathbf{x}}^2} - \frac{\hat{\partial}_{z_{\mathbf{x}}} \cdot y_{\mathbf{y}\mathbf{x}}}{y_{\mathbf{y}\mathbf{x}}^2}, \qquad \qquad \mathbf{Y}_{\mathbf{x},2\mathbf{y}} = \frac{z_{\mathbf{x}} \cdot y_{2\mathbf{y}}}{y_{2\mathbf{y}}^2} - \frac{z_{\mathbf{x}} \cdot y_{\mathbf{y}\mathbf{x}}}{y_{\mathbf{y}\mathbf{x}}^2}, \qquad (A.34b)$$

$$\begin{split} \bar{\mathsf{Y}}_{\mathsf{y},\mathsf{x}1} &= \frac{\hat{\partial}_{z_{\mathsf{y}}} \cdot y_{\mathsf{x}\mathsf{y}}}{y_{\mathsf{x}\mathsf{y}}^2} - \frac{\hat{\partial}_{z_{\mathsf{y}}} \cdot y_{1\mathsf{y}}}{y_{1\mathsf{y}}^2}, \qquad \qquad \mathsf{Y}_{\mathsf{y},\mathsf{x}2} &= \frac{z_{\mathsf{y}} \cdot y_{\mathsf{x}\mathsf{y}}}{y_{\mathsf{x}\mathsf{y}}^2} - \frac{z_{\mathsf{y}} \cdot y_{2\mathsf{y}}}{y_{2\mathsf{y}}^2}, \qquad \qquad (A.34c) \\ \bar{\mathsf{H}}_{\mathsf{y}\mathsf{x}} &= \frac{1}{y_{\mathsf{x}\mathsf{y}}^2} \left(\hat{\partial}_{z_{\mathsf{x}}} \cdot \hat{\partial}_{z_{\mathsf{y}}} + \frac{2\hat{\partial}_{z_{\mathsf{x}}} \cdot y_{\mathsf{x}\mathsf{y}}}{y_{\mathsf{x}\mathsf{y}}^2} \right), \qquad \qquad \mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{y}\mathsf{x}} &= \frac{1}{y_{\mathsf{x}\mathsf{y}}^2} \left(z_{\mathsf{x}} \cdot z_{\mathsf{y}} + \frac{2z_{\mathsf{x}} \cdot y_{\mathsf{x}\mathsf{y}}}{y_{\mathsf{x}\mathsf{y}}^2} \right), \qquad (A.34d) \end{split}$$

$$\bar{\mathsf{H}}_{yx} = \frac{1}{y_{xy}^2} \left(\hat{\partial}_{z_x} \cdot \hat{\partial}_{z_y} + \frac{2\hat{\partial}_{z_x} \cdot y_{xy} \hat{\partial}_{z_y} \cdot y_{yx}}{y_{xy}^2} \right), \quad \mathsf{H}_{yx} = \frac{1}{y_{xy}^2} \left(z_x \cdot z_y + \frac{2z_x \cdot y_{xy} z_y \cdot y_{yx}}{y_{xy}^2} \right), \quad (A.34d)$$
$$\bar{\mathsf{H}}_{1y} = \frac{1}{y_{xy}^2} \left(\hat{\partial}_{z_y} \cdot z_1 + \frac{2\hat{\partial}_{z_y} \cdot y_{y1} z_1 \cdot y_{1y}}{y_{xy}^2} \right), \quad \mathsf{H}_{2y} = \frac{1}{y_{xy}^2} \left(z_y \cdot z_2 + \frac{2z_y \cdot y_{y2} z_2 \cdot y_{2y}}{y_{xy}^2} \right), \quad (A.34e)$$

$$\mathsf{H}_{2\mathsf{y}} = \frac{1}{y_{\mathsf{y}2}^2} \left(z_{\mathsf{y}} \cdot z_2 + \frac{2z_{\mathsf{y}} \cdot y_{\mathsf{y}2} \, z_2 \cdot y_{2\mathsf{y}}}{y_{\mathsf{x}\mathsf{y}}^2} \right), \ (A.34e)$$

$$\bar{\mathsf{H}}_{\mathsf{x}1} = \frac{1}{y_{1\mathsf{x}}^2} \left(z_1 \cdot \hat{\partial}_{z_\mathsf{x}} + \frac{2z_1 \cdot y_{1\mathsf{x}} \hat{\partial}_{z_\mathsf{x}} \cdot y_{\mathsf{x}1}}{y_{1\mathsf{x}}^2} \right), \qquad \mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{x}2} = \frac{1}{y_{2\mathsf{x}}^2} \left(z_2 \cdot z_\mathsf{x} + \frac{2z_2 \cdot y_{2\mathsf{x}} z_\mathsf{x} \cdot y_{\mathsf{x}2}}{y_{2\mathsf{x}}^2} \right). \quad (A.34f)$$

The main step is to evaluate the Thomas derivatives $\hat{\partial}_{z_x}$ and $\hat{\partial}_{z_y}$ in (A.32). To this end, it's useful to introduce the combinations:

$$\xi_{\mathsf{x}} \cdot \hat{\partial}_{z_{\mathsf{x}}} = \bar{\mathsf{Y}}_{\mathsf{x},1\mathsf{y}} + \lambda_{\mathsf{y}}\bar{\mathsf{H}}_{\mathsf{x}1}, \qquad \qquad \bar{\xi}_{\mathsf{x}} \cdot z_{\mathsf{x}} = \mathsf{Y}_{\mathsf{x},2\mathsf{y}} + \bar{\lambda}_{\mathsf{y}}\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{x}2}, \qquad (A.35a)$$

$$\xi_{\mathbf{y}} \cdot \hat{\partial}_{z_{\mathbf{y}}} = \bar{\mathbf{Y}}_{\mathbf{y},\mathbf{x}1} + \lambda_{\mathbf{x}} \bar{\mathbf{H}}_{1\mathbf{y}}, \qquad \qquad \bar{\xi}_{\mathbf{y}} \cdot z_{\mathbf{x}} = \mathbf{Y}_{\mathbf{y},\mathbf{x}2} + \bar{\lambda}_{\mathbf{x}} \mathbf{H}_{2\mathbf{y}}, \qquad (A.35b)$$

and the differential operators:

$$\mathcal{O}_{\bar{\mathsf{H}}_{\mathsf{yx}}} = \frac{1}{y_{\mathsf{xy}}^2} \left(\partial_{\xi_{\mathsf{x}}} \cdot \partial_{\xi_{\mathsf{y}}} - \frac{2}{y_{\mathsf{xy}}^2} \, y_{\mathsf{xy}} \cdot \partial_{\xi_{\mathsf{x}}} y_{\mathsf{xy}} \cdot \partial_{\xi_{\mathsf{y}}} \right) \,, \tag{A.36}$$

$$\mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{y}\mathsf{x}}} = \frac{1}{y_{\mathsf{x}\mathsf{y}}^2} \left(\partial_{\bar{\xi}_{\mathsf{x}}} \cdot \partial_{\bar{\xi}_{\mathsf{y}}} - \frac{2}{y_{\mathsf{x}\mathsf{y}}^2} y_{\mathsf{x}\mathsf{y}} \cdot \partial_{\bar{\xi}_{\mathsf{x}}} y_{\mathsf{x}\mathsf{y}} \cdot \partial_{\bar{\xi}_{\mathsf{y}}} \right) \,, \tag{A.37}$$

which have the property: $\mathcal{O}_{\bar{H}_{yx}}(\xi_x\xi_y) = \bar{H}_{yx}$ and $\mathcal{O}_{H_{yx}}(\bar{\xi}_x\bar{\xi}_y) = H_{yx}$. This allows us to define the following generating function:

$$\mathfrak{Q}(\lambda,\bar{\lambda}) = \frac{1}{(s_{\mathsf{x}} - p_{1} + 1)_{p_{1}}(s_{\mathsf{y}} - p_{1} + 1)_{p_{1}}(s_{\mathsf{x}} - p_{2} + 1)_{p_{2}}(s_{\mathsf{y}} - p_{2} + 1)_{p_{2}}} \times \mathsf{Y}_{1,\mathsf{y}\mathsf{x}}^{s_{1} - p_{\mathsf{x}} - p_{\mathsf{y}}} \mathsf{Y}_{2,\mathsf{y}\mathsf{x}}^{s_{2} - \bar{p}_{\mathsf{x}} - \bar{p}_{\mathsf{y}}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{y}\mathsf{x}}}^{p_{1}} \left[(\xi_{\mathsf{x}} \cdot \hat{\partial}_{z_{\mathsf{x}}})^{s_{\mathsf{x}}} (\bar{\xi}_{\mathsf{x}} \cdot z_{\mathsf{x}})^{s_{\mathsf{x}}} \right] \left[(\xi_{\mathsf{y}} \cdot \hat{\partial}_{z_{\mathsf{y}}})^{s_{\mathsf{y}}} (\bar{\xi}_{\mathsf{y}} \cdot z_{\mathsf{y}})^{s_{\mathsf{y}}} \right],$$
(A.38)

from which (A.32) can be recovered via

$$\mathfrak{Q}_{\mathbf{p},\bar{\mathbf{p}}} = \frac{(s_{\mathsf{y}} - p_1 - p_{\mathsf{x}})!(s_{\mathsf{y}} - p_2 - \bar{p}_{\mathsf{x}})!(s_{\mathsf{x}} - p_1 - p_{\mathsf{y}})!(s_{\mathsf{x}} - p_2 - \bar{p}_{\mathsf{y}})!}{(s_{\mathsf{x}} - p_1)!(s_{\mathsf{y}} - p_1)!(s_{\mathsf{x}} - p_2)!(s_{\mathsf{y}} - p_2)!} \partial_{\xi_{\mathsf{x}}}^{p_{\mathsf{y}}} \partial_{\xi_{\mathsf{y}}}^{p_{\mathsf{x}}} \partial_{\xi_{\mathsf{y}}}^{\bar{p}_{\mathsf{x}}} \mathfrak{Q}_{\xi_{\mathsf{y}}}^{p_{\mathsf{x}}} \partial_{\xi_{\mathsf{y}}}^{p_{\mathsf{x}}} \mathfrak{Q}_{\xi_{\mathsf{y}}}^{p_{\mathsf{x}}} \partial_{\xi_{\mathsf{y}}}^{p_{\mathsf{x}}} \mathfrak{Q}_{\xi_{\mathsf{y}}}^{p_{\mathsf{x}}} \partial_{\xi_{\mathsf{y}}}^{p_{\mathsf{x}}} \partial_{\xi_{\mathsf{y}}}^{p_{\mathsf{x}}} \mathfrak{Q}_{\xi_{\mathsf{y}}}^{p_{\mathsf{x}}} \partial_{\xi_{\mathsf{y}}}^{p_{\mathsf{x}}} \mathfrak{Q}_{\xi_{\mathsf{y}}}^{p_{\mathsf{x}}} \mathfrak{Q}_{\xi_{\mathsf{y}}}$$

Above and also in the following discussion, for convenience the presence of the factor in the second line of (A.32) is left implicit. The generating function (A.38) is convenient, for it allows to straightforwardly evaluate the Thomas derivatives by simply using that

$$(a \cdot \hat{\partial}_z)^k (b \cdot z)^k = \frac{k!}{2^k \left(\frac{d}{2} - 1\right)_k} \left(a^2 b^2\right)^{k/2} C_k^{\left(\frac{d}{2} - 1\right)} \left(\frac{a \cdot b}{\sqrt{a^2 b^2}}\right), \tag{A.40}$$

in terms of a Gegenbauer polynomial. This gives

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{Q}\left(\lambda,\bar{\lambda}\right) &= \frac{1}{(s_{\mathsf{x}} - p_{1} + 1)_{p_{1}}(s_{\mathsf{y}} - p_{1} + 1)_{p_{1}}(s_{\mathsf{x}} - p_{2} + 1)_{p_{2}}(s_{\mathsf{y}} - p_{2} + 1)_{p_{2}}} \frac{s_{\mathsf{x}}!}{2^{s_{\mathsf{x}}}(\frac{d}{2} - 1)_{s_{\mathsf{x}}}} \frac{s_{\mathsf{y}}!}{2^{s_{\mathsf{y}}}(\frac{d}{2} - 1)_{s_{\mathsf{y}}}} \\ &\times \mathsf{Y}_{1,\mathsf{y}\mathsf{x}}^{s_{1} - p_{\mathsf{x}} - p_{\mathsf{y}}} \mathsf{Y}_{2,\mathsf{y}\mathsf{x}}^{s_{2} - \bar{p}_{\mathsf{x}} - \bar{p}_{\mathsf{y}}} \mathcal{O}_{\bar{\mathsf{H}}_{\mathsf{y}\mathsf{x}}} \left\{ \left[\xi_{\mathsf{x}}^{2} \bar{\xi}_{\mathsf{x}}^{2} \right]^{s_{\mathsf{x}}/2} C_{s_{\mathsf{x}}}^{(\frac{d}{2} - 1)} \left(\frac{\xi_{\mathsf{x}} \cdot \bar{\xi}_{\mathsf{x}}}{[\xi_{\mathsf{x}}^{2} \bar{\xi}_{\mathsf{x}}^{2}]^{1/2}} \right) [\xi_{\mathsf{y}}^{2} \bar{\xi}_{\mathsf{y}}^{2}]^{s_{\mathsf{y}}/2} C_{s_{\mathsf{y}}}^{(\frac{d}{2} - 1)} \left(\frac{\xi_{\mathsf{y}} \cdot \bar{\xi}_{\mathsf{y}}}{[\xi_{\mathsf{y}}^{2} \bar{\xi}_{\mathsf{y}}^{2}]^{1/2}} \right) \right] \right\}. \end{split}$$

Upon expanding the Gegenbauer polynomials, one obtains

$$\mathfrak{Q} =$$

$$= \frac{2^{s_{x}+s_{y}}}{(s_{x}-n_{1}+1)_{n_{1}}(s_{y}-n_{1}+1)_{n_{1}}(s_{x}-n_{2}+1)_{n_{2}}(s_{y}-n_{2}+1)_{n_{2}}}\frac{s_{x}!}{2^{s_{x}}\Gamma(\frac{d}{2}-1+s_{x})}\frac{s_{y}!}{2^{s_{y}}\Gamma(\frac{d}{2}-1+s_{y})}$$

$$\times \sum_{k_{1}=0}^{\lfloor s_{x}/2 \rfloor} \sum_{k_{2}=0}^{\lfloor s_{y}/2 \rfloor} (-1)^{k_{1}+k_{2}} \frac{\Gamma\left(s_{x}-k_{1}+\frac{d}{2}-1\right)\Gamma\left(s_{y}-k_{2}+\frac{d}{2}-1\right)}{2^{2(k_{1}+k_{2})}k_{1}!\left(s_{x}-2k_{1}\right)!k_{2}!\left(s_{y}-2k_{2}\right)!}$$

$$\times Y_{1,yx}^{s_{1}-n_{x}-n_{y}} Y_{2,yx}^{s_{2}-\bar{n}_{x}-\bar{n}_{y}} \mathcal{O}_{\bar{H}_{yx}}^{n_{1}} \left\{ \left[\xi_{x}^{2}\bar{\xi}_{x}^{2}\right]^{2k_{1}-s_{x}/2} \left[\xi_{y}^{2}\bar{\xi}_{y}^{2}\right]^{2k_{2}-s_{y}/2} \left(\xi_{x}\cdot\bar{\xi}_{x}\right)^{s_{x}-2k_{1}} \left(\xi_{y}\cdot\bar{\xi}_{y}\right)^{s_{y}-2k_{2}} \right\},$$

$$(A.42)$$

which gives a nested sum of the conformal integrals (A.29) upon evaluating the \mathcal{O}_{H} and expanding the Y's, H's, ξ 's and $\bar{\xi}$'s, for which the following identities are useful:

$$y_{ij} \cdot y_{kl} = -y_{ik} \cdot y_{lk} + y_{jk} \cdot y_{lk} ,$$
 (A.43)

$$y_{ij} \cdot y_{kj} = \frac{1}{2} (y_{ij}^2 + y_{kj}^2 - y_{ik}^2), \qquad (A.44)$$

$$z_i \cdot y_{jk} = z_i \cdot y_{ik} - z_i \cdot y_{ij} \,. \tag{A.45}$$

Particularly simple with respect to the general case is the situation in which one of the internal legs in the bubble is scalar. In this case indeed $n_1 = n_2 = 0$ and the full conformal integral can be expressed by a Gegenbauer polynomial while the action of the differential operator trivialises.

A.7 Shadow bulk-to-boundary propagator

In this section we prove the integral relationship (4.42) of footnote 39 between bulk-toboundary propagators of different conformally invariant boundary conditions for the case J = 0, as relevant for this work.

This is most straightforward working in ambient space. The r.h.s. of (4.42) for J = 0 reads:

$$- (\Delta_{+} - \Delta_{-}) \int_{\partial \mathrm{AdS}} d\bar{P} K_{\Delta_{+}} (P; \bar{P}) K_{\Delta_{-}} (X; \bar{P})$$

$$= - (\Delta_{+} - \Delta_{-}) C_{\Delta_{+},0} C_{\Delta_{-},0} \int_{\partial \mathrm{AdS}} d\bar{P} \frac{1}{(-2P \cdot \bar{P})^{\Delta_{+}}} \frac{1}{(-2X \cdot \bar{P})^{\Delta_{-}}}. \quad (A.46)$$

Using Feynman parameterisation:

$$\int_{\partial \mathrm{AdS}} d\bar{P} \frac{1}{\left(-2P \cdot \bar{P}\right)^{\Delta_{+}}} \frac{1}{\left(-2X \cdot \bar{P}\right)^{\Delta_{-}}} = \int_{\partial \mathrm{AdS}} d\bar{P} \frac{\Gamma\left(d\right)}{\Gamma\left(\Delta_{+}\right)\Gamma\left(\Delta_{-}\right)} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\lambda \frac{\lambda^{\Delta_{+}-1}}{\left(-2\bar{P} \cdot Y\right)^{d}},$$
(A.47)

where: $Y^A = X^A + \lambda P^A$, it is straightforward to perform the conformal integral in \overline{P} :

$$\int_{\partial \text{AdS}} d\bar{P} \frac{1}{\left(-2\bar{P}\cdot Y\right)^d} = \frac{\pi^{d/2}\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(d\right)} \frac{1}{\left(-Y^2\right)^{d/2}}.$$
(A.48)

The remaining integral in λ is given by the Beta function, which yields:

$$\int_{\partial \text{AdS}} d\bar{P} \, \frac{1}{\left(-2P \cdot \bar{P}\right)^{\Delta_{+}}} \frac{1}{\left(-2X \cdot \bar{P}\right)^{\Delta_{-}}} = \pi^{d/2} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2} - \Delta_{+}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\Delta_{-}\right)} \frac{1}{\left(-2P \cdot X\right)^{\Delta_{+}}}.\tag{A.49}$$

Using the explicit form (2.3) of the propagator normalisation, this finally gives:

$$-(\Delta_{+} - \Delta_{-}) \int_{\partial \text{AdS}} d\bar{P} K_{\Delta_{+}} (P; \bar{P}) K_{\Delta_{-}} (X; \bar{P}) = K_{\Delta_{+},0} (X; P).$$
(A.50)

В Coincident point propagator

In this appendix we show how the split representation relates to the standard expressions for the coincident point limit of the bulk-to-bulk propagator. We will evaluate the following bulk integral:⁴⁶

$$\mathcal{Z}_{\Delta,s} = \int_{\text{AdS}} \text{Tr}[G_{\Delta,s}(X,X)].$$
(B.1)

Without loss of generality we can restrict the attention to the TT part of the propagator which encodes the physical degrees of freedom. Using the split representation the above vacuum bubble therefore reads:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{Z}_{\Delta,s} &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\nu \underbrace{\frac{\nu^2}{\pi} \frac{1}{\nu^2 + (\Delta - \frac{d}{2})^2} C_{\frac{d}{2} + i\nu,s} C_{\frac{d}{2} - i\nu,s}}_{f_{(\Delta,s)}(\nu)} \\ &\times \int_{\partial \text{AdS}} dP \int_{\text{AdS}_{d+1}} dX \frac{(\partial_{W_1} \cdot D_{W_2})^s}{(s!)^2} \\ &\times \frac{\left\{ [(-2P \cdot X)W_1 + (2W_1 \cdot P)X] \cdot \hat{\partial}_Z \right\}^s \{Z \cdot [(-2P \cdot X)W_2 + (2W_2 \cdot P)X] \}^s}{s! (-2P \cdot X)^d} , \end{aligned}$$
(B.2)

where $\frac{(\partial_{W_1} \cdot D_{W_2})^s}{(s!)^2 \left(\frac{d-1}{2}\right)_s}$ defines the trace operation with respect to the tangent and light-like auxiliary variables W_1 and W_2 in terms of the AdS Thomas-D derivative:⁴⁷

$$D_{U^A} = (\mathcal{P} \cdot \partial_U)_A, \qquad (B.3a)$$

$$\hat{D}_{W^A} = \partial_{W^A} - \frac{1}{d - 1 + 2W \cdot \mathcal{P} \cdot \partial_W} W_A \left(\partial_W \cdot \mathcal{P} \cdot \partial_W \right), \tag{B.3b}$$

Carrying the above derivative contractions and integrations using the identities:

$$\frac{1}{s!}(A \cdot \hat{\partial}_Z)^s (Z \cdot B)^s = \frac{s!}{2^s \left(\frac{d}{2} - 1\right)_s} [A^2 B^2]^{s/2} G_s^{\left(\frac{d}{2} - 1\right)} \left(\frac{A \cdot B}{\sqrt{A^2 B^2}}\right), \qquad (B.4)$$

$$\int_{\partial AdS} dP \, \frac{(W_1 \cdot P)^2 (W_2 \cdot P)^s}{(-2P \cdot X)^{d+2s}} = \frac{2^{1-d-3s} \pi^{\frac{d+1}{2}} s!}{\Gamma(s + \frac{d+1}{2})} \, (W_1 \cdot W_2)^s \,, \tag{B.5}$$

$$\frac{(\partial_{W_1} \cdot D_{W_2})^s}{(s!)^2} \left(W_1 \cdot W_2\right)^s = \frac{(d+2s-1)(d+s-2)!}{(d-1)! \, s!} \,,\tag{B.6}$$

one arrives to the following equation:

$$\mathcal{Z}_{(\Delta,s)} = V_{\mathrm{AdS}_{d+1}} \frac{2^{1-d} \pi^{\frac{d+1}{2}}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d+1}{2}\right)} g_s \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\nu f_{(\Delta,s)}(\nu) , \qquad (B.7)$$

where $V_{AdS_{d+1}} = \pi^{d/2} \Gamma\left(-\frac{d}{2}\right)$ is the AdS_{d+1} regularised volume and one can recognise the spectral density:

$$f_{(\Delta,s)}(\nu) = \frac{1}{4\pi^{d+2}} \frac{\nu^2 + \left(\frac{d-2}{2} + s\right)^2}{\nu^2 + \left(\Delta - \frac{d}{2}\right)^2} \nu \sinh(\pi\nu) \Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2} - i\nu - 1\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2} + i\nu - 1\right) , \quad (B.8)$$

⁴⁶For s = 0 see [116].

⁴⁶For s = 0 see [116]. ⁴⁷It is convenient to use projected auxiliary variables such that $W_i^2 = 0$ and $W_i \cdot X = 0$.

the volume factor $V_{S^d} = \frac{2\pi^{(d+1)/2}}{\Gamma(\frac{d+1}{2})}$ and we have expressed the result in terms of the number of degrees of freedom for a symmetric TT field

$$g_s = \frac{(2s+d-2)(s+d-3)!}{(d-2)!\,s!} \,. \tag{B.9}$$

As expected, equation (B.7) precisely matches the corresponding expression derived using ζ -function techniques [87]:

$$\mathcal{Z}_{(\Delta,s)} = \zeta_{(\Delta,s)}(1) \,. \tag{B.10}$$

B.1 Mellin-Barnes and sum over spins

The spectral function integrals are naturally regulated as Mellin-Barnes integrals:

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\nu \, f_{(\Delta,s)}(\nu) \, z^{i\nu} \Big|_{z=1} \,. \tag{B.11}$$

Such integrals can be straightforwardly evaluated as infinite series by closing the contour of integration in the appropriate convergence region and dropping the arc part of the contour. In the example above one can perform the spectral integral in full generality and for arbitrary dimensions:

$$\lim_{z \to 1} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\nu f_{(\Delta,s)}(\nu) z^{i\nu} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(d+2n-2)(n-s)(d+n+s-2)\Gamma(d+n-2)\sin\left(\frac{\pi d}{2}\right)}{4\pi^{d+1}n!(\Delta+n-1)(d-\Delta+n-1)} - \frac{1}{4\pi^{d+1}}(\Delta+s-1)(d-\Delta+s-1)\Gamma(\Delta-1)\Gamma(d-\Delta-1)\sin\left[\pi\left(\Delta-\frac{d}{2}\right)\right].$$
 (B.12)

The above series is divergent but with some effort it can be resummed in dimensional regularisation obtaining a remarkably simple answer:⁴⁸

$$\lim_{z \to 1} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\nu f_{(\Delta,s)}(\nu) z^{i\nu} = \frac{\sec\left(\frac{\pi d}{2}\right) \csc(\pi \Delta)(\Delta + s - 1)(d - \Delta + s - 1)}{4\pi^{d - 1}\Gamma(2 - \Delta)\Gamma(\Delta - d + 2)} \,. \tag{B.13}$$

Furthermore one can explicitly evaluate the sum over spins in dimensional regularisation using Gauss hypergeometric theorem. The sum over spins including ghosts gives:

$$\mathcal{Z}_{\rm HS} = \sum_{s=0}^{\infty} \left(\mathcal{Z}_{(d-2+s,s)} - \mathcal{Z}_{(d-1+s,s-1)} \right) = \frac{4\pi \csc(\pi d)\Gamma(3-2d)}{d\,\Gamma(3-d)^2} \,. \tag{B.14}$$

Remarkably the latter shows no pole in any CFT dimension d > 2, signaling the cancellation of UV divergences upon summing over spins. Notice also that in the above expression we have included the regularised AdS volume.

⁴⁸We have checked that the expression below matches the expression obtained by ζ -function regularisation in any even dimension. In odd dimension the two result differ but we expect that the main physical properties should remain unaffected.

C Graviton bubble

In this appendix we detail how to bring the 2 - (20) - 0 bubble diagram involving the full de Donder gauge graviton propagator (4.3) into the form (3.19). The diagram is given by four terms:

$$\mathcal{M}^{\text{2pt-bubble}} = \mathcal{M}_{1,0;1,0}^{\text{2pt-bubble}} + \frac{1}{2} (d-2) \mathcal{M}_{1,0;0,1}^{\text{2pt-bubble}} + \frac{1}{2} (d-2) \mathcal{M}_{0,1;1,0}^{\text{2pt-bubble}} + \frac{1}{4} (d-2)^2 \mathcal{M}_{0,1;0,1}^{\text{2pt-bubble}}, \tag{C.1}$$

which each, via the spectral representation (4.3) of the full graviton propagator, decompose in terms of the three-point Witten diagrams (4.8) as:

1.

$$\mathcal{M}_{1,0;1,0}^{\text{2pt-bubble}}(P_1, P_2) = \frac{g^2}{\pi^2} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \nu^2 d\nu \, \bar{\nu}^2 d\bar{\nu} \, g_{0,0,0}^{(2)}(\nu) \, g_{0,0,0}^{(0)}(\bar{\nu}) \int_{\partial \text{AdS}} dP d\bar{P} \qquad (C.2)$$
$$\times \mathcal{A}_{\Delta_1, \frac{d}{2} + i\bar{\nu}, \frac{d}{2} + i\bar{\nu}}^{1,0;0,0}(P_1, P, \bar{P}) \cdot \mathcal{A}_{\Delta_2, \frac{d}{2} - i\bar{\nu}, \frac{d}{2} - i\bar{\nu}}^{1,0;0,0}(P_2, P, \bar{P})$$

2.

$$\mathcal{M}_{1,0;0,1}^{\text{2pt-bubble}}\left(P_{1},P_{2}\right) = \frac{g^{2}}{\pi^{2}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \nu^{2} d\nu \,\bar{\nu}^{2} d\bar{\nu} \,g_{1,1,0}^{(2)}\left(\nu\right) g_{0,0,0}^{(0)}\left(\bar{\nu}\right) \int_{\partial \text{AdS}} dP d\bar{P} \qquad (C.3)$$

$$\times \mathcal{A}_{\Delta_{1},\frac{d}{2}+i\bar{\nu},\frac{d}{2}+i\nu}^{1,0;1,0}\left(P_{1},P,\bar{P}\right) \cdot \mathcal{A}_{\Delta_{2},\frac{d}{2}-i\bar{\nu},\frac{d}{2}-i\nu}^{0,1;1,0}\left(P_{2},P,\bar{P}\right)$$

$$+ \frac{g^{2}}{\pi^{2}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \nu^{2} d\nu \,\bar{\nu}^{2} d\bar{\nu} \,g_{1,0,0}^{(2)}\left(\nu\right) g_{0,0,0}^{(0)}\left(\bar{\nu}\right) \int_{\partial \text{AdS}} dP d\bar{P} \\ \times \mathcal{A}_{\Delta_{1},\frac{d}{2}+i\bar{\nu},\frac{d}{2}+i\nu}^{1,0;0,2}\left(P_{1},P,\bar{P}\right) \cdot \mathcal{A}_{\Delta_{2},\frac{d}{2}-i\bar{\nu},\frac{d}{2}-i\nu}^{0,1;1,0}\left(P_{2},P,\bar{P}\right),$$

3.

$$\mathcal{M}_{0,1;1,0}^{\text{2pt-bubble}}(P_1, P_2) = \frac{g^2}{\pi^2} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \nu^2 d\nu \, \bar{\nu}^2 d\bar{\nu} \, g_{1,1,0}^{(2)}(\nu) \, g_{0,0,0}^{(0)}(\bar{\nu}) \int_{\partial \text{AdS}} dP d\bar{P} \qquad (C.4)$$

$$\times \, \mathcal{A}_{\Delta_1, \frac{d}{2} + i\bar{\nu}, \frac{d}{2} + i\nu}^{0,1;1,0}\left(P_1, P, \bar{P}\right) \cdot \, \mathcal{A}_{\Delta_2, \frac{d}{2} - i\bar{\nu}, \frac{d}{2} - i\nu}^{1,0;1,0}\left(P_2, P, \bar{P}\right) \\
+ \frac{g^2}{\pi^2} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \nu^2 d\nu \, \bar{\nu}^2 d\bar{\nu} \, g_{1,0,0}^{(2)}(\nu) \, g_{0,0,0}^{(0)}(\bar{\nu}) \int_{\partial \text{AdS}} dP d\bar{P} \\
\times \, \mathcal{A}_{\Delta_1, \frac{d}{2} + i\bar{\nu}, \frac{d}{2} + i\nu}^{0,1;1,0}\left(P_1, P, \bar{P}\right) \cdot \, \mathcal{A}_{\Delta_2, \frac{d}{2} - i\bar{\nu}, \frac{d}{2} - i\nu}\left(P_2, P, \bar{P}\right),$$

4.

$$\mathcal{M}_{0,1;0,1}^{\text{2pt-bubble}}\left(P_{1},P_{2}\right) = \frac{g^{2}}{\pi^{2}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \nu^{2} d\nu \,\bar{\nu}^{2} d\bar{\nu} \,g_{1,1,0}^{(2)}\left(\nu\right) g_{0,0,0}^{(0)}\left(\bar{\nu}\right) \int_{\partial \text{AdS}} dP d\bar{P} \qquad (C.5)$$
$$\times \mathcal{A}_{\Delta_{1},\frac{d}{2}+i\bar{\nu},\frac{d}{2}+i\nu}^{0,1;1,0}\left(P_{1},P,\bar{P}\right) \cdot \mathcal{A}_{\Delta_{2},\frac{d}{2}-i\bar{\nu},\frac{d}{2}-i\nu}^{0,1;1,0}\left(P_{2},P,\bar{P}\right),$$

The three-point Witten diagrams (4.8) can be straightforwardly evaluated in the present case, in particular since the three-point conformal structure generated is unique. We have:

1.

$$\mathcal{A}_{\Delta_{1},\Delta_{2},\Delta_{3}}^{1,0;0,0}\left(y_{1},y_{2},y_{3}\right) = \mathsf{B}\left(0,0,2;\mathbf{0};\Delta_{1},\Delta_{2},\Delta_{3}-2\right)\left[\left[\mathcal{O}_{\Delta_{1},0}\left(y_{1}\right)\mathcal{O}_{\Delta_{2},0}\left(y_{2}\right)\mathcal{O}_{\Delta_{3},2}\left(y_{3},z\right)\right]\right]^{(\mathbf{0})}, \quad (C.6)$$

2.

$$\mathcal{A}_{\Delta_{1},\Delta_{2},\Delta_{3}}^{1,0;1,0}\left(y_{1},y_{2},y_{3}\right) = f_{\Delta_{1},\Delta_{2},\Delta_{3}}^{1,0;1,0}\left[\left(\mathcal{O}_{\Delta_{1},0}\left(y_{1}\right)\mathcal{O}_{\Delta_{2},0}\left(y_{2}\right)\mathcal{O}_{\Delta_{3},0}\left(y_{3}\right)\right)\right]^{(\mathbf{0})}$$
(C.7a)

$$f_{\Delta_1,\Delta_2,\Delta_3}^{1,0;1,0} = 2\left(\Delta_2 + 1 - \frac{d}{2}\right)_2 \frac{C_{\Delta_2+2,0}}{C_{\Delta_2,0}} \mathsf{B}\left(0,0,0;\mathbf{0};\Delta_1,\Delta_2,\Delta_3\right), \quad (C.7b)$$

3.

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{A}^{0,1;0,2}_{\Delta_1,\Delta_2,\Delta_3}\left(y_1, y_2, y_3\right) &= f^{0,1;0,2}_{\Delta_1,\Delta_2,\Delta_3}\left[\left[\mathcal{O}_{\Delta_1,0}\left(y_1\right)\mathcal{O}_{\Delta_2,0}\left(y_2\right)\mathcal{O}_{\Delta_3,0}\left(y_3\right)\right]\right]^{(\mathbf{0})}, \end{aligned} \tag{C.8a} \\ f^{0,1;0,2}_{\Delta_1,\Delta_2,\Delta_3} &= 2\left[\Delta_2(\Delta_2+1)\Delta_3^2 \\ &\quad +\frac{1}{4}(\Delta_1-\Delta_2-\Delta_3)(-d+\Delta_1+\Delta_2+\Delta_3) \\ &\quad \times \left(d(-\Delta_1+\Delta_2+\Delta_3+2)+(\Delta_1+\Delta_2-\Delta_3)(\Delta_1-\Delta_2+\Delta_3)\right)\right] \\ &\quad \times \mathsf{B}(0,0,0;\mathbf{0};\Delta_1,\Delta_2,\Delta_3), \end{aligned}$$

4.

$$\mathcal{A}_{\Delta_{1},\Delta_{2},\Delta_{3}}^{0,1;1,0}\left(y_{1},y_{2},y_{3}\right) = f_{\Delta_{1},\Delta_{2},\Delta_{3}}^{0,1;1,0}\left[\left(\mathcal{O}_{\Delta_{1},0}\left(y_{1}\right)\mathcal{O}_{\Delta_{2},0}\left(y_{2}\right)\mathcal{O}_{\Delta_{3},0}\left(y_{3}\right)\right)\right]^{(\mathbf{0})}$$
(C.9a)

$$f_{\Delta_1,\Delta_2,\Delta_3}^{0,1;1,0} = 2 \left(d+1 \right) \mathsf{B} \left(0,0,0;\mathbf{0};\Delta_1,\Delta_2,\Delta_3 \right).$$
(C.9b)

Putting everything together in (C.1) gives:

$$\mathcal{M}^{\text{2pt-bubble}}(y_1, y_2) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\nu d\bar{\nu} \mathcal{F}_{TT}^{\text{2pt-bubble}}(\nu, \bar{\nu}) \,\mathfrak{K}_{2;0,0}^{(0,0)}(\nu, \bar{\nu}; y_1, y_2) \\ + \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\nu d\bar{\nu} \mathcal{F}_{\text{contact}}^{\text{2pt-bubble}}(\nu, \bar{\nu}) \,\mathfrak{K}_{0;0,0}^{(0,0)}(\nu, \bar{\nu}; y_1, y_2) \,, \qquad (C.10)$$

with the usual traceless and transverse contribution (3.29):

$$\mathcal{F}_{TT}^{\text{2pt-bubble}}\left(\nu,\bar{\nu}\right) = g^{2} \frac{\nu^{2}}{\pi \left[\nu^{2} + \left(\frac{d}{2}\right)^{2}\right]} \frac{\bar{\nu}^{2}}{\pi \left[\bar{\nu}^{2} + \left(\Delta - \frac{d}{2}\right)^{2}\right]} \times \mathsf{B}\left(0,0,2;\mathbf{0};\Delta_{1},\frac{d}{2} + i\bar{\nu},\frac{d}{2} + i\nu - 2\right) \mathsf{B}\left(0,0,2;\mathbf{0};\Delta_{2},\frac{d}{2} - i\bar{\nu},\frac{d}{2} - i\nu - 2\right), \quad (C.11)$$

and purely contact contribution:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{F}_{\text{contact}}^{\text{2pt-bubble}}\left(\nu,\bar{\nu}\right) & (C.12) \\ = g^{2} \frac{\nu^{2} \bar{\nu}^{2}}{\pi^{2}} g_{0,0,0}^{(0)}\left(\bar{\nu}\right) \left[g_{1,1,0}^{(2)}\left(\nu\right) f_{\Delta_{1},\frac{d}{2}+i\bar{\nu},\frac{d}{2}+i\nu}^{1,0;1,0} f_{\Delta_{2},\frac{d}{2}-i\bar{\nu},\frac{d}{2}-i\nu}^{1,0;1,0} + g_{1,0,0}^{(2)}\left(\nu\right) f_{\Delta_{1},\frac{d}{2}+i\bar{\nu},\frac{d}{2}+i\nu}^{1,0;0,2} f_{\Delta_{2},\frac{d}{2}-i\bar{\nu},\frac{d}{2}-i\nu}^{1,0;1,0} + g_{1,0,0}^{(2)}\left(\nu\right) f_{\Delta_{1},\frac{d}{2}+i\bar{\nu},\frac{d}{2}+i\nu}^{1,0;0,2} f_{\Delta_{2},\frac{d}{2}-i\bar{\nu},\frac{d}{2}-i\nu}^{1,0;1,0} + g_{0,0,2}^{(2)}\left(\nu\right) f_{\Delta_{1},\frac{d}{2}+i\bar{\nu},\frac{d}{2}+i\nu}^{1,0;0,2} f_{\Delta_{2},\frac{d}{2}-i\bar{\nu},\frac{d}{2}-i\nu}^{1,0;1,0} + \frac{1}{2} \left(d-2\right) \left(g_{1,1,0}^{(2)}\left(\nu\right) f_{\Delta_{1},\frac{d}{2}+i\bar{\nu},\frac{d}{2}+i\nu} f_{\Delta_{2},\frac{d}{2}-i\bar{\nu},\frac{d}{2}-i\nu}^{0,1;1,0} + g_{1,0,0}^{(2)}\left(\nu\right) f_{\Delta_{1},\frac{d}{2}+i\bar{\nu},\frac{d}{2}+i\nu} f_{\Delta_{2},\frac{d}{2}-i\bar{\nu},\frac{d}{2}-i\nu} \right) \\ & + \frac{1}{4} \left(d-2\right)^{2} g_{1,1,0}^{(2)}\left(\nu\right) f_{\Delta_{1},\frac{d}{2}+i\bar{\nu},\frac{d}{2}+i\nu} f_{\Delta_{2},\frac{d}{2}-i\bar{\nu},\frac{d}{2}-i\nu} f_{\Delta_{2},\frac{d}{2}-i\bar{\nu},\frac{d}{2}-i\nu} \right], \end{aligned}$$

which arises from considering the full propagator (4.3) as opposed to just its traceless and transverse part (3.26).

D Full single-cut bubble diagrams

In this appendix we present some examples of the single-cut bubble diagrams considered in section 4.2.1 using the full bulk-to-bulk propagator — i.e. including all contact terms. We work with Fronsdal higher-spin fields φ_s in the de Donder gauge:

$$\left[\left(\nabla \cdot \partial \right) - \frac{1}{2} \left(u \cdot \nabla \right) \left(\partial_u \cdot \partial_u \right) \right] \varphi_s \left(x, u \right) = 0.$$
 (D.1)

It is useful to express the double-traceless Fronsdal field in terms of its traceless components:

$$\varphi_s(x,u) = \tilde{\varphi}_s(x,u) + \frac{u^2}{2(d-3+2s)}\varphi'_s(x,u), \qquad (D.2)$$

where

$$(\partial_u \cdot \partial_u) \varphi_s(x, u) = \varphi'_s(x, u), \qquad (\partial_u \cdot \partial_u) \tilde{\varphi}_s(x, u) = (\partial_u \cdot \partial_u) \varphi'_s(x, u) = 0.$$
(D.3)

The s - s' - 0 cubic coupling in de Donder gauge then reads [39, 59]:⁴⁹

$$\mathcal{V}_{s,s',0} = g_{s,0,s'} \left[\mathcal{Y}_1^s \mathcal{Y}_3^{s'} \tilde{\varphi}_s \tilde{\varphi}_{s'} \phi - (s-s') \binom{s}{2} \frac{d-4+s+s'}{d-3+2s} \mathcal{Y}_1^{s-2} \mathcal{Y}_2^{s'} \varphi_s' \tilde{\varphi}_{s'} \phi - (s'-s) \binom{s'}{2} \frac{d-4+s+s'}{d-3+2s'} \mathcal{Y}_1^s \mathcal{Y}_3^{s'-2} \tilde{\varphi}_s \varphi_{s'}' \phi \right], \qquad s \ge s'.$$
(D.4)

Notice that above we have only displayed the terms at most linear in the traces of the Fronsdal fields, since terms involving two traces do not contribute to bubble diagrams with one scalar propagating in the loop. Furthermore, in order to avoid double counting of vertices we assume $s \ge s'$. One can then see that if the exchanged spin inside the loop is greater than the external spin, the contact contribution generated by the trace terms in the vertex changes sign with respect to the diagrams where the internal spin is lower than the external one.

For this computation we will use the following result for Witten diagrams involving traceless symmetrised gradients of harmonic functions:

$$\begin{aligned} \int_{\mathrm{AdS}_{d+1}} dX \, \mathcal{Y}_{1}^{2} \mathcal{Y}_{3}^{2} K_{d,2} K_{\Delta_{2},0} \, (w_{3} \cdot \nabla_{3})^{2} K_{\Delta_{3},0} \tag{D.5} \\ &= -\frac{2(\Delta_{3} - 1)\Delta_{3}(\Delta_{2} - \Delta_{3} - 3)(\Delta_{2} - \Delta_{3} + 2)\left(\Delta_{2}^{2} + \Delta_{2} - (\Delta_{3} - 4)(\Delta_{3} + 1)\right)}{(\Delta_{2} - \Delta_{3} - 1)(\Delta_{2} - \Delta_{3} + 1)(\Delta_{2} - \Delta_{3} + 5)(\Delta_{2} + \Delta_{3} + 2)} \\ &\times \mathrm{B}(2,0,2;\mathbf{0};d-2,\Delta_{2},\Delta_{3} - 2)\left[\left[\mathcal{O}_{d,2} \left(P_{1},Z\right)\mathcal{O}_{\Delta_{2},0} \left(P_{2}\right)\mathcal{O}_{\Delta_{3},0} \left(P_{3}\right)\right]\right]^{(\mathbf{0})}, \end{aligned} \\ \int_{\mathrm{AdS}_{d+1}} dX \, \mathcal{Y}_{1}^{4} \mathcal{Y}_{3}^{2} K_{d+2,4} K_{\Delta_{2},0} \, (w_{3} \cdot \nabla_{3})^{2} K_{\Delta_{3},0} \tag{D.6} \\ &= -\frac{2(\Delta_{3} - 1)\Delta_{3}(\Delta_{2} - \Delta_{3} - 7)}{(\Delta_{2} - \Delta_{3} - 1)(\Delta_{2} - \Delta_{3} + 1)(\Delta_{2} - \Delta_{3} + 9)(\Delta_{2} + \Delta_{3} - 1)(\Delta_{2} + \Delta_{3} + 6)} \\ &\times \frac{\left((5 - 2\Delta_{2}(\Delta_{2} + 5))\Delta_{3}^{2} + 6(\Delta_{2}(\Delta_{2} + 5) + 2)\Delta_{3} + (\Delta_{2} - 1)\Delta_{2}(\Delta_{2} + 5)(\Delta_{2} + 6) + \Delta_{3}^{4} - 6\Delta_{3}^{3}\right)}{(\Delta_{2} - \Delta_{3} - 1)(\Delta_{2} - \Delta_{3} + 1)(\Delta_{2} - \Delta_{3} + 9)(\Delta_{2} + \Delta_{3} - 1)(\Delta_{2} + \Delta_{3} + 6)} \\ &\times \mathrm{B}(4,0,2;\mathbf{0};d-2,\Delta_{2},\Delta_{3} - 2) \left[\left[\mathcal{O}_{d+2,4} \left(P_{1},Z\right)\mathcal{O}_{\Delta_{2},0} \left(P_{2}\right)\mathcal{O}_{\Delta_{3},0} \left(P_{3}\right)\right]\right]^{(\mathbf{0})}. \end{aligned}$$

D.1 2-(20)-2

In this case the coupling (like for all s-s-0 couplings which are of the R^2 form) is traceless with respect to the s' = 2 leg. Following the same approach as in section 4.1, including all terms in the graviton propagator (4.3) we obtain the following spectral integral for the single-cut in d = 3:

$$\gamma_{2,2} = -g_{2,0,2}^2 \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\nu_1 \left(\frac{\nu_1^{13}}{51840\pi^3} + \frac{23\nu_1^{11}}{103680\pi^3} - \frac{5993\nu_1^9}{829440\pi^3} - \frac{24491\nu_1^7}{165888\pi^3} - \frac{12295649\nu_1^5}{13271040\pi^3} - \frac{56596249\nu_1^3}{26542080\pi^3} - \frac{51048983\nu_1}{212336640\pi^3} - \frac{1024\nu_1}{135\pi^3 \left(4\nu_1^2 + 33\right)} \right) \tanh(\pi\nu_1) \operatorname{sech}(\pi\nu_1) . \quad (D.7)$$

 $^{^{49}}$ See also [117] for other recent developments on off-shell interactions of higher-spin gauge fields, which includes interactions the Maxwell-like formulation [118, 119].

which, apart from the rightmost term on the second line, can be evaluated analytically using the techniques developed in this work. The part of the integral which we are able to evaluate analytically gives

$$\gamma_{2,2}^{\text{an.}} = \frac{1757}{4320\pi^2} \sim 0.0412086 \, g_{2,0,2}^2 \,, \tag{D.8}$$

while the total result is given numerically by:

$$\gamma_{2,2}^{\text{full}} = 0.0432286 \, g_{2,0,2}^2 \,. \tag{D.9}$$

It is interesting to compare the above result with the TT contribution (4.31). The latter is:

$$\gamma_{2,2}^{\Delta_+\Delta_-} \sim \frac{253}{480\pi^2} g_{2,0,2}^2 \,, \tag{D.10}$$

and differs from the full result by $|\gamma_{2,2}^{\text{full}} - \gamma_{2,2}^{\text{TT}}| \sim 0.0101761 g_{2,0,2}^2$.

D.2 4-(20)-4

In this case using the full graviton propagator (4.3) we have

$$\gamma_{2,4} = -g_{2,4,0}^2 \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\nu_1 \nu_1 \left(4\nu_1^2 + 1\right) \left(4\nu_1^2 + 25\right) \left(4\nu_1^2 + 49\right) \left(4\nu_1^2 + 81\right) \left(4\nu_1^2 + 121\right) \left(4\nu_1^2 + 169\right) \\ \times \left(4\nu_1^2 + 225\right) \frac{\left(256\nu_1^8 - 20224\nu_1^6 - 778144\nu_1^4 - 8790256\nu_1^2 - 28691327\right)}{3262849744896000\pi^3 \left(4\nu_1^2 + 33\right)}, \quad (D.11)$$

which can be evaluated analytically apart from the term $\frac{1274544128\nu_1}{2701125\pi^3(4\nu_1^2+33)}$. The part of the integral which we are able to evaluate analytically gives

$$\gamma_{2,2}^{\rm an.} = \frac{3938687}{105840\pi^2} \sim 3.77053 \, g_{4,2,0}^2 \,, \tag{D.12}$$

while the total result is given numerically by:

$$\gamma_{4,2}^{\text{full}} = 3.74762 \, g_{4,2,0}^2 \,. \tag{D.13}$$

The TT contribution (4.31) in this case is

$$\gamma_{4,2}^{\Delta_+\Delta_-} \sim \frac{87491}{2352\pi^2} g_{4,2,0}^2 \,, \tag{D.14}$$

which differs from the full result by $|\gamma_{4,2}^{\text{full}} - \gamma_{4,2}^{\text{TT}}| \sim 0.0213821 g_{4,2,0}^2$.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- J.M. Maldacena, The large N limit of superconformal field theories and supergravity, Int. J. Theor. Phys. 38 (1999) 1113 [hep-th/9711200] [INSPIRE].
- [2] S.S. Gubser, I.R. Klebanov and A.M. Polyakov, Gauge theory correlators from noncritical string theory, Phys. Lett. B 428 (1998) 105 [hep-th/9802109] [INSPIRE].
- [3] E. Witten, Anti-de Sitter space and holography, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 253 [hep-th/9802150] [INSPIRE].
- [4] H. Liu and A.A. Tseytlin, On four point functions in the CFT/AdS correspondence, Phys. Rev. D 59 (1999) 086002 [hep-th/9807097] [INSPIRE].
- W. Mück and K.S. Viswanathan, Conformal field theory correlators from classical scalar field theory on AdS_{d+1}, Phys. Rev. D 58 (1998) 041901 [hep-th/9804035] [INSPIRE].
- [6] D.Z. Freedman, S.D. Mathur, A. Matusis and L. Rastelli, Correlation functions in the CFT_d/AdS_{d+1} correspondence, Nucl. Phys. B 546 (1999) 96 [hep-th/9804058] [INSPIRE].
- [7] E. D'Hoker and D.Z. Freedman, General scalar exchange in AdS_{d+1}, Nucl. Phys. B 550 (1999) 261 [hep-th/9811257] [INSPIRE].
- [8] G. Chalmers and K. Schalm, The large N_c limit of four point functions in N = 4 super Yang-Mills theory from anti-de Sitter supergravity, Nucl. Phys. B 554 (1999) 215
 [hep-th/9810051] [INSPIRE].
- E. D'Hoker, D.Z. Freedman, S.D. Mathur, A. Matusis and L. Rastelli, Graviton exchange and complete four point functions in the AdS/CFT correspondence, Nucl. Phys. B 562 (1999) 353 [hep-th/9903196] [INSPIRE].
- [10] E. D'Hoker, D.Z. Freedman and L. Rastelli, AdS/CFT four point functions: how to succeed at z integrals without really trying, Nucl. Phys. B 562 (1999) 395 [hep-th/9905049]
 [INSPIRE].
- M.S. Costa, V. Gonçalves and J. Penedones, Spinning AdS propagators, JHEP 09 (2014) 064 [arXiv:1404.5625] [INSPIRE].
- [12] X. Bekaert, J. Erdmenger, D. Ponomarev and C. Sleight, Towards holographic higher-spin interactions: four-point functions and higher-spin exchange, JHEP 03 (2015) 170 [arXiv:1412.0016] [INSPIRE].
- [13] X. Bekaert, J. Erdmenger, D. Ponomarev and C. Sleight, *Quartic AdS interactions in higher-spin gravity from conformal field theory*, *JHEP* 11 (2015) 149 [arXiv:1508.04292]
 [INSPIRE].
- [14] C. Sleight, Interactions in higher-spin gravity: a holographic perspective, J. Phys. A 50 (2017) 383001 [arXiv:1610.01318] [INSPIRE].
- [15] C. Sleight and M. Taronna, Spinning Witten diagrams, JHEP 06 (2017) 100 [arXiv:1702.08619] [INSPIRE].
- [16] S. Raju, BCFW for Witten diagrams, Phys. Rev. Lett. 106 (2011) 091601
 [arXiv:1011.0780] [INSPIRE].
- S. Raju, New recursion relations and a flat space limit for AdS/CFT correlators, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 126009 [arXiv:1201.6449] [INSPIRE].
- [18] G. Mack, D-independent representation of conformal field theories in D dimensions via transformation to auxiliary dual resonance models. Scalar amplitudes, arXiv:0907.2407 [INSPIRE].

- [19] G. Mack, D-dimensional conformal field theories with anomalous dimensions as dual resonance models, Bulg. J. Phys. 36 (2009) 214 [arXiv:0909.1024] [INSPIRE].
- [20] J. Penedones, Writing CFT correlation functions as AdS scattering amplitudes, JHEP 03 (2011) 025 [arXiv:1011.1485] [INSPIRE].
- [21] M.F. Paulos, Towards Feynman rules for Mellin amplitudes, JHEP 10 (2011) 074 [arXiv:1107.1504] [INSPIRE].
- [22] A.L. Fitzpatrick, J. Kaplan, J. Penedones, S. Raju and B.C. van Rees, A natural language for AdS/CFT correlators, JHEP 11 (2011) 095 [arXiv:1107.1499] [INSPIRE].
- [23] D. Nandan, A. Volovich and C. Wen, On Feynman rules for Mellin amplitudes in AdS/CFT, JHEP 05 (2012) 129 [arXiv:1112.0305] [INSPIRE].
- [24] E. Hijano, P. Kraus, E. Perlmutter and R. Snively, Witten diagrams revisited: the AdS geometry of conformal blocks, JHEP 01 (2016) 146 [arXiv:1508.00501] [INSPIRE].
- [25] M. Nishida and K. Tamaoka, Geodesic Witten diagrams with an external spinning field, PTEP 2017 (2017) 053B06 [arXiv:1609.04563] [INSPIRE].
- [26] A. Castro, E. Llabrés and F. Rejon-Barrera, Geodesic diagrams, gravitational interactions & OPE structures, JHEP 06 (2017) 099 [arXiv:1702.06128] [INSPIRE].
- [27] H.-Y. Chen, E.-J. Kuo and H. Kyono, Anatomy of geodesic Witten diagrams, JHEP 05 (2017) 070 [arXiv:1702.08818] [INSPIRE].
- [28] S.S. Gubser and S. Parikh, Geodesic bulk diagrams on the Bruhat-Tits tree, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 066024 [arXiv:1704.01149] [INSPIRE].
- [29] K. Tamaoka, Geodesic Witten diagrams with antisymmetric tensor exchange, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 086007 [arXiv:1707.07934] [INSPIRE].
- [30] A.L. Fitzpatrick and J. Kaplan, Analyticity and the holographic S-matrix, JHEP 10 (2012) 127 [arXiv:1111.6972] [INSPIRE].
- [31] A.L. Fitzpatrick and J. Kaplan, Unitarity and the holographic S-matrix, JHEP 10 (2012) 032 [arXiv:1112.4845] [INSPIRE].
- [32] C. Cardona, Mellin-(Schwinger) representation of one-loop Witten diagrams in AdS, arXiv:1708.06339 [INSPIRE].
- [33] T. Creutzig and Y. Hikida, Higgs phenomenon for higher spin fields on AdS₃, JHEP 10 (2015) 164 [arXiv:1506.04465] [INSPIRE].
- [34] Y. Hikida, The masses of higher spin fields on AdS₄ and conformal perturbation theory, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 026004 [arXiv:1601.01784] [INSPIRE].
- [35] O. Aharony, L.F. Alday, A. Bissi and E. Perlmutter, Loops in AdS from conformal field theory, JHEP 07 (2017) 036 [arXiv:1612.03891] [INSPIRE].
- [36] Y. Hikida and T. Wada, Marginal deformations of 3d supersymmetric U(N) model and broken higher spin symmetry, JHEP 03 (2017) 047 [arXiv:1701.03563] [INSPIRE].
- [37] L.F. Alday and A. Bissi, Loop corrections to supergravity on $AdS_5 \times S^5$, Phys. Rev. Lett. 119 (2017) 171601 [arXiv:1706.02388] [INSPIRE].
- [38] F. Aprile, J.M. Drummond, P. Heslop and H. Paul, Quantum gravity from conformal field theory, JHEP 01 (2018) 035 [arXiv:1706.02822] [INSPIRE].
- [39] C. Sleight and M. Taronna, Feynman rules for higher-spin gauge fields on AdS_{d+1} , JHEP 01 (2018) 060 [arXiv:1708.08668] [INSPIRE].
- [40] K. Symanzik, On calculations in conformal invariant field theories, Lett. Nuovo Cim. 3 (1972) 734 [INSPIRE].
- [41] K. Diab, L. Fei, S. Giombi, I.R. Klebanov and G. Tarnopolsky, $On C_J$ and C_T in the Gross-Neveu and O(N) models, J. Phys. A 49 (2016) 405402 [arXiv:1601.07198] [INSPIRE].
- [42] S. Giombi, G. Tarnopolsky and I.R. Klebanov, On C_J and C_T in conformal QED, JHEP 08 (2016) 156 [arXiv:1602.01076] [INSPIRE].
- [43] S. Giombi and I.R. Klebanov, One loop tests of higher spin AdS/CFT, JHEP 12 (2013) 068 [arXiv:1308.2337] [INSPIRE].
- [44] S. Giombi, I.R. Klebanov and B.R. Safdi, *Higher spin* AdS_{d+1}/CFT_d at one loop, *Phys. Rev.* **D** 89 (2014) 084004 [arXiv:1401.0825] [INSPIRE].
- [45] S. Giombi, I.R. Klebanov and A.A. Tseytlin, Partition functions and Casimir energies in higher spin AdS_{d+1}/CFT_d, Phys. Rev. D 90 (2014) 024048 [arXiv:1402.5396] [INSPIRE].
- [46] M. Beccaria and A.A. Tseytlin, Higher spins in AdS₅ at one loop: vacuum energy, boundary conformal anomalies and AdS/CFT, JHEP 11 (2014) 114 [arXiv:1410.3273] [INSPIRE].
- [47] T. Basile, X. Bekaert and N. Boulanger, Flato-Fronsdal theorem for higher-order singletons, JHEP 11 (2014) 131 [arXiv:1410.7668] [INSPIRE].
- [48] S. Giombi, I.R. Klebanov and Z.M. Tan, The ABC of higher-spin AdS/CFT, Universe 4 (2018) 18 [arXiv:1608.07611] [INSPIRE].
- [49] Y. Pang, E. Sezgin and Y. Zhu, One loop tests of supersymmetric higher spin AdS₄/CFT₃, Phys. Rev. D 95 (2017) 026008 [arXiv:1608.07298] [INSPIRE].
- [50] J.-B. Bae, E. Joung and S. Lal, One-loop test of free SU(N) adjoint model holography, JHEP 04 (2016) 061 [arXiv:1603.05387] [INSPIRE].
- [51] J.-B. Bae, E. Joung and S. Lal, On the holography of free Yang-Mills, JHEP 10 (2016) 074 [arXiv:1607.07651] [INSPIRE].
- [52] M. Günaydin, E.D. Skvortsov and T. Tran, Exceptional F(4) higher-spin theory in AdS_6 at one-loop and other tests of duality, JHEP 11 (2016) 168 [arXiv:1608.07582] [INSPIRE].
- [53] J.-B. Bae, E. Joung and S. Lal, One-loop free energy of tensionless type IIB string in $AdS_5 \times S^5$, JHEP 06 (2017) 155 [arXiv:1701.01507] [INSPIRE].
- [54] E.D. Skvortsov and T. Tran, AdS/CFT in fractional dimension and higher spin gravity at one loop, Universe 3 (2017) 61 [arXiv:1707.00758] [INSPIRE].
- [55] D. Ponomarev and A.A. Tseytlin, On quantum corrections in higher-spin theory in flat space, JHEP 05 (2016) 184 [arXiv:1603.06273] [INSPIRE].
- [56] R. Manvelyan and W. Rühl, The masses of gauge fields in higher spin field theory on the bulk of AdS₄, Phys. Lett. B 613 (2005) 197 [hep-th/0412252] [INSPIRE].
- [57] R. Manvelyan, K. Mkrtchyan and W. Rühl, Ultraviolet behaviour of higher spin gauge field propagators and one loop mass renormalization, Nucl. Phys. B 803 (2008) 405 [arXiv:0804.1211] [INSPIRE].
- [58] Y. Hikida and T. Uetoko, Correlators in higher spin AdS₃ holography from Wilson lines with loop corrections, arXiv:1708.08657 [INSPIRE].
- [59] C. Sleight and M. Taronna, Higher spin interactions from conformal field theory: the complete cubic couplings, Phys. Rev. Lett. 116 (2016) 181602 [arXiv:1603.00022]
 [INSPIRE].

- [60] C. Sleight and M. Taronna, Higher-spin algebras, holography and flat space, JHEP 02 (2017) 095 [arXiv:1609.00991] [INSPIRE].
- [61] C. Sleight and M. Taronna, *Higher spin gauge theories and bulk locality: a no-go result*, arXiv:1704.07859 [INSPIRE].
- [62] X. Bekaert, E. Joung and J. Mourad, Comments on higher-spin holography, Fortsch. Phys.
 60 (2012) 882 [arXiv:1202.0543] [INSPIRE].
- [63] S. Giombi and X. Yin, The higher spin/vector model duality, J. Phys. A 46 (2013) 214003 [arXiv:1208.4036] [INSPIRE].
- [64] R. Rahman and M. Taronna, From higher spins to strings: a primer, arXiv:1512.07932 [INSPIRE].
- [65] S. Giombi, Higher spin CFT duality, in Proceedings, Theoretical Advanced Study Institute in Elementary Particle Physics: New Frontiers in Fields and Strings (TASI 2015), Boulder CO U.S.A., 1–26 June 2015, World Scientific, Singapore, (2017), pg. 137
 [arXiv:1607.02967] [INSPIRE].
- [66] C. Sleight, Metric-like methods in higher spin holography, PoS(Modave2016)003
 [arXiv:1701.08360] [INSPIRE].
- [67] E. Sezgin and P. Sundell, Massless higher spins and holography, Nucl. Phys. B 644 (2002) 303 [Erratum ibid. B 660 (2003) 403] [hep-th/0205131] [INSPIRE].
- [68] I.R. Klebanov and A.M. Polyakov, AdS dual of the critical O(N) vector model, Phys. Lett. B 550 (2002) 213 [hep-th/0210114] [INSPIRE].
- [69] T. Hartman and L. Rastelli, Double-trace deformations, mixed boundary conditions and functional determinants in AdS/CFT, JHEP 01 (2008) 019 [hep-th/0602106] [INSPIRE].
- S. Giombi and X. Yin, On higher spin gauge theory and the critical O(N) model, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 086005 [arXiv:1105.4011] [INSPIRE].
- [71] T. Leonhardt, R. Manvelyan and W. Rühl, The group approach to AdS space propagators, Nucl. Phys. B 667 (2003) 413 [hep-th/0305235] [INSPIRE].
- [72] M. Porrati, Higgs phenomenon for 4D gravity in anti-de Sitter space, JHEP 04 (2002) 058 [hep-th/0112166] [INSPIRE].
- [73] T.Y. Thomas, On conformal geometry, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 12 (1926) 352.
- [74] V.K. Dobrev, V.B. Petkova, S.G. Petrova and I.T. Todorov, Dynamical derivation of vacuum operator product expansion in Euclidean conformal quantum field theory, Phys. Rev. D 13 (1976) 887 [INSPIRE].
- [75] M. Grigoriev and A. Waldron, Massive higher spins from BRST and tractors, Nucl. Phys. B 853 (2011) 291 [arXiv:1104.4994] [INSPIRE].
- [76] E. Joung and M. Taronna, Cubic interactions of massless higher spins in (A)dS: metric-like approach, Nucl. Phys. B 861 (2012) 145 [arXiv:1110.5918] [INSPIRE].
- [77] M. Taronna, *Higher-spin interactions: three-point functions and beyond*, Ph.D. thesis, Scuola Normale Superiore, Pisa Italy, (2012) [arXiv:1209.5755] [INSPIRE].
- [78] X. Bekaert and M. Grigoriev, Notes on the ambient approach to boundary values of AdS gauge fields, J. Phys. A 46 (2013) 214008 [arXiv:1207.3439] [INSPIRE].
- [79] P.A.M. Dirac, Wave equations in conformal space, Annals Math. 37 (1936) 429 [INSPIRE].

- [80] C. Fronsdal, Singletons and massless, integral spin fields on de Sitter space, Phys. Rev. D 20 (1979) 848 [INSPIRE].
- [81] R.R. Metsaev, Massless mixed symmetry bosonic free fields in d-dimensional anti-de Sitter space-time, Phys. Lett. B 354 (1995) 78 [INSPIRE].
- [82] X. Bekaert and E. Meunier, Higher spin interactions with scalar matter on constant curvature spacetimes: conserved current and cubic coupling generating functions, JHEP 11 (2010) 116 [arXiv:1007.4384] [INSPIRE].
- [83] P.A.M. Dirac, The electron wave equation in de-Sitter space, Annals Math. 36 (1935) 657 [INSPIRE].
- [84] I. Bars, C. Deliduman and O. Andreev, Gauged duality, conformal symmetry and space-time with two times, Phys. Rev. D 58 (1998) 066004 [hep-th/9803188] [INSPIRE].
- [85] X. Bekaert and M. Grigoriev, Manifestly conformal descriptions and higher symmetries of bosonic singletons, SIGMA 6 (2010) 038 [arXiv:0907.3195] [INSPIRE].
- [86] M.S. Costa, J. Penedones, D. Poland and S. Rychkov, Spinning conformal correlators, JHEP 11 (2011) 071 [arXiv:1107.3554] [INSPIRE].
- [87] R. Camporesi and A. Higuchi, Spectral functions and zeta functions in hyperbolic spaces, J. Math. Phys. 35 (1994) 4217 [INSPIRE].
- [88] R. Paris and D. Kaminski, Asymptotics and Mellin-Barnes integrals, in Encyclopedia of mathematics and its applications 85, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge U.K., (2001).
- [89] D. Carmi, L. Di Pietro and S. Komatsu, Loops in AdS from Hamiltonian approach, (2018).
- [90] K.G. Wilson and M.E. Fisher, Critical exponents in 3.99 dimensions, Phys. Rev. Lett. 28 (1972) 240 [INSPIRE].
- [91] K.G. Wilson and J.B. Kogut, The renormalization group and the ε-expansion, Phys. Rept. 12 (1974) 75 [INSPIRE].
- [92] A. Mikhailov, Notes on higher spin symmetries, hep-th/0201019 [INSPIRE].
- [93] D. Francia, J. Mourad and A. Sagnotti, Current exchanges and unconstrained higher spins, Nucl. Phys. B 773 (2007) 203 [hep-th/0701163] [INSPIRE].
- [94] D. Francia, J. Mourad and A. Sagnotti, (A)dS exchanges and partially-massless higher spins, Nucl. Phys. B 804 (2008) 383 [arXiv:0803.3832] [INSPIRE].
- [95] E. Joung, L. Lopez and M. Taronna, On the cubic interactions of massive and partially-massless higher spins in (A)dS, JHEP 07 (2012) 041 [arXiv:1203.6578]
 [INSPIRE].
- [96] E. Joung, L. Lopez and M. Taronna, Generating functions of (partially-)massless higher-spin cubic interactions, JHEP 01 (2013) 168 [arXiv:1211.5912] [INSPIRE].
- [97] L. Cornalba, Eikonal methods in AdS/CFT: Regge theory and multi-reggeon exchange, arXiv:0710.5480 [INSPIRE].
- [98] M.S. Costa, V. Goncalves and J. Penedones, Conformal Regge theory, JHEP 12 (2012) 091 [arXiv:1209.4355] [INSPIRE].
- [99] N. Boulanger, S. Leclercq and P. Sundell, On the uniqueness of minimal coupling in higher-spin gauge theory, JHEP 08 (2008) 056 [arXiv:0805.2764] [INSPIRE].
- [100] E. Joung, M. Taronna and A. Waldron, A calculus for higher spin interactions, JHEP 07 (2013) 186 [arXiv:1305.5809] [INSPIRE].

- [101] E. Joung and M. Taronna, Cubic-interaction-induced deformations of higher-spin symmetries, JHEP 03 (2014) 103 [arXiv:1311.0242] [INSPIRE].
- [102] P. Breitenlohner and D.Z. Freedman, Stability in gauged extended supergravity, Annals Phys. 144 (1982) 249 [INSPIRE].
- [103] S.S. Gubser and I. Mitra, Double trace operators and one loop vacuum energy in AdS/CFT, Phys. Rev. D 67 (2003) 064018 [hep-th/0210093] [INSPIRE].
- [104] Y. Hikida and T. Wada, Anomalous dimensions of higher spin currents in large N CFTs, JHEP 01 (2017) 032 [arXiv:1610.05878] [INSPIRE].
- [105] E. Witten, Multitrace operators, boundary conditions and AdS/CFT correspondence, hep-th/0112258 [INSPIRE].
- [106] M. Berkooz, A. Sever and A. Shomer, 'Double trace' deformations, boundary conditions and space-time singularities, JHEP 05 (2002) 034 [hep-th/0112264] [INSPIRE].
- [107] W. Rühl, The masses of gauge fields in higher spin field theory on AdS₄, Phys. Lett. B 605 (2005) 413 [hep-th/0409252] [INSPIRE].
- [108] K. Lang and W. Rühl, The critical O(N) σ -model at dimension 2 < d < 4 and order $1/n^2$: operator product expansions and renormalization, Nucl. Phys. **B** 377 (1992) 371 [INSPIRE].
- [109] E.D. Skvortsov, On (un)broken higher-spin symmetry in vector models, in Proceedings, International Workshop on Higher Spin Gauge Theories, Singapore, 4–6 November 2015, World Scientific, Singapore, (2017), pg. 103 [arXiv:1512.05994] [INSPIRE].
- [110] S. Giombi and V. Kirilin, Anomalous dimensions in CFT with weakly broken higher spin symmetry, JHEP 11 (2016) 068 [arXiv:1601.01310] [INSPIRE].
- [111] R. Gopakumar, A. Kaviraj, K. Sen and A. Sinha, Conformal bootstrap in Mellin space, Phys. Rev. Lett. 118 (2017) 081601 [arXiv:1609.00572] [INSPIRE].
- [112] T. Leonhardt, W. Rühl and R. Manvelyan, The group approach to AdS space propagators: a fast algorithm, J. Phys. A 37 (2004) 7051 [hep-th/0310063] [INSPIRE].
- [113] L.F. Alday, Large spin perturbation theory for conformal field theories, Phys. Rev. Lett. 119 (2017) 111601 [arXiv:1611.01500] [INSPIRE].
- [114] K. Lang and W. Rühl, The critical $O(N) \sigma$ -model at dimensions 2 < d < 4: fusion coefficients and anomalous dimensions, Nucl. Phys. **B** 400 (1993) 597 [INSPIRE].
- [115] M.F. Paulos, M. Spradlin and A. Volovich, Mellin amplitudes for dual conformal integrals, JHEP 08 (2012) 072 [arXiv:1203.6362] [INSPIRE].
- [116] V.K. Dobrev, Intertwining operator realization of the AdS/CFT correspondence, Nucl. Phys. B 553 (1999) 559 [hep-th/9812194] [INSPIRE].
- [117] D. Francia, G.L. Monaco and K. Mkrtchyan, Cubic interactions of Maxwell-like higher spins, JHEP 04 (2017) 068 [arXiv:1611.00292] [INSPIRE].
- [118] D. Francia, Low-spin models for higher-spin Lagrangians, Prog. Theor. Phys. Suppl. 188 (2011) 94 [arXiv:1103.0683] [INSPIRE].
- [119] A. Campoleoni and D. Francia, Maxwell-like Lagrangians for higher spins, JHEP 03 (2013)
 168 [arXiv:1206.5877] [INSPIRE].